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1. Nature of business
1.1. External environment
Macroeconomic environment
The macroeconomic conditions that were formed in 2019 were favorable for Ukraine’s banking system. The
GDP growth in 2019 is estimated at the level of 3.2%.
Acceleration of Ukraine’s economic development in 2019 was facilitated, inter alia, by softening by the
National Bank of Ukraine of monetary policy, which resulted in decrease over the year of the discount rate
from 18% to 13.5% per annum.
Consumer inflation in 2019 slowed down to 4.1% (from 9.8% in 2018), which is the lowest inflation rate over
the past six years. The key factor behind the low inflation over the year was strengthening of hryvnia: within
the year, the UAH/USD exchange rate decreased by 14.5%.
Over 2019, Ukraine’s international reserves grew by 22% and reached USD 25.3 bn (in equivalent), which is
the seven-year maximum.
Now, in the situation of global coronavirus disease COVID-19 pandemic, according to the leading
international financial institutions, rating agencies, economists, the world economy has started entering
recession. Lowering of the consumer demand and decline of the world’s main economies will be most
tangible as soon as in mid-2020. The forecast of global GDP decline in 2020 varies, depending on pandemic
scenarios, from 0.3% to 3%.
Under such circumstances, the industries of national economy that may incur significant losses are metal
production, tourism, airlines, oil and gas, car industry, energy industry, production of consumer goods and
household appliances.
The scale of negative impact on Ukraine’s economic development will depend on the ability of the
Government, National Bank of Ukraine, and market players to stand against panic and take timely measures
for stabilizing the economic situation and supporting the national currency. Oschadbank, as a systemically
important bank, takes active part in such measures and ensures uninterrupted provision of necessary
financial services to Ukraine’s population and businesses.

Banking sector
Ukraine’s banking system nowadays is sustainable enough, capitalized, with considerable reserve of liquidity.
In 2019, the banking sector showed record profitability and return on capital. The sector’s profit was thrice
as high as in 2018 and reached approximately UAH 60 bn. The return on capital in the sector made up 34%.
This was enabled by both the rapid increase of operating income and the lowest within the decade loss
provisions under assets.
Banks were lowering interest rates under loans as a response to lower inflation and softer monetary policy.
The value of FX loans reached its lowest in 2019. The NPL ratio decreased within the year by 4.5 percentage
points, to 48.4%, as consequence of lively consumer lending and NPLs write-off against the loan-loss
provisions.
The amount of net loans to legal entities in the UAH equivalent decreased within the year by 13%, including
UAH loans by 7% (- UAH 18.4 bn) and FX loans by 18% (- UAH 42 bn, in the UAH equivalent).
The UAH funds of economic entities went up by 19.5% over the year. The highest growth was noted in the
state-owned banks, 28.3%. FX funds of corporations increased considerably, by 48.4%.
The UAH deposits of individuals increased by 17.5%. Such dynamics is explained by the weakening of
devaluation expectations and low interest rates under FX deposits. The FX deposits of individuals grew by
15.4% in the USD equivalent.
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The number of banks further decreased: in the end of 2019, the number was 75, meanwhile in 2018 there
were 77 banks.
In January 2020, the National Bank of Ukraine, the National Securities and Stock Market Commission, the
National Commission for State Regulation of Financial Services Markets, Ministry of Finance of Ukraine, and
the Deposit Guarantee Fund approved the Strategy of Ukrainian Financial Sector Development until 2025.
The Strategy envisages reaching the EU level of the financial sector development and meeting the relevant
EU requirements, in particular the target range of inflation rate, increase of the international reserves
balance, increase of the share of cashless payments in the economy, renewal of lending, especially to small
and medium businesses, lowering of the loans’ and deposits’ dollarization level.
Presently, when the coronavirus infection pandemic is inflicting negative impact on economic activities in the
world and in Ukraine, the banking sector is also undergoing difficulties. Restrictions faced by economic
entities lead to lower business activity, decline of economic links between countries and companies, falling
stock market indexes, capital outflow from emerging markets, falling demand in the world markets of raw
materials, etc. Hence, banks’ performance is also affected.
The lowering liquidity and profitability of businesses may have adverse impact on the quality of credit debt
management by borrowers. In cases when borrowers have objective complications in servicing their loans,
Oschadbank undertakes restructuring.

1.2. Brief description of the competitive position and business model
Oschadbank belongs to systemically important banks of Ukraine and is the second largest among Ukrainian
banks as per assets and first largest as per the net loan portfolio, as well as the largest as per liabilities in
Corporate and second largest as per liabilities in Retail. Oschadbank is also the largest bank of Ukraine as per
the number of branches and second largest as per the size of payment card infrastructure (number of ATMs
and terminals).
According to its business model, Oschadbank is a universal bank that gives priority to expanding its Retail and
MSME business, while retaining a firm position in Corporate.
As of the end of 2019, the structure of Oschadbank’s assets is as follows: 46% is the investment portfolio
(primarily securities); 26% is loan portfolio; 28% is other assets. The loan portfolio is represented primarily
by the loans of Corporate customers, 80%, as well as loans of individuals, 12%, and MSME customers, 8%.
The portfolio of term deposits consists by 83% of the funds of individuals, by 11% of the funds of MSME
clients, and by 6% of the funds of Corporate clients.
The bigger part of Oschadbank’s interest income is generated by loans issued to legal entities and
investments in securities.
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1.3. Main products and services
As a universal bank, Oschadbank offers to customers a broad range of banking products and services.
The main products of Retail business include:
▪
▪
▪

▪

passive products: term deposits, payroll programs, pension and social accounts, and debit cards;
active products: car loans, consumer loans and mortgages, cash loans, credit cards, participation in
government incentive programs for energy efficiency;
products generating commission and trade income: payments of individuals, national and international
money transfers, rent of individual safes, foreign exchange transactions, and transactions with banking
metals;
additional services: remote service system Oschad 24/7.

The main products for MSME include:
▪
▪

▪

passive products: term deposits, deposits on demand, and current accounts;
active products: loans for financing working capital, purchase of vehicles and equipment (in particular
through partnership programs), overdrafts (including unsecured), loans for associations of condominium
co-owners / apartment houses, lending programs within the scope of cooperation with international
organizations (WNISEF, EBRD, EIB, and EIF), cooperation programs with the Entrepreneurship
Development Fund (Affordable Loans 5-7-9%, Financeast etc.), microcredit program, guarantees, and
bills avalization;
additional services:
• CorpLight, a system for remote account management for MSME customers, which meets the
requirements of the present-day market and is among the top-3 in the market as per user options;
• program “Build Yours,” which aims to develop small business in Ukraine and includes four elements:
training on separate portal “Build Yours”; partner discounts for Oschadbank’s customers; banking
products (bank account, corporate card, the CorpLight remote service system) and business financing
as part of standard MSME programs.

v

Translation from Ukrainian original

The main products of Corporate business include:
▪
▪

▪

passive products: term deposits and current accounts for Corporate customers;
active products: project financing, loans and overdrafts for Corporate business, loans/bonds/leasing for
financing municipalities’ development budgets, investment projects, construction financing and
refinancing for energy generating companies in the alternative energy industry;
additional services: Corp2 system of remote management of Corporate clients’ accounts, which, inter
alia, provides customer friendly options for managing accounts of a group of companies, namely the
possibility for a representative of the parent company of review and/or confirmation of transactions
under accounts of all the companies of the group.

2. Management objectives and strategy of their achievement
2.1. Mission, goal and corporate values
Oschadbank’s mission is to change itself and initiate positive changes in the country, to be the bank of the
first choice, emotionally close to every Ukrainian.
The strategic goal is to be a profitable, commercially oriented bank with high business sustainability, a leader
in innovation and customer satisfaction.

Oschadbank’s corporate values are:
▪

Human

We strive to become the number one bank for customers and employees. Our team is the driving force for
positive change. Each member of the team benefits from decent conditions for effective work, training, and
development. Our customers are partners who trust us. For them we create modern products and services
of high quality. We are building a barrier-free environment in which everyone will feel comfortable.
▪

Development

We believe that the growth of each of us is the key to success of the bank as a whole. We are convinced that
development of the bank is an important contribution to building a prosperous state. We encourage
initiatives at all managerial levels, introduce innovations, and are committed to meet the expectations of
customers in all areas, from products and technologies to the quality of services and communications.
▪

Transparency

We work honestly and transparently. We consistently adhere to the generally accepted principles,
regulations of the National Bank of Ukraine, and Ukraine’s legislation. We value decency and are always
committed to justify the trust of customers, employees, partners, and the shareholder.

2.2. Strategy
The bank is being guided by the Development Strategy of Oschadbank for 2018–2022, approved by the
supreme governance body, the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, in February 2018.
Oschadbank’s strategy covers the period of five years, from 2018 to 2022 inclusive. It envisages diversification
and growth of business based on good-quality satisfaction of customer needs, internal optimization of
structure and processes, development of customer service digital channels, with gradual transition to high
and stable profitability by 2022. The bank is moving consistently along this path.
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Implementation of the Strategy is under permanent control of Oschadbank’s Supervisory Board, which
regularly considers the state of its implementation at SB sessions. Now, under Supervisory Board’s
coordination, review of the effective strategy is carried out, with due account of the current developments
and updated forecasts of the macro environment and the increased emphasis on the state-owned banks’
financial performance.

2.3. Criteria of measuring the success and assessing the achievements, significant changes
in targets
Analysis of Oschadbank’s financial indicators based on the 2019 results allows to state that the bank observes
consistently the chosen line of development defined by the strategy (which set strategic targets within the
above-mentioned time horizon, i.e. for the period until 2022 inclusive).
Oschadbank’s development strategy offers the following priorities.

The presently in effect development strategy, the bank is governed by, establishes strategic targets and
indicators of their achievement. The key strategic targets for up until 2022 are:
1. Growth of assets, including the loan portfolio, in particular:
▪
▪
▪
▪

increase of the total assets to UAH 334 bn;
growth of Retail loan portfolio, with reaching the market share of 11–13%;
growth of MSME loan portfolio, with reaching the market share of 7–10%;
growth of Corporate loan portfolio, with reaching the market share of 18%.

2. Lowering of the cost of risk (COR) to 2%.
3. Increase of the return on equity (ROE) to 12%.
4. Lowering of the cost to income ratio (CIR) to 63%.
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Now, review of the strategy is underway, which also includes update of the indicators of strategic targets’
achievement (while the strategic targets will remain unchanged).

3. Performance results and further growth
3.1. Major events and results of year 2019
In 2019, the team of Supervisory Board underwent changes. Now, the Supervisory Board comprises nine
members, of which six are independent and three are representatives of the state.

Significant progress took place in development of the system of Risk Management and Compliance.
Oschadbank’s Risk Management system was brought into compliance with requirements of the Regulation
on Organization of Risk Management System in Banks of Ukraine and Banking Groups, approved by
Resolution of Management Board of the National Bank of Ukraine dated June 11, 2018, No. 64. The updated
structure of Risk Management system is based on distribution of responsibilities among Oschadbank’s units
with the use of the model of three lines of protection:
•
•
•

first line, represented by business units and support units;
second line, represented by the Risk Management unit and Compliance unit;
third line, represented by the Internal Audit Department.

Here, independence of the second line units is ensured through their direct subordination to the Supervisory
Board.

2019 was a year of further active development of Retail business.
Oschadbank is one of the leaders of the banking market as regards dynamics of the portfolio of individuals’
deposits, with the market share of 23% as of the end of 2019.
Oschadbank retains leadership also in Retail lending. Over 2019, the net loan portfolio of Retail increased by
UAH 2.2 bn. Oschadbank is an active lender in car loans and mortgages and entered in 2019 such lending
markets as cash loans and loans for purchase of used cars.
In particular, within the reporting year, the bank issued twice as many car loans as in 2018 and took the
second position in the market as per the volume of lending, with the market share of 20% (which is by 6 pp
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higher than in the previous year). Of all the mortgage loans issued by all the Ukrainian banks in 2019, one
third is the loans from Oschadbank. The number of cash loans, which is a new market to the bank, made up
over 11 thous. as of the end of 2019.
Oschadbank is the second largest among Ukraine’s banks as per the volume of commission income in Retail
as well as the number of active payment cards and users of digital service channels (Oschad 24/7 service).
The success of Retail business is facilitated, inter alia, by the enlargement of partnership network. Thus, in
2019, over 30 partnership programs in car lending were implemented and partnership was established with
over 100 companies fostering the “green energy.”

In 2019, Oschadbank kept retaining and strengthening its leadership in the MSME segment.
One of the bank’s main objectives over the year was increase of lending, growth or customer funding, and
essential improvement of customer service conditions for MSME, as well as introduction of new and
improvement of existing banking products, enhancing the list of services, and significant increase of cross
sales.
The effective efforts of MSME team brought good results:
•
•
•
•
•
•

No. 1 in Ukraine as per the growth of number of MSME customers in 2019;
No. 1 in Ukraine as per the growth of MSME loan portfolio in 2019 (+ 37%);
No. 2 in Ukraine in the market of MSME liabilities;
No. 3 in Ukraine in the lending market of MSME agribusiness customers (market share of 11%);
No. 3 as per the quality of remote service system CorpLight for MSME customers;
No. 4 in Ukraine as per the number of MSME clients (market share of 9%).

Over year 2019, 27.8 thous. more MSME businesses became Oschadbank’s clients.
As per the volume of net loans issued to MSME customers, the bank went up to the fifth position in 2019;
the MSME net loan portfolio increased by UAH 1.6 bn. Over 2019, MSME clients received 3.2 thous. loans for
the total amount of UAH 4.3 bn, of which 1.7 thous. loans worth UAH 548.6 mln under the microcredit
program. The volume of loans issued to MSME agribusiness clients increased vs 2018 by UAH 0.9 bn and
made up, as of the end of 2019, UAH 2.2 bn.
In 2019, Oschadbank actively enhanced partnership programs of lending to MSME customers. Over the year,
78 new partners were attracted. Within the partnership programs, UAH 372 mln of loans were issued. In
total, as of the end of 2019, the bank cooperates with 162 partners.
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In 2019, Oschadbank kept financing businesses jointly with international financial organizations. As of the
end of 2019, the loan portfolio of joint lending programs with the German-Ukrainian Fund (Entrepreneurship
Development Fund), WNISEF (“Social Entrepreneurship” program), European Investment Bank, and
European Investment Fund is UAH 2.2 bn.

Along with the growth of lending, the bank worked effectively on attracting the customer funding. In 2019,
the volume of MSME customer funding increased by 19%, or UAH 3.1 bn, and made up as of the end of 2019
UAH 19.7 bn.

Oschadbank’s Corporate business retained in 2019 its positions on the market (top position as per the
volume of liabilities to legal entities) and worked on diversification of the customer base, primarily through
attracting new clients from the private sector of economy (over 500 new clients). The net loan portfolio of
Corporate business, as of the end of 2019, was UAH 52.4 bn.
Among the key achievements of Corporate business, it is worth mentioning the following:
•
•
•

launch of payments for electricity in new segment of energy market “Market for a Day Forward” in the
24/7 mode. Now, the bank manages accounts of more than 600 participants;
within the programs of financing municipalities, the budgets of cities’ development were financed for
the amount of UAH 1.6 bn;
active performance of programs on financing the projects of construction of alternative energy facilities
(loan agreements were concluded for the total amount of EUR 144.8 mln).

One of the priorities to Oschadbank still is resolving the issue of NPLs.
In 2019, Oschadbank reached the best results among the state-owned banks in reduction of NPLs: over the
year, the volume of NPLs decreased by 21%. The bank is the leader in repayments of troubled debt: the total
volume of repayments in 2019 made up UAH 3.7 bn, or 57% of the total NPL repayments received by the four
state-owned banks.
Oschadbank also remains the most active “user” of Law of Ukraine “On Financial Restructuring,” which
provides effective tools for settlement of troubled debt of Corporate clients. In 2019, the bank conducted
restructurings in line with this law for the total amount of UAH 9 bn.
Besides, to protect its interests, Oschadbank actively uses court mechanisms. In 2019, the bank received
court decisions in its favor for the total amount of UAH 11.6 bn.
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Among the key achievements in the area of IT, one may outline the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•

within the relevant state program, following the additional developments of IT systems, Oschadbank, as
a bank authorized by the state for ensuring the banking support of housing subsidies and benefits,
implemented the mechanism of their monetization;
for the first time in Ukraine, the SWIFT GPI service was implemented, international money transfers were
optimized, and the transition was made to the new version of software and hardware complex,
SWIFT 7.2;
the project of banking products’ standardizing was executed;
the project of automation of interaction with SE "Enerhorynok" was implemented;
E-declaration was implemented for Oschad 24/7;
new services and more than 30 additional improvements were introduced in remote service system
CorpLight, for MSME customers’ convenience.

3.2. Prospects of further development
Oschadbank intends to continue executing the strategy of business growth with an emphasis on expanding
Retail and MSME businesses. At the same time, forecasting and update of planned values of the target
indicators has been recently put on pause because of the emergency situation relating to the spread of
coronavirus COVID-19, which has impact, inter alia, on the macroeconomic environment. Return to the usual
mode of planning, including strategic planning, is expected as the situation stabilizes.
The bank is focusing on several key activities aimed at implementation of the strategic imperatives and
targets:
•

•
•
•
•

strengthening the internal capacity for working with MSME customers, based on update of the
operational model, improvement and automation of internal processes, refining the differentiation of
approaches to various customer groups within the mentioned segment, further development of relevant
banking products with increase of cross sales and product consumption per customer;
further centralization of processes of functioning of the bank’s network, enabling cost saving as regards
operating expenses;
further technological development aimed at digitalization and automation of processes;
development of the up-to-date system of managerial accounting, which will enable to strengthen the
flexibility and coherence of managerial decisions based on detailed efficiency indicators, calculated for
all the layers of bank’s structure, as per both the business lines and sales channels and outlets;
resolving the issues relating to ensuring the adequacy of regulatory capital, which is a necessary
precondition for continuous fulfillment of the strategy as regards the growth of business.

Also, in compliance with requirements of Resolution of Management Board of the National Bank of Ukraine
dated July 18, 2019, No. 97 “On Approval of the Regulation on Organization of Process of Troubled Assets
Management in Banks of Ukraine,” Oschadbank has developed the strategy of troubled assets management
and the operational plan defining the financial, organizational, and technological measures implemented for
fulfillment of the strategy of troubled assets management.

Oschadbank’s key projects for 2020 are the following:
(1) Step to Digital Bank, creation of the technological integration digital platform and building the
microservice infrastructure;
(2) centralization of the branch network (the project is executed with assistance of the EBRD);
(3) Improvement of Payment Service, creating the user-friendly online service for making payments by
individual and legal entity customers;
(4) development of the up-to-date automated system of managerial accounting (the project is executed with
assistance of the EBRD);
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(5) strengthening the bank’s internal capacity in the MSME segment (the project is executed with assistance
of the EBRD);
(6) improvement of remote service system CorpLight;
(7) automation of MSME lending processes and building the single window.

The main risks for fulfillment of the development strategy and plans for 2020 include:
•
•
•
•
•
•

the probable prolonged and multiplied negative impact of the situation around the spread of coronavirus
COVID-19;
geopolitical risk;
the risk of reversal/stagnation of reforms in the country and/or significant changes in the macro
environment;
the risk of expertise deficit in the changing technological environment;
competition challenges and lack of automation;
the risk of change in the strategic partners’ and potential investors’ interests.

4. Key resources of the bank
4.1. Human capital
The team formed over the period of 2014-2017 is people who are not afraid to change themselves, who are
able to change the bank, and who are willing to change the country. They work consistently on innovative
development in order to leave the old image of Oschadbank in the past and to change the internal processes
and level of customer service for the better. Centralization of the HR function has been fully completed and
its structure has been standardized.
Oschadbank is among the top-3 largest employers in the financial sector and the seventh largest employer
of the country. The average personnel turnover is 1.9%.
The team profile and employee profile of Oschadbank are as follows:
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Considerable efforts in HR management were aimed at improvement and automation of personnel
recruitment processes. Development of competence-based recruitment is one of the priorities.
Over the 5 years of changes, Oschadbank’s 30-thousand team was considerably renewed. It was an
evolutionary process of recruitment on competitive basis. In 2019, automation of the personnel’s
recruitment and appointments’ approval processes is continued; new methods of recruitment are being
introduced.
Over year 2019, 6296 employees were recruited in Oschadbank, including:
•
•

657 for the Head Office;
5639 for the regional offices.

The implemented system of personnel training, assessment, and development ensures the necessary level
of employees’ professional knowledge and skills on a permanent basis. Systemic and consistent selection and
training of talent pool is conducted for prompt filling the vacancies that emerge. One of the key achievements
of 2019 in this area is establishment of new programs within the corporate university, Oschad Business
University. The new comprehensive programs ensure both remote and classroom training (training for
newcomer employees, Compliance courses, Information Security, Operational Risk).
In 2019, the following was conducted:
•
•
•

16 462 training sessions;
12 309 classroom workshops on procedures and products;
1 021 825 remote trainings and tests.

Our next ambitious target is creating Oschadbank’s competitive advantage through supreme-quality
professional and business training for the employees.
Vertical and horizontal communications were formed, which help to convey the bank’s key messages to the
employees. The internal corporate portal keeps being enhanced and supported as a single information hub
for the employees.
A new philosophy of relationship with the employees keeps being formed, with the emphasis on
achievements, involvement, and quality feedback, with due account of everyone’s needs and interests. To
fix the newly formed standards, the bank updated and approved the new Code of Conduct (Ethics) of JSC
“Oschadbank”.
There were projects developed and executed for support and further development of Oschadbank’s
corporate traditions, aimed at teambuilding and strengthening the corporate spirit. The introduced projects
include, inter alia, “Smart Time,” “Adventures with Oschadman,” “Let’s Help Jointly,” “Coffee with Pyshnyy,”
“Live Stream in OschadLife Internal Portal,” “Charity Auction for Saint Nicholas Day,” “Vyshyvanka Day,”
“Banker’s Day,” “Independence Day,” “Futsal Tournament for the Prize of Oschadbank’s Management
Board,” a number of seasonal topic-specific contests, etc., as well as participation of Oschadbank’s team in
charity sports event “Running under Chestnut Trees 2019.”

4.2. Infrastructure
Oschadbank’s infrastructure is coherent with the scale and structure of its operational activity. Consistent
development and improvement of the infrastructure is conducted with due account of targets determined
by the strategy.
Oschadbank works based on the business model of universal bank and is, at the same time, a bank
systemically important to the national economy. This requires possession of the own considerable
infrastructure and technology capacity, represented, above all, by a modern IT component and advanced
sales channels.
As of today, Oschadbank possesses centralized IT systems, automated processes of customer service and
lending, own contact center and payment card processing, and modern data storage. The IT processes are
structured with due account of Information Security requirements.
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As regards the sales channels, it is worth outlining the traditional sales channel, through the branch network,
and remote service channels, which the bank has considerably developed over the last years.
Oschadbank’s working branch network comprised, as of December 31, 2019, 2 343 units, including 24
regional offices and 2 319 territorially separated off-balance branches (without the 421 branches suspended
by decision of Oschadbank’s Management Board, located in the territory of Donetsk and Luhansk regions
that is not controlled by the Ukrainian authorities).
The bank consistently modernizes the branch network, gradually increasing the number of new-format
branches. In 2019, 53 branches were transferred to the new format. As of December 31, 2019, Oschadbank’s
network comprised 656 units of the new format, of which 24 are inclusive branches, i.e. comprehensively
adapted to servicing individual customers with disabilities.
One more dimension of the network transformation is closing inefficient branches and relocation of branches
to places more attractive for business development. In 2019, 287 inefficient branches were closed.
A separate aspect is ensuring the provision of banking services in areas where there are significant constraints
for normal community functioning and economic life. With 22 units of remote service and 5 mobile units, of
which two equipped in KrAZ trucks working along the line of separation and in humanitarian logistical centers
in Donbass, support of customers was continued in distant locations where Oschadbank is the only point of
access to financial services.
The alternative sales channels are represented by remote digital service. The key channel of remote customer
service for Retail business is mobile banking based on the Oschad 24/7 application, whose users are as many
now as almost 4 mln persons. As regards the legal entities, individual entrepreneurs, and self-employed
individuals, they actively use remote service system CorpLight and, partially, Corp2. The number of CorpLight
users has exceeded 100 thous.; here, the share of payments performed by MSME customers in a remote way
has reached 97% (only 3% of payments are made with paper payment orders).

4.3. Capital, liquidity and cash flows
In 2019, there was no additional emission of shares or increase of capital by other means. There was no sale
or purchase of Oschadbank’s shares.
The bank manages its liquidity through forecasting and managing cash flows, limiting term gaps between
assets and liabilities, and ensuring the necessary amount of both primary and secondary liquidity (it is
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represented by a portfolio of highly-liquid public securities that can be used to meet bank’s urgent needs for
liquid funds in the event of their unexpected outflow).

Liquidity indicators
Over year 2019, the bank was observing regulatory liquidity ratios with plenty to spare for all the indicators,
including the N6 ratio of short-term liquidity (with mandatory value of >60% and effective value of 80.5%)
and the LCR, or liquidity coverage ratio (with mandatory value of >100% and effective value of 269%).

Primary and secondary reserves of liquidity
In 2019, Oschadbank constantly maintained sufficient reserves of primary liquidity (cash, correspondent
accounts with the NBU and correspondent accounts with other banks) and secondary liquidity (portfolio of
domestic government bonds and NBU deposit certificates). As of December 31, 2019, the volume of primary
and secondary liquidity amounted to, respectively, UAH 54.9 bn (23.9% liquidity coverage of liabilities) and
UAH 72.6 bn (31.6% liquidity coverage of liabilities). The considerable volume of liquidity in Oschadbank’s
portfolio allows covering the customer funds’ outflow even in case of the stress scenario, without detriment
to business continuity.

Customer resource base
In 2019, Oschadbank’s main source of funds was attraction of customer funds (from both individuals and
legal entities), whose share in the bank’s liabilities is 88%. Here, the source of 53% of the customer funding
is individuals.
All individuals’ deposits in Oschadbank are guaranteed by the state.

5. Risk management
5.1. Risk management strategy, system and policies
Risk Management Strategy
The Risk Management Strategy in the System of JSC “Oschadbank” determines the list of significant risks
intrinsic to bank’s activity, the principles and procedure of organization of the risk management process, the
procedure, timing, and periodicity of managerial reporting on risk to the Supervisory Board, SB Risk
Committee, and Oschadbank’s Management Board.
The purpose of Risk Management Strategy is to ensure:
•
•
•
•
•

the financial sustainability and business continuity;
detection (identification), assessment, monitoring, and control of banking risks, as well as lowering their
impact on fulfillment of the development strategy;
maintaining the acceptable level of aggregate Risk Appetite, limits, constraints, and other Risk Appetite
indicators (both quantitative and qualitative);
adequacy of the bank’s capital for coverage of significant risks;
compliance with legislative and regulatory requirements, including regulatory acts of the National Bank
of Ukraine.

The strategy’s purpose is achieved through fulfilling the following objectives:
•
•

ensuring the fulfillment of Oschadbank’s development strategy in line with the business model;
maintaining the optimal ratio between income and level of risk;
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•
•
•
•
•
•

establishing limits and indicators of the Risk Appetite (both quantitative and qualitative);
conducting monitoring and control of compliance with the established general level of Risk Appetite;
performing the planning of capital adequacy, with due account of the significant risks available and, in
particular, the results of stress test of bank’s sustainability in case of negative development of internal
and/or external factors;
elaborating preventive actions and measures for safeguarding stable uninterrupted activity in case of
crises or stresses caused by external and/or internal events;
ensuring the fulfillment of bank’s obligations before all the depositors, counterparties, and creditors;
developing risk management culture at all levels of hierarchy.

Risk management system and policies
Oschadbank maintains a comprehensive, adequate, and efficient system of risk management.
Organization of risk management process, from the standpoint of roles, is based on streamlining the business
processes and clear division of responsibilities among bank’s units with the use of model of three lines of
protection:
•
•
•

first line, represented by business and support units;
second line, represented by Risk Management and Compliance units;
third line, represented by the unit of Internal Audit, which checks and assesses the performance of risk
management system.

The organizational structure of risk management provides for clear distribution of roles, duties, and
authorities on risk management among all the participants of the risk management system and employees,
as well as their responsibility. The risk management roles are distributed among the following participants of
risk management system:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Supervisory Board;
SB Risk Committee;
Management Board;
MB committees;
Risk Management unit;
Compliance unit;
Internal Audit unit;
business and support units, including the NPL management unit.

The bank develops and updates policies for management of all risks deemed significant. Currently,
Oschadbank has the following risk management policies:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Credit Risk Management Policy;
Liquidity Risk Management Policy;
Foreign Exchange Risk Management Policy;
Policy on the Management of Interest Rate Risk in the Banking Book;
Market Risk Management Policy;
Operational Risk Management Policy;
Compliance Risk Management Policy.

The risk management policies are approved by the Supervisory Board, which also establishes the Risk
Appetite indicators.
Oschadbank has enforced, in its internal regulatory documents, and ensured the mechanism of veto right
that may be used by the head of Risk Management unit and head of Compliance unit as regards decisions of
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the Management Board and MB-established governance bodies. The head of Risk Management unit uses
that right in cases when implementation of such decisions may lead to violation of the approved risk limits,
as well as in other cases determined by the Supervisory Board; the head of Compliance unit uses that right
in cases when implementation of such decisions may result in violation of requirements of the legislation,
standards of professional associations relevant to the bank, conflict of interest, as well as in other cases
determined by the Supervisory Board.

Credit Risks
Oschadbank’s current system of credit risk management ensures timely and adequate detection,
measurement, monitoring, reporting, control, and mitigation of credit risks, on both individual and portfolio
basis.
Oschadbank’s Lending Policy defines general approaches and main priorities for active transactions,
authorities of bank’s governance bodies as regards decision-making on active transactions with
counterparties, risk rules for conducting new active transactions, changes of conditions of active transactions
and measures for debt settlement with counterparties, mitigation and diversification of risks when
conducting active transactions, ensuring permanent control of the loan portfolio’s structure and quality,
including interbank and investment portfolios.
When assessing risks and making decisions on granting a loan to specific borrower, legal entity or private
entrepreneur who needs the loan for conducting entrepreneurial activities, Oschadbank takes into account
the borrower’s financial standing, creditworthiness and solvency, financial standing of the borrower’s group
(i.e. takes into account legal or economic links with the related companies), market analysis findings, risks
relating to the industry in which the borrower operates, and market position of the borrower’s business.
Besides, due consideration is given to such factors as quality of the borrower’s management, business’s
location and geography, level of concentration of suppliers/customers, debt burden, results of estimation of
the liquidity and adequacy of the offered collateral from the standpoint of credit risk. Before approving
decisions on loan issuance, the bank assesses the potential borrowers with the use of internal credit rating.
The procedure of decision-making on issuance of consumer loans is standardized. The maximal limits under
loans are established with due account of the potential borrower’s level of income, stability of the future
income, liquidity, and collateral quality.
When deciding on active transactions with non-resident banks, Oschadbank takes into account the results of
assessment of the country risk.
The bank has zero tolerance towards transfer risk and subsidiary investment risk.
The purpose of credit risk assessment is determining the expected credit loss in the event of default. Credit
risk assessment for risk management purposes is comprehensive and requires the use of a specific model.
The bank assesses credit risk using Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD), and Loss Given
Default (LGD). The assessment is carried out in line with requirements of both the National Bank of Ukraine
and the International Financial Reporting Standards. In line with requirements of the National Bank of
Ukraine, Oschadbank conducts regular calculation of the amount of credit risk. In accordance with the
requirements of IFRS 9, Oschadbank accrues provisions for coverage of the expected credit loss. Calculation
and accrual of the loan-loss provision under financial assets, as per the IFRS requirements, is performed on a
monthly basis, as of the first day of the month following the reporting month.
Detection (identification), measurement (assessment), monitoring, control, and reporting on credit risk are
performed by all the participants of credit risk management process on a permanent basis as per the roles
defined by Oschadbank’s internal regulatory documents.
The system of managerial reporting on credit risk encompasses three levels: strategic, managerial, and
operational. Here, all on-balance assets and off-balance financial instruments that generate credit risk are
subject to reporting.
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Liquidity risk, interest rate risk, and market risks
For managing the liquidity risk, Oschadbank conducts monitoring of the expected future cash flows from
customer transactions and banking transactions, which is part of the process of assets and liabilities
management. The main purpose of liquidity risk management is ensuring availability of liquid funds sufficient
to meet the current and planned needs, with a view to optimizing the bank’s expenses for safeguarding the
necessary amount of liquid funds. Liquidity risk management also aims at ensuring the bank’s ability to cover
outflows of funds under the crisis scenario (in the event of systemic crisis or liquidity crisis close to systemic
one).
The main purpose of interest rate risk management is mitigating the adverse impact of interest rate changes
on the bank’s financial result and capital. Interest rate risk management is performed primarily through
establishing and review of yield curves of fund attraction and placement and setting the target magnitude of
interest spread. For ensuring the planned volume of net interest income and the target magnitude of interest
spread, Oschadbank manages its balance sheet structure, including interest-bearing assets and liabilities,
with due account of the necessity to observe the optimal ratio of interest rate risk and profitability.
Among market risks, the most significant one is foreign exchange risk. The main purpose of foreign exchange
risk management is mitigating the negative impact of exchange rate changes on the financial result and
capital. The bank manages its FX position as per specific foreign currencies and banking metals with a view
to ensuring the optimal ratio of risk and profitability.
The Management Board ensures fulfillment of assignments and decisions of the Supervisory Board on
implementation of the system of management of liquidity risk, interest rate risk, and market risks, establishes
the procedures of management of those risks, and delegates the authorities for their current management
to Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO). ALCO, within the current management of liquidity risk, interest
rate risk, and market risks, conducts the monitoring, considers reports on risks, and decides on acceptance,
mitigation, or avoidance of those risks.

Operational risks
Operational risk, by its nature, is intrinsic to Oschadbank’s all business processes. It represents the probability
of loss or additional expenses or failure to receive the planned income because of faults or errors in the
organization of internal processes, deliberate or unintentional actions of employees or other persons,
disruptions in operation of information systems or due to the influence of external factors. Operational risk
includes legal risk, but excludes reputational and strategic risks.
For operational risks managing, Oschadbank applies the following tools:
•
•
•
•
•
•

keeping the database of internal and external operational risk incidents and analysis of information
accumulated therein (Loss Data Base, External Data Collection);
self-assessment of risks and internal control mechanisms (Risk Self-Assessment);
preventive analysis of operational risks before introduction of new products / significant changes
(Scenario Analysis);
monitoring of key risk indicators for operational risk (Key Risk Indicators);
operational risk stress-testing;
evaluation of the necessary amount of capital for coverage of losses generated by operational risks.

Oschadbank has Operational Risk Committee, which conducts monitoring of the level of operational risk,
considers reports on operational risk, and decides on the methods of operational risk management.
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5.2. Compliance
One of the significant risks determined by the Risk Appetite Statement of “Oschadbank” JSC is compliance
risk.
The Compliance unit was separated into an independent unit directly subordinate and accountable to the
Supervisory Board. Its main tasks are:
•
•
•

ensuring the organization of control over compliance of bank’s activities with requirements of the
legislation and regulatory acts, market standards, fair competition rules, professional associations’
standards relevant to the bank, corporate ethics, and internal documents;
settlement of conflicts of interest;
ensuring the performance of Risk Management system through timely detection, measurement,
monitoring, control, reporting, and recommendations on the compliance risk mitigation.

In Oschadbank, in accordance with requirements of the Regulation on Organization of Risk Management
System in Banks of Ukraine and Banking Groups, approved by Resolution of Management Board of the
National Bank of Ukraine dated June 11, 2018, No. 64, the following documents on Compliance were adopted
and are effective:
•
•
•
•

Code of Conduct (Ethics) of JSC “Oschadbank”;
Policy of Detection, Prevention, and Management of Conflicts of Interest in JSC “Oschadbank”;
Procedure of Whistleblowing on Misconduct / Violations in the Activity of JSC “Oschadbank”;
Policy on the Management of Compliance Risk in JSC “Oschadbank”.

The mechanism of whistleblowing on misconduct and violations in bank’s activity provides for the procedure
of consideration of and responding to the whistleblowing complaints as well as measures of protection to
whistleblowers.
With a view to fostering the risk management culture and observance by all employees of the corporate
values, the Compliance unit ensures relevant training on observance of requirements of the legislation,
standards of professional associations relevant to the bank, and risk management culture and performs
control of knowledge of bank’s employees on compliance issues.

5.3. Basic principles of organization of the internal control system
In line with the Regulation on Organization of the Internal Control System in Banks of Ukraine and Banking
Groups, approved by Resolution of Management Board of the National Bank of Ukraine dated July 2, 2019,
No. 88, Oschadbank has implemented and observes the requirements on organization of the internal control
system:
•
•
•
•

control by bank’s governance bodies over observance by bank’s units of legislative and bank’s internal
requirements;
reporting by the governance bodies on the use by them of their delegated prerogatives to those
governance bodies to which they are accountable;
determining in internal regulatory documents of the authorities, accountability, roles, responsibilities,
and procedures of interaction of bank’s units and employees, as well as the relevant controls;
control over information security and information exchange.

5.4. Significant types of risks and plans of their mitigation
For ensuring Oschadbank’s financial sustainability, business continuity, and achievement of the defined
business targets, with a view to detection, assessment, monitoring, and control of risks, the bank has
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developed and implemented the Risk Appetite Statement and the Risk Management Strategy. Those
documents define the significant types of risk and establish the relevant limits/restrictions and the magnitude
of risk appetite. The significant types of risk include Credit Risk, Liquidity Risk, Market Risks, Interest Rate Risk
in the Banking Book, Operational Risk, and Compliance Risk.

6. Relations with the shareholder and related parties, impact of those
relations on the bank’s performance, and managing those relations
6.1. Relations with the shareholder
According to the Articles of Association, Oschadbank’s founder is the state. 100% of Oschadbank’s shares
belong to the state.
Relations between the bank and the shareholder rest upon principle “a bank owned by the state and working
for the state,” based on which the shareholder:
•
•
•
•
•

defines the bank’s core (strategic) lines of business and management strategy as part of the overall
management strategy for state-owned banks;
ensures impartial and transparent management;
does not interfere in the current operational activity;
builds interaction on a mutually beneficial commercial basis;
conducts regular monitoring and assessment of the activity.

The Principles of Strategic Reforming of the State Banking Sector, developed by the Ministry of Finance of
Ukraine and endorsed by the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine in February 2018, set main tasks of the state in
the banking sector, key lines of development of the state banking sector, and requirements to the
development strategy of each state-owned bank. Being guided by this document, the Cabinet of Ministers of
Ukraine approved in February 2018 the strategy of Oschadbank’s development as a universal bank.

Regulation by the shareholder of the authorities of Oschadbank’s governance bodies is performed in line
with requirements of Article 7 “State-Owned Banks” of Law of Ukraine “On Banks and Banking.”

Oschadbank, as a state-owned bank, supports the Government of Ukraine in performing the state social and
economic programs. In particular, being aware of the necessity of providing financial services to socially
vulnerable groups (the poor, internally displaced persons, residents of regions in decline, etc.), the bank
conducts its business with due account of the social mission.

6.2. Relations with the related parties
Oschadbank’s internal regulatory documents duly implement the requirements of Regulation on
Organization of Risk Management System in Banks of Ukraine and Banking Groups, approved by Resolution
of Management Board of the National Bank of Ukraine dated June 11, 2018, No. 64, as regards transactions
with parties related to the bank.
The bank carries out transactions with related parties in line with procedures and on conditions that may not
be different from the procedures and conditions of transactions carried out with other customers, except for
the procedures determining the authorities of governance bodies for decision-making on transactions with
the related parties.
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For control of compliance with legislation and internal regulatory documents while performing lending to
parties related to the bank, preparation of relevant decisions mandatorily includes receiving the opinion of
Compliance unit on the compliance risk connected with such lending.
For control of observance of regulatory value of the maximal amount of credit risk against the related
counterparties and the procedure of performing transactions with the related counterparties, while
performing lending to parties related to the bank, the Risk Management unit provides relevant opinions for
approval of such credit decisions. In 2019, Oschadbank was compliant with the regulatory value of the
maximal amount of credit risk under transactions with the related parties (N9).
The bank keeps electronic register of the related parties as per criteria defined by International Financial
Reporting Standards, with observance of requirements of Ukraine’s legislation.

6.3. Cooperation with the EBRD
The Principles of Strategic Reforming of the State Banking Sector, developed by the Ministry of Finance of
Ukraine and endorsed by the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, as well as the Strategy of Ukrainian Financial
Sector Development until 2025, approved by the National Bank of Ukraine, the National Securities and Stock
Market Commission, the National Commission for State Regulation of Financial Services Markets, Ministry of
Finance of Ukraine, and the Deposit Guarantee Fund, envisage reduction of the state’s share in the capital of
state-owned banks through their partial privatization with participation of international financial institutions,
which will act as strategic investors.
Among the international financial institutions with which Oschadbank maintains dialog and cooperation, the
key, strategic partner is the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD). The EBRD is the
most probable strategic investor in case the decision is taken on Oschadbank’s partial privatization.
On November 25, 2016, the Memorandum of Understanding between the Government of Ukraine,
Oschadbank, and the EBRD in Respect of Support of Reform of Oschadbank and Its Preparation for
Privatization was signed. For implementation of this Memorandum, the bank developed and is currently
executing the comprehensive program of transformation of its corporate governance, operational and
financial performance.
The EBRD supports Oschadbank in carrying out the mentioned changes, mainly by means of technical
assistance projects. The EBRD-sponsored technical assistance is aimed at developing lending to MSME,
centralizing and optimizing the bank’s network, developing the up-to-date management accounting,
strengthening the functions of Risk Management and Compliance.

7. Corporate governance
7.1. Updated model of corporate governance
A fundamental change in the principles and mechanisms of corporate governance of state-owned banks took
place on November 10, 2018, with entering into force of Law of Ukraine No. 2491-VIII “On Amendments to
Certain Legislative Acts of Ukraine concerning Improvement of Financial Sector Performance in Ukraine.” The
purpose of the legislative changes is establishing a governance system isolated from political influence,
bringing the corporate governance system into compliance with recommendations of the OECD, European
Commission, and Basel Committee on Banking Supervision, enhancing the competitiveness and efficiency of
state-owned banks, as well as creating preconditions for the potential involvement of foreign investors into
the capital of state-owned banks.
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7.2. Current status of implementation
In 2019, Oschadbank continued active implementation of the reform, started in 2018, of corporate
governance system.

Over the year, the following steps were taken:
1. The Articles of Association and Regulation on Oschadbank’s Supervisory Board were approved in the new
versions.
2. Within a procedure of open competitive selection, the members of Supervisory Board were chosen, most
of them being independent members. Selection of candidates for the positions of independent SB members
was conducted by an external recruitment company, which had been chosen through tender with
participation of international organizations. Following interviews with the candidates and their assessment
as per the established criteria, the appointment commission, comprising representatives of the Parliament
of Ukraine, President of Ukraine, and Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, determined the winners of competitive
selection. The appointment commission’s sessions were attended also by representatives of international
financial organizations, who had advisory vote. The Supervisory Board includes now six independent
members and three representatives of the state. Civil contracts were concluded with all the SB members,
stipulating their responsibilities, rights, and labor conditions, including the remuneration. The term of office
of Supervisory Board is three years.
3. SB committees were established: Audit Committee, Risk Committee, and Committee for Appointments
and Remuneration.
4. Efficient system of internal control was established, including Internal Audit, Risk Management, and
Compliance.

Now, the model of corporate governance is in line with the updated requirements.
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8. Organizational development
8.1. Organizational structure
Oschadbank’s organizational structure meets the requirements of legislation and regulatory acts of the
National Bank of Ukraine as regards efficient delegation of authorities and internal controls.

Oschadbank’s Articles of Association defines the following governance bodies:
•
•
•

supreme body, the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine, which manages the state’s corporate rights for the
bank and acts as the supreme governance body;
Supervisory Board, the collective governance body that manages the bank within its authorities and
controls and regulates the activity of Management Board for ensuring fulfillment of the development
strategy. Supervisory Board does not participate in the current management of the bank;
Management Board, the executive body carrying out the current management of bank’s activities.

For ensuring the effective management, Supervisory Board and Management Board establish committees,
to which they delegate a part of own authorities, and control the use of delegated authorities through
mechanisms of accountability.

Oschadbank’s system of organizational units and branch network is built based on the territorial and
functional logic, with due account of the scale and structure of operational activity, with observance of the
principle of reasonable and efficient centralization of certain functions.

8.2. Information on managers and officials
The Supervisory Board, as of December 31, 2019, was represented by the following team:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Baiba Apine, Chair of the Supervisory Board, independent SB member;
Peter Briggs, independent SB member;
Michael Weinstein, independent SB member;
Juan Enrique Perez Calot, independent SB member;
Taras Kyrychenko, SB member representing the state on behalf of the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine;
Ihor Mitiukov, Deputy Chair of the Supervisory Board, independent SB member;
Yuliya Pashko, SB member representing the state on behalf of the Parliament of Ukraine;
Janne Harjunpää, independent SB member;
Yuriy Khramov, SB member representing the state on behalf of the President of Ukraine.
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The Management Board, as of December 31, 2019, is represented by the following team:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Andriy Pyshnyy, Chairman of the Management Board. His labor record in the banking sector is over 16
years. Main areas of responsibility: Strategic Change Management, Legal function, Security, cooperation
with financial institutions, HR, PR and media;
Anatoliy Barsukov, Deputy Chairman of the Management Board. His labor record in the banking sector is
over 25 years. Main areas of responsibility: Financial Management, Accounting, Procurement;
Yevheniy Drachko-Yermolenko, Deputy Chairman of the Management Board. His labor record in the
banking sector is over 25 years. Main areas of responsibility: IT, Back-Office function, Cash-in-Transit,
supervision of FX transactions, Information Security;
Iryna Zemtsova, Deputy Chairman of the Management Board. Her labor record in the banking sector is
over 30 years. Main area of responsibility is methodological support of Corporate business;
Volodymyr Lytvyn, Deputy Chairman of the Management Board. His labor record in the banking sector is
more than 10 years. Main areas of responsibility: depository activities, Workout, Administration;
Andriy Stetsevych, Deputy Chairman of the Management Board. His labor record in the banking sector is
over 20 years. Main area of responsibility is Corporate and MSME business;
Anton Tiutiun, Deputy Chairman of the Management Board. His labor record in the banking sector is
more than 20 years. Main area of responsibility is Retail business.

8.3. Principles of Oschadbank’s corporate standards
In their activity, Oschadbank’s employees adhere to moral, ethical, and business standards and principles,
corporate values and rules of conduct set out in the Code of Conduct (Ethics).
Based on the principles of transparency, mutual respect, and partnership, the Collective Agreement has been
concluded between the bank’s management and staff. It regulates rights and obligations of the parties on
issues of professional, labor, and social and economic relations.
Oschadbank’s effective mechanism of whistleblowing on misconduct and violations provides for the
measures of protection to the whistleblowers and the procedure of consideration and response to the
whistleblowing complaints.
Oschadbank has effective Anti-Corruption Program, which is an internal regulatory document that contains
the set of rules, standards, and procedures for detection, combat, and prevention of corruption. There is
specially authorized Commissioner for the Implementation of the Anti-Corruption Program. The bank’s
organizational structure has a separate unit in charge, Corruption Prevention Division within the Security
Department.

9. Environmental and social aspects of activity
9.1. Environmental aspects
Oschadbank actively supports customers that conduct modernization of their houses with raising the energy
efficiency and implement green technologies.
Thus, since 2014, over the time of execution of the state program of lending for housewarming, the bank has
issued 221 thous. “warm” loans for the total amount of UAH 4.3 bn.
Oschadbank’s product named “Green Energy” allows the households to use credit for purchase of equipment
and materials for green energy production (electricity generated with the use of sun, wind, biomass, etc.).
Since when this product’s was launched, the overall amount of relevant loans issued made up UAH 62.5 mln.
Alternative energy industry is financed by the bank also on the level of large-scale projects, supported by the
unit of Corporate business. In total, as of the end of 2019, Oschadbank had financed various projects of
alternative energy facilities construction for EUR 282 mln.
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Environment friendliness is intrinsic as well to bank’s MSME business. MSME customers in 2019 received
loans for projects that produce positive impact on the environment, including implementation of green
technologies in agriculture.
It should be mentioned that, within joint programs on lending to MSME, Oschadbank cooperates with
international organizations: EIF, EIB, German-Ukrainian Foundation. As a participant of those programs,
Oschadbank is required to comply with the European environmental regulations prohibiting the financing of
activities harmful to the environment. Besides, being a participant of the EBRD Trade Facilitation Program,
Oschadbank is committed to meet the EBRD’s environmental and social requirements to projects.

9.2. Social aspects
Inclusiveness
In 2019, Oschadbank continued its consistent comprehensive work aimed at full-fledged integration of
people with disabilities into society and ensuring equal access to banking services.
Over the year, 6 inclusive branches of Oschadbank were opened: in Lutsk, Sloviansk, Berdychiv, Zhytomyr,
Odesa, and Chernivtsi. Those branches are a unique solution of Oschadbank. They are fully accessible to all
categories of customers since they were designed with due account of the relevant construction
requirements, standards of universal design, and anthropometry features and needs of clients with
disabilities as per different nosologies.
Inasmuch as accessibility of banking services includes not only the availability of special technical solutions
or architectural accessibility, Oschadbank organized, jointly with the Inclusive Friendly project, a training on
basics of communication and service necessary for work with people who have disabilities. 150 persons
participated in that training, including branch managers and employees of Oschadbank’s regional offices,
representatives of state authorities, state-owned enterprises, small and medium businesses, and media. The
training included appropriate terminology, legislative norms, etiquette, peculiarities, and practical
approaches of providing services to clients who have aural, vision, or musculoskeletal disorders.
Apart from participation in trainings, last year Oschadbank kept attracting business partners to participation
in common projects on spreading ideas of inclusion of all people into the society.
In 2019, Oschadbank, together with its permanent partners, biggest gastronomic festival Ulichnaya Eda and
non-governmental organization Fight For Right, opened once again the beTogether inclusive space. That is a
space in which half a thousand festival visitors of the 2019 season were able to learn in an easy and interesting
way about inclusiveness, to try items produced as per the principle of universal design, to take part in
inclusive games and activities, and to talk to people with disabilities in an informal atmosphere.

Charity
In 2019, Oschadbank continued cooperation with its main charity partner, charitable fund “Tabletochki.”
“Tabletochki” is a charity whose main goal is overcoming children’s cancer in Ukraine. The Fund has been
helping children since 2011. “Tabletochki” cooperates consistently with 17 children’s cancer-treatment units,
provides each month targeted support to 400 children all over Ukraine, protects the rights of children ill with
cancer and their families, and actively supports the professional growth of Ukrainian doctors.
Over year 2019, Oschadbank’s employees and customers made money transfers in favor of “Tabletochki” for
the total amount of UAH 700 thous. The transfers were made through Oschadbank’s information and
payment terminals, online banking Oschad 24/7 and contactless charity terminals “Put a Like That Matters,”
which were put in operation jointly with Mastercard in 2018.
A thing to be proud of is the yearly corporate Oschadbank’s Donor Day, which was held in 2019 all over the
country. 220 Oschadbank’s employees from various cities of Ukraine donated over 100 liters of blood. This
will help 650 people in need of blood components transfusion.
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Investing in the future
Oschadbank kept popularizing the Ukrainian art. In 2019, under bank’s initiative and support, a guidebook
on the contemporary art’s trends, fairs, museums, and artists was published. The book tells about the
modern art, world’s main contemporary art events, exhibitions, and biennales, about the most notable pieces
of arts created by Ukrainian and foreign artists, about the world’s museums and galleries worth visiting. The
book is available in public access, on Oschadbank’s web site, and everyone willing may read it.
In 2019, entrepreneurship support program “Build Yours”, created by Oschadbank, kept working; it includes
training and consulting for entrepreneurs and startuppers, tools for doing business offered by the program
partners on favorable terms, and financial support from the bank.
In 2019, for portal “Build Yours”, 23 original online training courses for entrepreneurs and the roadmap for
opening business were developed. Those tools were used by almost 80 thousand registered users, who
visited the portal 500 thousand times.
Children are also in the focus. As part of support of the financial literacy among Ukrainians, Oschadbank
launched on its YouTube channel new section #яумамифінансист (“I’m Mom’s financial expert”), in which
children answer unchildish financial questions. Over year 2019, those videos were watched by almost half a
million YouTube users.

10. Awards and recognition in 2019
In 2019, Oschadbank received the following awards:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

First prize in nomination “Best Offline Payment Management Service for SME” for joint solution with Visa
“Tap to Phone” (PSM Awards 2019).
Third prize in nomination “Contribution to Startups Development” for comprehensive program “Build
Yours” (PSM Awards 2019).
Oschadbank’s Chairman of Management Board Andriy Pyshnyy was included in the top-10 of Ukraine’s
CEOs in rating “50 Captains of Business” (the Correspondent magazine).
Ranking 42 in the top-100 most expensive brands of Ukraine and No. 1 as per dynamics of brand’s value
growth in rating “Top-100 Most Expensive Brands of Ukraine” (the Novoye Vremia [New Time] magazine
and company MPP Consulting).
First prize in nomination “Target Lending and International Programs” in rating “Best Bank for SME” (the
Business media agency).
Second prize in nomination “Price Offer” in rating “Best Bank for SME” (the Business media agency).
Third prize in nomination “Best Product” in rating “Best Bank for SME” (the Business media agency).
Oschadbank’s Deputy Chairman of Management Board Andriy Stetsevych was recognized one of the best
bankers for SME in rating “Best Bank for SME” (the Business media agency).
First prize in nomination “Best Loan for Business Development in Q3 2019” with product “Revolving
Credit Line” (prize “Prostobank Awards” from Prostobank Consulting).
First prize in nomination “Best Secured Consumer Loan in Q3 2019” with program “Loan Secured by Real
Estate” (prize “Prostobank Awards” from Prostobank Consulting).
Second prize in nomination “Best Car Loan in Q3 2019” with program “Oschad Drive” (prize “Prostobank
Awards” from Prostobank Consulting).
First prize in nomination “Advanced Technology Bank” (prize “FinAwards 2019” from portals “Minfin”
and Finance.ua).
Third prize in nomination “Best Internet Bank” (prize “FinAwards 2019” from portals “Minfin” and
Finance.ua).
Third prize in nomination “People’s Bank” (prize “FinAwards 2019” from portals “Minfin” and
Finance.ua).
Oschadbank’s Deputy Chairman of Management Board Anton Tiutiun was recognized the best Head of
Retail (prize “FinAwards 2019” from portals “Minfin” and Finance.ua).
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Translation from Ukrainian original

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Ranking first among the leading banks of Ukraine in rating “50 Leading Banks of Ukraine in 2019”
(Financial Club Awards).
Oschadbank’s Chairman of Management Board Andriy Pyshnyy was ranked first as per category
“Bankers” in rating “Financial Recognition 2019” (Financial Club Awards).
Oschadbank’s Deputy Chairman of Management Board Andriy Stetsevych was recognized one of the best
Corporate bankers in rating “50 Leading Banks of Ukraine in 2019” (Financial Club Awards).
First prize in nomination “Cash-in-Transit” in rating “50 Leading Banks of Ukraine in 2019” (Financial Club
Awards).
First prize in nomination “Salary Card Projects” in rating “50 Leading Banks of Ukraine in 2019” (Financial
Club Awards).
First prize in nomination “Card Loans” in rating “50 Leading Banks of Ukraine in 2019” (Financial Club
Awards).
Second prize in nomination “Mortgage Loan” in rating “50 Leading Banks of Ukraine in 2019” (Financial
Club Awards).
Third prize in nomination “Internet Banking” in rating “50 Leading Banks of Ukraine in 2019” (Financial
Club Awards).
Third prize in nomination “Premium Banking” in rating “50 Leading Banks of Ukraine in 2019” (Financial
Club Awards).
Third prize in nomination “Servicing Individuals in a Branch” in rating “50 Leading Banks of Ukraine in
2019” (Financial Club Awards).
First prize in nomination “Best Car Loan in Q2 2019” with program “Oschad Drive” (prize “Prostobank
Awards” from Prostobank Consulting).
Second prize in nomination “Best Car Loan in Q2 2019” with program “Easy Loan” (prize “Prostobank
Awards” from Prostobank Consulting).
Second prize in nomination “Best Mortgage for Acquisition of Housing in the Secondary Market in Q2
2019” (prize “Prostobank Awards” from Prostobank Consulting).
First prize in nomination “Best Secured Consumer Loan in Q1 and Q2 2019” with program “Loan Secured
by Real Estate” (prize “Prostobank Awards” from Prostobank Consulting).
Second prize in nomination “Best Blank Overdraft for Business in Q1 and Q2 2019” with program “Blank”
(prize “Prostobank Awards” from Prostobank Consulting).
Second prize in nomination “Best Loan for Business Development in Q1 and Q2 2019” with product
“Revolving Credit Line” (prize “Prostobank Awards” from Prostobank Consulting).
Second prize in nomination “Best Car Loan in Q1 2019” with program “Oschad Drive” (prize “Prostobank
Awards” from Prostobank Consulting).
Ranking 14 in the top-50 most expensive domestic brands (the Correspondent magazine). Oschadbank’s
brand was evaluated at USD 129.2 mln.
First prize in nomination “Consumption Driver” for achievements in lending to individuals (rating
“Financial Oscar 2018” from weekly magazine “Business”).
First prize in nomination “Payment Card Bank” in rating “Banks of 2018” (Financial Club).
Oschadbank was included into top-3 best banks in Private Banking in nomination “Best Private Banking
Services Overall” (the Euromoney magazine).
Oschadbank’s legal team, for second year consecutively, was recognized the best in Ukraine’s banking
system within the Best Legal Departments rating.
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JOINT STOCK COMPANY “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”
(former Public Joint Stock Company “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
(in thousands of UAH)
1.

ORGANIZATION
The Bank is a legal successor of the State Specialized Commercial Savings Bank of Ukraine registered by the
National Bank of Ukraine (hereinafter – the “NBU”) on 31 December 1991, registration No. 4. Open Joint Stock
Company “State Savings Bank of Ukraine” was established in accordance with the Decree of the President of
Ukraine No. 106 dated 20 May 1999 and the Resolution of the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine No. 876 dated
21 May 1999, by converting the State Specialized Commercial Savings Bank of Ukraine into Joint Stock
Company “State Savings Bank of Ukraine” in the form of an open joint stock company. Open Joint Stock
Company “State Savings Bank of Ukraine” was registered by the NBU on 26 May 1999, registration No. 4. The
change of name to Public Joint Stock Company “State Savings Bank of Ukraine” was registered on
7 June 2011. On 5 June 2019, the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine adopted Resolution No. 568 Issue of Joint
Stock Company “State Savings Bank of Ukraine”, which was officially published and came into force on
10 July 2019, according to which the type of public joint stock company “State Savings Bank of Ukraine” was
changed from public to private and renamed it to the joint stock company “State Savings Bank of Ukraine”
(“the Bank”). The Charter was revised accordingly and was agreed with the National Bank of Ukraine. On
18 July 2019, its state registration was done.
The Bank is operating under a banking license issued by the National Bank of Ukraine. The Bank has a general
license issued by the NBU for conducting foreign currency transactions and a license issued by the National
Securities and Stock Market Commission (the “NSSMC”) for operations with securities.
The Bank’s primary business is in maintaining bank accounts and attracting deposits from legal entities and
individuals, issuing loans, transferring payments, trading in securities and operating with foreign currencies.
The new version of the Charter (in accordance with the Law of Ukraine of 5 July 2018 No. 2491-VIII
On Amendments to Certain Legislative Acts of Ukraine on Improving the Functioning of the Financial Sector
in Ukraine) provides for significant changes in the Bank’s corporate governance system.
Main changes introduced to the system in 2019 are:
1. Approval of the revised Bank’s Charter and Resolution on the Supervisory Board.
2. Election, on an open basis, of the Supervisory Board members majority of which is independent.
3. Three committees of the Supervisory Board were created and have started operating – Audit committee,
Risk committee and Remuneration committee.
The Bank, in accordance with the Strategic Development of the State Banking Sector, with the participation of
a Top 3 international consulting company developed a draft Strategy for the development of Oschadbank JSC
for 2018-2022, which was approved by the decision of the Bank Management Board (Decision of the Board
dated 27 December 2017, No. 1136) and the Cabinet Ministers of Ukraine (decree dated 21 February 2018
No.112-p), which deals with commercial priorities, business goals, operational transformation of the Bank for
the period up to 2022 and sets targets for its efficiency, capitalization and development dynamics.
Currently the Strategy is being reviewed under the supervision of the Supervisory Board to reflect the current
circumstances and revised macroeconomic prognosis with simultaneous focus on the Bank’s financial result.
The Bank is not a member of the Individual Deposit Guarantee Fund, since all the deposits placed by
individuals are guaranteed by the State.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, 100% of the Bank’s shares were state-owned.
The registered address of the Bank is at: 12G Hospitalna str., Kyiv, 01001, Ukraine.
As at 31 December 2014, the Bank suspended all types of financial transactions in the parts of Luhansk and
Donetsk regions, which are not controlled by Ukrainian authorities.
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JOINT STOCK COMPANY “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”
(former Public Joint Stock Company “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
(in thousands of UAH)
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared for the Bank, PrJSC “Home Loans Refinancing
Agency”, SSB NO. 1 Plc (collectively referred to as “the Group”):

Name
JSC “State Savings Bank of Ukraine”
PrJSC “Home Loans Refinancing Agency”
SSB No. 1 Plc

Participatory/voting interest
(%) as at
31 December
31 December
2019
2018

Country of
operation
Ukraine
Ukraine
United
Kingdom

Parent company
70.86
70.86
−

−

Type of
activities
Banking
Loan refinancing
Special purpose entity
for Eurobond issuing

PrJSC “Home Loans Refinancing Agency” was established on 17 February 2012. The primary activity of the
company is refinancing mortgage loans through the issue of mortgage securities.
SSB No. 1 Plc is a special purpose company that was established in the form of a public limited liability
company in accordance with the laws of England and Wales. The primary activity of the company is fundraising
on international capital markets for the Bank.
These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Management Board on 15 May 2020.
2.

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT AND GOING CONCERN BASIS
The macroeconomic conditions in 2019 were favorable for the banking system of Ukraine. The country's GDP
growth in 2019 is estimated at 3.2%.
Consumer inflation slowed to 4.1% in 2019 (down from 9.8% in 2018), the lowest level in six years.
At the beginning of September 2019, the international rating agency Fitch Ratings upgraded Ukraine’s
long-term rating from B- to B with a positive outlook. On 24 September 2019, Fitch Ratings upgraded the
Bank’s long-term foreign and national currency ratings from B- to B with a positive outlook.
In 2019, a number of important legislative changes were made on consolidation of the financial services market
regulation, protection of consumer rights and financial sector functioning improvement.
In addition, in January 2020, the NBU, the NSSMC, National Commission for Regulation of Financial Services
Markets, Ministry of Finance of Ukraine and Deposit Guarantee Fund approved Strategy of Ukrainian Financial
Sector Development until 2025 which Strategy, which provides for achievement of the EU level and
requirements for financial sector development, namely, inflation targeting, increase in international reserves,
increase in volume of non-cash payments, recovery of lending, especially for small and medium entities,
decrease in dollarasation of loans and deposits.
The Ukrainian banking system was sufficiently stable and well capitalized in 2019. Liquidity surplus (being the
amount of funds on the banks’ correspondent accounts with the NBU and the NBU’s deposit certificates) was
observed in 2019 and increased in the fourth quarter. The number of banks decreased from 77 in 2018 to 75
in 2019.
The Bank is one of the systemically important banks in Ukraine.
The Bank is a universal bank according to its business strategy which focuses on expansion of micro-, small
and medium business (MSMB) while maintaining strong position in corporate business.
The Bank is number two bank by assets and number one by loans to customers in Ukraine and is the biggest
by liabilities from corporate clients and second by liabilities from individuals. The Bank is the biggest in Ukraine
by number of outlets.
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JOINT STOCK COMPANY “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”
(former Public Joint Stock Company “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
(in thousands of UAH)
The determinative factors that will have an impact on the Bank's continuing operations and successful
implementation of the development strategy are:
•

Increased competition in the banking system, in particular among state-owned banks, and a more flexible
response from competitors − local players;

•

Activation of digital banks on the market and the need for significant capital investments for the
development and re-engineering of banking technologies and business model;

•

Strengthening regulatory requirements for capital and liquidity ratios;

•

Low business activity and insufficient creditworthiness of borrowers, reduced liquidity of collateral;

•

A possible escalation of hostilities in the east, which could adversely affect the financial position of
individual borrowers and the Bank as a whole.

The Group’s management is focused on maintaining the Group’s stability in response to the current
circumstances and available information. However, the possibility of external factors that may have a negative
impact on the stability of the banking system as a whole, and thus on the results of operations and financial
condition of the Group is not excluded, the nature and consequences of which cannot be currently determined.

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a)

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”) and the requirements of the Law of Ukraine “On Accounting and Financial Reporting in
Ukraine” #996-XIV on preparation of financial statements.
Basis of consolidation
These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Bank and the companies
regarding which the Bank is exposed to or has rights to variable returns from its involvement and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over these companies.
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Croup loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
from the date the Bank gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Bank
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is attributed to the owner
of the Bank and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in a deficit balance of the non-controlling
interests.
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.
All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses, and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
Non-controlling interest
Non-controlling interest represents the portion of profit or loss and net assets of the subsidiary and special
purpose entity not owned, directly or indirectly, by the Bank’s shareholder.
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JOINT STOCK COMPANY “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”
(former Public Joint Stock Company “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
(in thousands of UAH)
Non-controlling interest is presented separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement of financial position, separately from
the Parent’s share capital.
(b)

Basis of presentation

These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of UAH, unless otherwise indicated.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for buildings
and financial instruments that are measured at revalued amount or fair value, respectively, at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair
value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
Comparative information for 2018 was reclassified to comply with revised presentation of consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for 2019 as disclosed below:
For the year
ended 31
December
2018

Effect of
reclassification

For the year
ended 31
December 2018
(after
reclassification)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
Release of/(charge for) allowance for expected
credit losses/ losses on impairment of interest
bearing assets
Release of allowance for expected credit losses
and losses on modification of interest bearing
assets
incl. release of allowance for expected credit
losses on interest bearing assets
Net interest income after change in allowance
for expected credit losses and losses on
modification of interest bearing assets

1,175,156

(1,175,156)

−

−

1,127,366

1,127,366

1,175,156

2,219,159

3,394,315

6,630,494

(47,790)

6,582,704

(47,698)

47,698

−

304,597

92

304,689

Net loss on modification of financial assets and
liabilities at amortised cost and financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive
income
Net other income

(c)

Functional currency

Items included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group are measured using the currency that
best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to the Bank, its
subsidiary and special purpose entity (the “functional currency”). The functional and currency of presentation
of these consolidated financial statements is Ukrainian Hryvnia (“UAH”). All amounts are rounded to
thousands, unless otherwise indicated.
Foreign currency transactions
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into UAH at the appropriate
spot exchange rates ruling at the reporting date. Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the
exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction. Gains and losses arising from these translations and
from the settlement of foreign exchange transactions are included in net gain on foreign exchange transactions.
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JOINT STOCK COMPANY “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”
(former Public Joint Stock Company “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
(in thousands of UAH)

The official exchange rates at reporting date used by the Group in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements are:
31 December
2019
UAH/USD 1
UAH/EUR 1

(d)

23,6862
26,422

31 December
2018
27,68826
31,71414

Offsetting

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and reported net in the consolidated statement of financial position
when the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and the Group intends either
to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Such right of settting off
(a) must not be contingent on a future event and (b) must be legally enforceable in all of the following
circumstances: (i) in the normal course of business, (ii) the event of default and (iii) the event of insolvency or
bankruptcy. Income and expense are not offset in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income unless required or permitted by IFRS or interpretation. In accounting for a transfer of
a financial asset that does not qualify for derecognition, the Group does not offset the transferred asset and
the associated liability.
(e)

Financial assets and financial liabilities

(i)

Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost (AC), fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVOCI) or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated
as at FVTPL:
•

It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

•

Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest (SPPI test) on the principal amount outstanding.

A debt instrument is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated by
the Group as at FVTPL:
•

It is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling financial assets; and

•

Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest (SPPI test) on the principal amount outstanding.

For debt financial assets measured at FVOCI, gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income, except for the following, which are recognised in profit or loss in the same manner as for financial
assets measured at amortised cost:
•

Interest income using the effective interest method;

•

Expected credit losses (ECL) and reversal of provision for impairment losses; and

•

Foreign exchange gains and losses.

When a debt financial asset measured at FVOCI is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss.
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JOINT STOCK COMPANY “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”
(former Public Joint Stock Company “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
(in thousands of UAH)
All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured
at FVTPL.
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income. This election is made on an
investment-by-investment basis. Gains and losses on such equity instruments are never reclassified to profit
or loss and no impairment is recognised in profit or loss. Dividends are recognised in profit or loss unless they
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the investment, in which case they are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Cumulative gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income are
transferred to retained earnings on disposal of an investment.
In addition, on initial recognition the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets
the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.
Financial instruments are reclassified when the Group changes its business model. Equity investments are not
reclassified.
Business model assessment
The Group makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio
level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management.
The information considered by the Group includes:
•

The policies and objectives set for portfolio management and the implementation of these policies in
practice. These include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income,
maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of
any related liabilities or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;

•

The manner the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management;

•

The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that
business model) and the way those risks are managed;

•

The way managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair
value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

•

The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations
about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered independently, but
as part of an overall assessment of how the Group’s stated objective for managing the financial assets is
achieved and how cash flows are realised.

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and performance of which is evaluated on a fair value
basis are measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to
collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.
Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk associated with
the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs
(e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as profit margin.
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest on the
outstanding part of the principal amount (the “SPPI criterion”), the Group considers the contractual terms of
the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could
change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows so that it would not meet this condition. In making the
assessment, the Group considers:
•

Contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;
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JOINT STOCK COMPANY “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”
(former Public Joint Stock Company “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
(in thousands of UAH)
•

Leverage features;

•

Conditions for early repayment and extension of the term of financial instrument;

•

Terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets.

Financial liabilities
The Group classifies its financial liabilities as measured at amortised cost.
(ii)

Recognition and measurement of financial instruments

The Group recognizes financial assets and liabilities in its consolidated statement of financial position when it
becomes a party to the contractual obligation of the instrument. Regular way purchase and sale of the financial
assets and liabilities are recognised using settlement date accounting.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or a financial liability (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial asset or financial liability, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The best evidence of fair value is price in
an active market. An active market is one in which transactions for asset or liability take place with sufficient
frequency and volume to provide pricing information on permanent basis. Fair value of financial instruments
traded in an active market is measured as the product of the quoted price for the individual asset or liability
and the quantity held by the Group. This is the case even if a market’s normal daily trading volume is not
sufficient to absorb the quantity held by the Group and placing orders to sell the position in a single transaction
might affect the quoted price.
The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction
price (i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received). If the Group determines that the fair value at
initial recognition differs from the transaction price, it accounts for that instrument at the date of initial
recognition as follows:
•

At valuation price, if that fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset
or liability (i.e. a Level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable
markets. The Group shall recognize the difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the
transaction price as a gain or loss;

•

In all other cases, at the measurement adjusted to defer the difference between the fair value at initial
recognition and the transaction price. After initial recognition, the Group recognizes that deferred difference
as a gain or loss to the extent that it arises from a change in a factor (including time) that market participants
would take into account when determining the price of an asset or liability.

Any gains or losses on initial recognition of financial instruments received from the shareholder are recognised
in equity.
Accounting policies regarding subsequent re-measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities are
disclosed further in the respective accounting policy sections.
For consolidated financial reporting purposes, fair value measurement are categorized into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurement are observable and the significance of
the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:
•

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
Group can access at the measurement date;
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(former Public Joint Stock Company “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
(in thousands of UAH)
•

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a
financial instrument. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the transaction had not
taken place. Transaction costs include fees and commissions paid to agents (including employees acting as
selling agents), advisors, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and securities exchanges, and
transfer taxes and duties levied upon reregistration of property rights. Transaction costs do not include debt
premiums or discounts, financing costs or internal administrative or holding costs.
(iii)

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets
The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards of ownership of the asset
to another entity.
If the Group mainly transfers all risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset, the Group discontinues
the recognition of a financial asset and separately recognizes as assets or liabilities all rights and obligations
created or retained in the transfer. If the Group retains all substantial risks and rewards of ownership of a
financial asset transferred, the Group continues to recognize the financial asset.
In transactions in which the Group neither retains nor transfers all of the substantial risks and rewards of
ownership of a financial asset, the Group assesses whether it has control over the financial asset. If the Group
does not retain the control, it derecognises the financial asset and separately recognizes as assets or liabilities
all rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer. And if the Group retains control over the asset, it
continues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement.
On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received, including all new assets received less all new liabilities assumed, and
the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.
On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety (e.g. when the Group retains an option to
repurchase part of the transferred asset or retains a residual interest that does not result in the retention of all
substantial risks and rewards of ownership and the Group retains control), the Group allocates the previous
carrying amount of the financial asset between the part it continues to recognize under continuing involvement,
and the part it no longer recognizes on the basis of the relative fair value of those parts on the date of the
transfer. The difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the
sum of the consideration received for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated
to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. A cumulative gain or loss that had
been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is allocated between the part that
continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair value of
those parts.
Financial liabilities
Financial liability is derecognized when the obligation is discharged, cancelled, or expires.
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amount is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
(see Note 3(e)(iv).
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(iv)

Modifications of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets
If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the Group evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified asset
are substantially different, that is, whether there is a significant difference between the cash flows of the initially
recognised financial asset and the cash flows of the modified asset or the financial asset that replaced it. If the
cash flows are substantially different (referred to as ‘substantial modification’), then the contractual rights to
cash flows from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial
asset is derecognised and a new financial asset is recognised at fair value plus any eligible transaction costs.
Any fees received as part of the modification are accounted for as follows:
•

Fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent
reimbursement of eligible transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the asset; and

•

Other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition.

Changes in cash flows on existing financial assets or financial liabilities are not considered as modification, if
they result from existing contractual terms.
Modification of terms is deemed substantial in case of change of currency of financial asset, change of debtor,
combination of two or more financial assets or vice versa, change of type of financial asset. Modification of
terms is considered unsubstantial in case of change of the nominal interest rate, repayment schedule or
maturity extension.
If the modification of a financial asset measured at amortised cost or FVOCI does not result in derecognition
of the financial asset, then the Group first recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial asset using
the original effective interest rate of the asset and recognises the resulting adjustment as a modification gain
or loss in profit or loss. Any costs or fees incurred and fees received as part of the modification adjust the gross
carrying amount of the modified financial asset and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified
financial asset.
Financial liabilities
If the contractual terms of the liabilities are renegotiated or otherwise modified, the Group accounts for it as an
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability, if the modification
of the terms is substantial. The modification of terms is considered substantial if the discounted present value
of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using
the original effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. If the modification of terms is accounted for as an
extinguishment of the original debt, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss at the
extinguishment date. If the modification is not accounted for as an extinguishment of the debt, any costs or
fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the remaining term of the
modified liability.
(v)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognizes a provision for expected credit losses on all debt financial assets, that are carried at
amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive income as well as loan commitments and financial
guarantee agreements (hereinafter as ‘financial instruments’). An impairment loss is not recognized for equity
instruments.
The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for the following, for which
they are measured as 12-month ECL:
•

debt investment securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

•

other financial instruments (other than net investments in finance leases) on which credit risk has not
increased significantly since their initial recognition.
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12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date.
Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial
instrument.
Presentation of allowance for ECL in the consolidated statement of financial position
Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:
•

Financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of these
assets;

•

Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: as a provision in other liabilities;

•

Debt instruments measured at FVOCI: provision for expected losses is recognized in other
comprehensive income and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial asset in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Loans write-off
Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof at the decision of the Management Board. Such
decisions are taken when all available possibilities to collect the amounts due have been exercised by the
Group and available collateral has been sold. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
reflected as other income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in
the period of recovery.
(f)

Cash and balances with the National Bank of Ukraine

Cash and balances with the National Bank of Ukraine include cash on hand and outstanding balances on
correspondent account with the National Bank of Ukraine.
Cash on hand, unrestricted balances on correspondent accounts with the National Bank of Ukraine and other
banks, advances to OECD and other banks which may be converted to cash within three months from date of
recognition, except for guarantee deposits for operations with payment cards, constitute cash and cash
equivalents.
(g)

Due from banks

In the normal course of business, the Group provides advances and places deposits for certain periods of time
with other banks, as well as has balances on the correspondent account with other banks (except for the NBU).
Due from banks are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs. Due from banks with a fixed maturity
term are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Those that do not
have fixed maturities are measured at amortised cost based on maturities estimated by management. Amounts
due from banks are carried net of any allowance for expected credit losses.
(h)

Loans to customers

Loans to customers are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable principal and interest
payments, other than those classified in other categories of financial assets.
At the time of initial recognition, loans are measured based on the results of cash flow testing (SPPI test).
Loans to customers are measured at:
•

Amortised cost using the effective interest method less allowance for expected credit losses;

•

Fair value through profit or loss. In such case, no expected credit losses are recognised.
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Loans to customers in the consolidated statement of financial position include:
•

Loans to customers measured at amortised cost; these loans are initially measured at fair value plus
incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method;

•

Loans to customers measured at FVTPL due to non-compliance with the SPPI-criterion; these loans are
measured at fair value with changes recognised immediately in profit or loss; and

•

Net investments in finance leases.

Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets are assets that are credit-impaired on initial
recognition. Such assets are initially measured at fair value. Lifetime ECLs are recognised over the expected
life of a financial instrument on a cumulative basis using the effective interest rate adjusted for credit risk.
(i)

Investments

“Investments” caption in the consolidated statement of financial position includes:
•

Debt securities measured at amortised cost;

•

Debt securities mandatorily measured at FVTPL (including a hybrid instrument with embedded derivative);

•

Debt securities measured at FVOCI; and

•

Equity investment securities designated by the Group at FVOCI.

Investments at amortised cost
Investments measured at amortised cost are investments in debt securities held within a business model
objective of which is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows that represent solely payments of principal
and interest on the outstanding part of principal amount.
After initial recognition these investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method. Investments at amortised cost are recorded net of any provisions for expected credit losses.
Investments at amortized cost include “overnight” deposit certificates.
Investments measured at FVOCI
Investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are investments in debt securities
held within a business model objective of which is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows that
represent solely payments of principal and interest on the outstanding part of principal amount, and by means
of sale. Such debt securities are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs.
These securities are then measured at fair value, with revaluation effect recognised in other comprehensive
income, except for impairment losses, foreign exchange gains or losses and interest income accrued using
the effective interest rate method, which are recognised directly in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. At sale, the gain / (loss) previously recognized in equity is recognized in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. When an investment measured at
FVOCI is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss (see Note 3(e)(i)).
Investments measured at FVTPL
Investments measured at fair value through profit or loss are investments in debt securities that do not meet
the criteria for their subsequent measurement at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income. Acquisition costs on such investments are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income when incurred.
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Equity instruments
The Group irrevocably elected to present changes in fair value of equity investments in OCI. This election was
made on an investment-by-investment basis. No impairment loss is recognised on equity investments.
(j)

Derivative financial instruments

In the normal course of business, the Group enters into various derivative financial instruments, including
foreign exchange contracts concluded by the Group with other banks to purchase/sale and exchange
(conversion) of foreign currency and currency rate swaps to manage currency and liquidity risks, and for
trading. Derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair value at the date of a derivative contract
with subsequent revaluation to their fair value at each reporting date. Derivatives are carried as assets when
their fair value is positive and as liabilities when it is negative. Derivatives are included in financial assets and
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss in the consolidated statement of financial position, or if their amounts
are immaterial, they are included in other assets or liabilities. Gains and losses resulting from these instruments
are included in net gain/(loss) from financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Derivative financial instruments
entered into by the Group are not designated as hedges and do not qualify for hedge accounting.
Embedded derivatives
Derivatives may be embedded in another contractual arrangement (‘host contract’). The Group accounts for
an embedded derivative separately from the host contract when:
•

The host contract is not an asset in the scope of IFRS 9;

•

The host contract is not carried at fair value through profit or loss;

•

The terms of the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative if they were contained in a
separate contract; and

•

The economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic
characteristics and risks of the host contract.

Certain embedded derivatives are measured at FVTPL, with all changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss unless they arise within hedging approach in respect of cash flows or net investments.
An embedded derivative that is a component of a hybrid (combined) instrument with an underlying instrument
that is a financial asset is not separated, but accounted for as part of such a combined financial instrument,
classified as a financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives together with the
host contracts are presented under the “Investments” caption in the consolidated statement of financial
position.
(k)

Due to banks, customer accounts, subordinated debt, Eurobonds issued and other borrowed
funds

Due to banks, customer accounts, subordinated debt, Eurobonds issued and other borrowed funds are initially
recognised at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, amounts due are stated at amortised cost, and
any difference between net proceeds and the redemption value is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method. Those that do not have fixed maturities are measured at amortised cost based on expected maturities.
(l)

Guarantee contracts issued and letters of credit

Issued financial guarantee and letters of credit
Financial guarantee contracts and letters of credit issued by the Group are credit insurance that provides for
specified payments to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to
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make payment when due under the original or modified terms of a debt instrument. Such financial guarantee
contracts and letters of credit issued are initially recognised at fair value.
Subsequently they are carried at the higher of:
•

Loss allowance for ECL recognised in accordance with IFRS 9; or

•

Fair value less the cumulative amount of income recognised in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers.

For other loan commitments the Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses.
Liabilities arising from financial guarantees and loan commitments are included within other liabilities.
Issued performance guarantees
Performance guarantees are contracts, that provide for the payment of compensation in favor of one of the
parties in the event of non-performance by the other party. Performance guarantees are not financial
instruments. Performance guarantees are initially recognized at fair value, which is confirmed by the amount
of the fee received for its issuance, which is subsequently amortized on the Bank's commission income from
off-balance sheet transactions on a straight-line basis over the term of the performance guarantee.
In the future, performance guarantees are valued at the higher of two values: the amount of amortized
commission and the provision for possible losses under the provided performance guarantee.
(m)

Interest income and expense

Effective interest rate
Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The ‘effective
interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected
life of the financial instrument to:
•

The gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or

•

The amortised cost of the financial liability.

When calculating the effective interest rate for purchased or originated financial instruments other than creditimpaired assets, the Group estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial
instruments, but not expected credit losses. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a
credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated using estimated future cash flows including expected credit
losses.
The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees and amounts paid or received
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability.
Amortised cost and gross carrying amount
The “amortised cost” of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or
financial liability is measured on initial recognition less principal repayments, plus or less cumulative
amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity
amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance.
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is the amortised cost of a financial
asset before adjusting for any expected credit loss allowance.
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Calculation of interest income and expense
The effective interest rate of a financial asset or financial liability is calculated on initial recognition of a financial
asset or a financial liability. In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to
the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the
liability. The effective interest rate is revised as a result of periodic re-estimation of cash flows of floating rate
instruments to reflect movements in market rates of interest.
However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If the
asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.
For financial assets that were credit-impaired on initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying
the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the asset. The calculation of interest income
for such assets does not revert to a gross basis, even if the credit risk of the asset improves.
(n)

Fees and commission

Fee and commission income and expense is calculated on initial recognition of the financial asset or financial
liability that are integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset or financial liability are included in the
effective interest rate.
Other fee and commission income – including account servicing fees, investment management fees, sales
commission, placement fees and syndication fees – is recognised as the related services are performed. If a
loan commitment is not expected to result in the draw-down of a loan, then the related loan commitment fee is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the commitment period.
Other fee and commission expenses relate mainly to transaction and service fees, which are expensed as the
services are received.
(o)

Investment property

Investment property is property (land or a building or part of a building) subject to enforcement activities under
Ukrainian law held to earn rentals under operating leases. Investment property is initially recognised at cost
and subsequently measured at fair value.
(q)

Property, equipment and intangible assets

Property, equipment and intangible assets, other than buildings and properties under construction, are carried
at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization and any recognised impairment loss, if any.
Depreciation on assets under construction and those not placed in service commences from the date
the assets are ready for their intended use.
Depreciation of property, equipment and intangible assets (other than construction in progress and assets not
set in operation) begins on the first day of the month following the reporting month, in which the item of property,
equipment and intangible assets becomes available for use (operation), and is terminated starting from the
first day of the month following the month of disposal of property, equipment and intangible assets.
Depreciation of property and equipment and amortization of intangible assets is charged on the historical
(revalued) cost of property and equipment and intangible assets and is designed to write off assets over their
useful economic lives. It is calculated on a straight-line basis at the following annual rates:
Buildings
Furniture, office equipment, and vehicles
Intangible assets

0.7%-5%
5%-33%
10%-17%
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In 2019 and 2018, useful lives of property and equipment and intangible assets were reviewed but not
changed.
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the lease term of the related asset. Expenses related to repairs
and renewals are charged when incurred and included in operating expenses. Improvement expenses are
capitalized when incurred.
An item of property and equipment and intangible assets is derecognized upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
The Group has adopted a revaluation model for the subsequent measurement of its buildings and properties
under construction. Buildings and properties under construction are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation determined on the
basis of market evidence in the course of the assessment performed by professional valuation experts, less
any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are
performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amounts do not differ materially from those that would
be determined using fair values at the reporting date.
Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such buildings and properties under construction is
credited to the property revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the
same asset previously recognised as an expense, in which case the increase is recognised as income in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income to the extent of the decrease
previously charged. Decrease in carrying amount arising on the revaluation of such buildings and properties
under construction is charged as an expense to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the
property revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset. The decrease is debited directly
in equity to the property revaluation reserve to the extent of any credit balance existing in the property
revaluation reserve in respect of that asset.
During the revaluation of buildings and properties under construction, the accumulated depreciation is
deducted from the initial (revalued) value of the item of property and equipment, and the net carrying amount
obtained on a net basis is revalued to fair value. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued property,
the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the property revaluation reserve is transferred directly to
retained earnings.
Depreciation of revalued buildings is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
The carrying amounts of property, equipment and intangible assets (except for buildings and property under
construction) are reviewed at each reporting date to assess whether they are recorded in excess of their
recoverable amounts. Where carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, assets are written
down to their recoverable amount. Impairment is recognised in the respective period as losses in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. After the recognition of an
impairment loss, the depreciation charge for property and equipment is adjusted in future periods to allocate
the assets’ revised value, less its residual value (if any), on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.
(r)

Leases

Operating leases
A contract or part of a contract is considered a lease if the right to control the use of the underlying asset for a
certain period in exchange for compensation is transferred. Leases of assets under which the risks and
rewards of ownership are effectively retained with the lessor are classified as operating leases. At the lease
commencement date, the lessee estimates the asset for use at cost, which consists of the amount of the initial
estimate of the lease obligation, any lease payments made on or before the lease commencement date, less
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any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee and the costs to be incurred, which is required by the terms of
the lease. Subsequently, the lessee, using the cost model, estimates the right-to-use asset less depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses. At the commencement of the lease, the lessee estimates the lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments not paid at that date. To calculate the present value of the
lease payments, the lessee applies an additional borrowing rate if the interest rate stipulated in the lease
cannot be easily determined. After the lease commencement date, the lessee recognizes interest on the lease
obligation.
The Group applies the exemption from short-term lease recognition and to low-value asset lease agreements.
Short-term lease payments and leases of assets where the underlying asset is invaluable are recognized in
the straight-line lease expense over the lease term (Note 4).
Finance leases
Where the Group is a lessor in a lease which transfers all substantial risk and rewards from ownership to the
lessee, such asset is classified as finance lease and accounts receivable in the amount of net investments in
finance lease and is recognised within loans to customers.
(s)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the current and deferred tax expense.
Current tax
The current tax expense is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before income
tax as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted during the reporting period.
Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilized, and/or temporary taxable differences in respect of which the
relevant deductible differences can be used.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered, and/or temporary taxable differences in respect of which the relevant deductible differences can be
used.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when
the liability is settled or the asset is realized.
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its
assets and liabilities.
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Current and deferred taxes for the year
Current and deferred taxes are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, except when they relate to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case
the current and deferred taxes are also dealt with in equity.
Operating taxes
The Group also pays other taxes that are charged depending on the Group activities. These taxes are included
as a component of operating expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
(t)

Provisions and contingencies

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is
material).
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle an obligation are expected to be recovered from
a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received
and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position but are disclosed in
notes to the consolidated financial statements in case the possibility of any outflow in settlement is remote. A
contingent asset is not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position but disclosed in notes to
the consolidated financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
(u)

Share capital

Contributions to share capital are recognised at historical cost. Contributions made before 31 December 2000
are stated at cost, which is restated using the consumer price index to take into account effect of hyperinflation
as required by IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies.
Costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are deducted from equity, net of any related income taxes.
Dividends on ordinary shares based on the financial results of the year are recognised in equity as a reduction
in the period in which they are declared. Dividends that are declared after the reporting date are treated as a
subsequent event under IAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period and disclosed accordingly. Dividends
subject to mandatory accrual under effective law are accrued as at the reporting date within other liabilities.
Equity reserves
Reserves recognised in equity (other comprehensive income) in the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position include revaluation reserve for debt securities at fair value through other comprehensive
income and property revaluation reserve.
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(w)

Retirement and other benefit obligations

In accordance with the requirements of the Ukrainian legislation, the Group withholds amounts of pension
contributions from employees’ salaries and pays them to the Pension Fund of Ukraine. Such pension system
provides for calculation of current payments by the employer as a percentage of current total disbursements
to staff. Such expense is charged in the period the related salaries are earned. Upon retirement, an employee
receives retirement benefit payments made by the Pension Fund of Ukraine. The Group does not have any
pension arrangements separate from the state pension system of Ukraine, which requires current contributions
by an employer calculated as a percentage of current gross salary payments. In addition, the Group has no
post-retirement benefits or other significant compensated benefits requiring accrual.
(x)

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgement, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of the accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, income and expense. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of uncertainty estimation at the reporting date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial period include:
31 December
2019
Loans to customers
Investments
Buildings and construction in progress
Expected credit losses for guarantees and other commitments

65,168,344
113,616,183
3,119,301
526,697

31 December
2018
67,543,176
116,590,238
3,092,297
311,095

Judgements
Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effects on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements is included in the following notes:
•

Classification of financial assets: assessment of the business model within which the assets are held and
assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial asset are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding – Note 3(e)(i).

Assumptions and estimations uncertainty
Assessment of ECL
Expected credit losses are estimated as follows:
•

Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive);

•

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;

•

Undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive if the loan is provided; and
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•

Financial guarantee contracts: as the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts that
the Group expects to recover.

Evaluation of expected credit losses reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined
by evaluating a range of possible outcomes, the time value of money, and reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. Estimating provisions for expected credit losses for
financial assets at amortised cost or FVOCI requires complex modelling and using significant judgement on
future economic conditions, expected cash flows and debt service quality. Significant judgement is required
when applying accounting policy requirements to estimate expected credit losses in respect of the following:

•

Determining criteria used to identify significant increases in credit risk;

•

Selecting relevant models and judgements to estimate expected credit losses;

•

Determining quantity and relative weighting of scenarios for each type of product/market and respective
expected credit losses;

•

Determining groups of similar financial assets to estimate expected credit losses.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is stipulated by the risk of financial losses in case of default of any
counterparty, customer or market partner. Credit risk primarily arises on interbank commercial and consumer
loans, as well as loan commitments related to the above lending activities; however, it may also arise as a
result of issuing financial guarantees, letters of credit or bills of acceptance. The credit risk management policy
is described in Note 32.
Credit risk assessment on a loan portfolio involves subsequent assessment of probability of default, respective
loss rates, and conditions that correlate with defaults between counterparties. The Group estimates credit risk
using probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD) and loss given default (LGD) and taking into
account adjustments based on forward-looking information.
The Group determines the cost of properties obtained as collateral under lending transactions at fair value.
Since, as at 31 December 2019 and 2018, no active market was available for certain buildings and
constructions, the estimated fair value assessed by professional appraisers was used in determining the value
of collateral rather than their direct market value. Accounting estimates related to the property appraisals in
the absence of the active market-based prices are considered to be a key source of uncertainty due to the fact
that: (i) they are highly susceptible to change from period to period and (ii) a potential impact of change in
estimates may be material.
Provisions for guarantees and other commitments
Judgments and estimates related to the provision for guarantees and other commitments is an area of
significant management judgment because the underlying assumptions used for both the individually and
collectively assessed impairment can change from period to period and may significantly affect the Group’s
results of operations.
Valuation of financial instruments
Financial instruments at FVOCI and derivative financial instruments, including embedded derivatives, are
carried at their fair values. If a quoted market price is available for an instrument, the fair value is calculated
based on this market price. When valuation parameters are not observable in the market or cannot be derived
from observable market prices, the fair value is derived through analysis of other observable market data
appropriate for each product and pricing models which use a mathematical methodology based on accepted
financial theories. Pricing models take into account the contractual terms of financial instruments as well as
market-based valuation parameters, such as interest rates, volatility, exchange rates, and credit rating of
a counterparty. Where market-based valuation parameters are not available, management makes a judgment
as to its best estimate of that parameter in order to determine a reasonable reflection of how the market would
be expected to price the instrument. In exercising this judgment, a variety of tools is used, including proxy
observable data, historical data, and extrapolation techniques. The best evidence of the fair value of a financial
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instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction price if the value of the instrument is not supported
by comparing with available market data.
The Group considers that the accounting estimates and assumptions related to valuation of financial
instruments where quoted markets prices are not available is a key source of estimation uncertainty because:
(a) they are highly susceptible to change from period to period because they require management to make
assumptions about interest rates, volatility, exchange rates, the credit rating of the counterparty, valuation
adjustments, and specific feature of the transactions and (b) the impact that recognizing a change in the
valuations would have on the assets reported in consolidated statement of financial position as well as its
income/(expense) could be material.
Had management used different assumptions regarding interest rates, volatility, exchange rates, credit rating
of a counterparty, offer date, and valuation adjustments, a larger or smaller change in the valuation of financial
instruments where quoted market prices are not available would have resulted in a material impact on the
Group’s net profit reported in the consolidated financial statements.
As described in Note 29, the Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not based on
observable market data to estimate the fair value of certain types of financial instruments. Note 29 provides
detailed information about the key assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of financial
instruments, as well as the detailed sensitivity analysis for these assumptions. The Group’s management
believes that the chosen valuation techniques and assumptions used are appropriate in determining the fair
value of financial instruments.
Estimates of derivative financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are calculated based on the
judgments used to determine the inputs for fair value models of such instruments.
Buildings and properties under construction
The Group provides revaluation of properties (buildings) as part of property and equipment with sufficient
regularity so that the carrying amount does not differ significantly from that, which would be determined using
fair value at the end of the reporting period. The frequency of revaluations depends on changes in the fair
value of the revalued items of property and equipment. If the fair value of a revalued asset differs materially
from its carrying amount, a revaluation is performed. The Group has analyzed the fair value of buildings and
believes that their carrying amount did not differ materially from their fair value as at 31 December 2019 and
2018, therefore no revaluation was performed. The date of the most recent appraisal was 31 December 2016.
Deferred income tax assets
The deferred income tax asset is recognised for all unused tax losses when there is a probability of receiving
future taxable income in which respect the losses may be used, or temporary taxable differences in which
respect the relevant deductible differences can be used.
Management judgments are needed to determine the amount of deferred income tax asset that can be
recognised based on probable dates and amount of future taxable income and temporary deductible
differences, alongside with the tax planning strategy.
Other sources of uncertainty
While the Ukrainian government has introduced a range of stabilization measures aimed at providing liquidity
to Ukraine’s banks and companies, there continues to be uncertainty regarding the access to capital and cost
of capital for the Group and its counterparties, which could negatively affect the Group’s consolidated financial
position, results of operations, and development prospects.
Management is unable to reliably estimate the effects on the Group’s consolidated financial position of any
further deterioration in the liquidity of the financial markets and the increased volatility in the currency and
capital markets. Management believes it is taking all the necessary measures to support the sustainability and
growth of the Group’s business in the current circumstances.
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4.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“IFRS”)
Change to new or revised standards and interpretations
Below are the standards and interpretations that were first applied in 2019. The substance and effect of each
individual standard and amendment are set out below. During the reporting period, the Group applies the
following revised IFRSs, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.
IFRS 16 Leases
The Group has transitioned to IFRS 16 Lease (hereinafter – IFRS 16) since 1 January 2019.
IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance sheet lease accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognises a
right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its
obligation to make lease payments. There are recognition exemptions for short-term leases and leases of low
value items.
IFRS 16 replaces existing leases guidance, including IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an
Arrangement Contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases – Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.
Definition of lease
When concluding a contract, the Group determines whether the contract or a part of it is a lease. A lease is a
contract or part of it that transfers the right to control the use of a particular asset for a certain period of time in
exchange for compensation. The Group reassesses whether the lease or a portion thereof is a lease
agreement only if the terms of the lease are revised. If the lease contract or a part of it is a lease, the Group
accounts for each lease component as a lease separately from the non-leased components of the agreement.
The Group as a lessee
The right-of-use assets
The Group recognizes right-of-use assets at lease commencement date (i.e., the date when the underlying
asset becomes available for use). Right-of-use assets are valued at cost, less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, with adjustments for revaluation of the lease liability. The historical cost of a
right-of-use asset includes the amount of the lease obligation recognized, the original direct costs incurred and
the lease payments incurred on or before the lease commencement date, less the incentive lease payments
received. If the Group does not have sufficient confidence that it will acquire ownership of the leased asset at
the end of the lease term, the recognized asset under the lease right is depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the following periods – useful life period and lease period.. Right-of-use assets are assessed
for impairment. The requirements for recognition of impairment of a right-of-use asset are similar to those
applicable to own fixed assets. The Group includes right-of-use assets other than those that meet the definition
of investment property in the item “Fixed assets and intangible assets” of the consolidated statement of
financial position (Note 18).
Lease liabilities
At the lease commencement date, the Group recognizes the lease obligations measured at the present value
of the lease payments that will be made during the lease term. Lease payments include fixed payments
(including in substance fixed payments) less any incentive lease payments, variable lease payments subject
to index or rate, and amounts expected to be paid under liquidation value guarantees. Lease payments also
include the exercise price of the call option if there is reasonable assurance that the Group will exercise that
option and the termination penalties if the term of the lease reflects the Group's potential exercise of the option
to terminate the lease. Variable lease payments subject to index or rate are recognized as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that gives rise to such payments occurs.
28

Translation form Ukrainian original

JOINT STOCK COMPANY “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”
(former Public Joint Stock Company “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
(in thousands of UAH)
To calculate the present value of lease payments, the Group uses an additional borrowing rate at the effective
date of the lease, if the interest rate stipulated in the lease cannot be easily determined. After the lease
commencement date, the amount of the lease liability increases to reflect the interest charge and decreases
to reflect the lease payments made. The Group includes the lease obligations under the item "Other liabilities"
in a consolidated statement of financial position (Note 24).
After the lease commencement date, the Group discloses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income:
•

depreciation of right-of-use assets - under “Operating expenses” (Note 9);

•

Interest on lease liabilities – under “Other interest expenses” (Note 5);

•

variable lease payments not included in the measurement of the lease liability, − in the period when events
or conditions that led to their accrual occurred − under “Operating expenses” (Note 9).

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).
It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of ATMs and terminals, office
equipment that are considered of low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Significant judgement in determining the lease term of contracts with renewal options

The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods
covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by
an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.
The Group has the option, under some of its leases to lease the assets for additional terms of three to
five years. The Group applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the option
to renew. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the
renewal. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or
change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise (or not to exercise) the option
to renew (e.g., a change in business strategy).
The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods
covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by
an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.At that, the Group takes into
account all relevant facts and conditions, that give rise to economic incentive to the Group to exercise the
option to extend the lease or not to exercise the option to terminate the lease. If conditions have changed
during the lease term, the Group reassesses the lease term.
Effect of transition to IFRS 16 under leases in which the Group is a lessee
The Group has implemented IFRS 16 since 1 January 2019, using a modified retrospective approach. In
accordance with this method, the standard is applied retrospectively to the recognition of the cumulative effect
of its original use at the date of initial application.
The Group elected to use the transition practical expedient allowing the standard to be applied only to
contracts that were previously identified as leases applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 at the date of initial application.
The Group also elected to use the recognition exemptions for lease contracts that, at the commencement date,
have a lease term of 12 months or less and do not contain a purchase option (‘short-term leases’), and lease
contracts for which the underlying asset is of low value (‘low-value assets’).
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Reconciliation of the carrying amount under IAS 17 with balances that are recognized in IFRS 16 as of
1 January 2019:
Amount before
transition to
IFRS 16
Assets
Property, equipment and intangible assets
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

8,953,669
2,068,186

Effect of
transition to
IFRS 16
459,744
(8,544)

217,786,209

1,028,665
199,224,540

Amount after
transition to
IFRS 16
9,413,413
2,059,642
218,237,409

451,200

1,479,865
199,675,740

The Group has lease contracts for various items of property and equipment. Before the adoption of IFRS 16,
the Group classified each of its leases (as lessee) at the inception date as either a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease was classified as a finance lease if it transferred substantially all of the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of the leased asset to the Group; otherwise it was classified as an operating
lease. In an operating lease, the leased property was not capitalised and the lease payments were recognised
as rent expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Any prepaid rent and accrued rent
were recognised under Other assets and Other liabilities, respectively.
Upon adoption of IFRS 16, the Group applied a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases,
except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The standard provides specific transition
requirements and practical expedients, which has been applied by the Group.
Leases previously accounted for as operating leases in accordance with IAS 17, under which the Group is
classified as a lessee.
Under leases previously recognized as operating leases in accordance with IAS 17, the Group as of
1 January 2019:
•

recognised lease liabilities based on the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using
the incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application of IFRS 16;

•

recognized the right-of-use assets in amount of the lease obligation, increased by the amount of the
previous lease payments and lease expenses, and reduced by the amount of the lease incentive payments
received;

•

used the assessment of whether leases are onerous in accordance with the requirements of IAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, conducted immediately before the date of first
application of IFRS 16 as an alternative to a test for impairment of right-of-use assets.

The Group applied the available practical expedients and did not recognize on the balance sheet the right-ofuse assets for the short-term lease (agreements in which the lease term does not exceed 12 months at the
lease commencement date and which do not contain a purchase option) and leases for which the underlying
asset has a low value. The Group defines the lease payments under such contracts on a straight-line basis
over the lease term or on a systematic basis, if the latter more closely reflects the Group's model of obtaining
benefits from the use of the leased asset.
The weighted average rate of additional borrowings of the lessee as of 1 January 2019 was 19% for
agreements denominated in Ukrainian hryvnia on the date of payment under agreement terms.
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The following is a reconciliation between the amount of contingent liabilities under operating leases disclosed
under IAS 17 as of 31 December 2018, and the amount of lease commitments as of 1 January 2019:
Operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018, disclosed in the financial
statements for 2018
Recognition exceptions:
- short-term leases
- leases of low-value assets
- other leases for which lease obligations and rights-of-use assets are not recognized*
Effect of discounting at additional borrowing rate as of 1 January 2019
Payments in optional extension periods that are reasonably certain to be used
Lease liabilities recognized as of 1 January 2019
*

674,437
(19,569)
(20,878)
(158,395)
(129,591)
105,196
451,200

The list includes: lease agreements with variable payments, agreements, which are regulated by regulatory acts of the authorities;
leases of properties that are unidentified or uncontrolled by lessor; free-of-charge lease agreements; lease agreements for objects
located in the occupied territories.

Variable payments under lease agreements for which no lease obligations were recognized on the date of
transition, as of 31 December 2019 amounted to UAH 85,445 thousand.
As of the date of first application of IFRS 16, the Group does not have any lease agreements that are
appropriate for classification and subsequent accounting in accordance with the requirements of
IAS 40 Investment Property.
The Group as a lessor
The accounting for the lessor in accordance with IFRS 16 remains virtually unchanged compared to IAS 17.
Lessors continue to classify leases using the same principles as in IAS 17, while separating two types of
leases: operating and financial. Thus, the application of IFRS 16 had no effect on the accounting for leases in
which the Group is the lessor.
Other standards
The following new or amended standards and interpretations had no significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements:
•

Interpretation of IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments;

•

Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation;

•

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (amendments to IAS 28);

•

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (amendments to IAS 19);

•

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle – various standards;

•

Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards.

New and revised standards that have been published but not yet effective
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts is a new financial reporting standard for insurance contracts that addresses the
recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure of information. Effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023, but early adoption is permitted.
Amendments to IFRS 3: Definition of a Business is applicable for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2020, but early adoption is permitted.
The amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 are intended to facilitate the understanding of the definition of materiality
in IAS 1, but are not intended to change the basic concept of materiality in the standards. The definition of
materiality in IAS 8 has been replaced by a reference to IAS 1.
Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 Base Interest Rate Reform. Effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2020, but early adoption is permitted.
The Group did not early adopt these new and revised standards. The Group expects that the adoption of these
standards and amendments will not have a material impact on the Group's performance and financial position.
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5.

NET INTEREST INCOME
Net interest income is presented as follows:
For the year
ended
31 December
2019

For the year
ended
31 December
2018

Interest income, calculated using effective interest method
comprises:
Interest income on financial assets measured at amortised cost
interest on loans to customers
interest on investments
interest on due from banks
other interest income

8,866,199
2,817,998
217,542
7,067

9,625,781
968,552
173,946
6,281

Interest income on financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income
interest on investments

3,533,805

5,915,196

984,855
2,638,300
19,065,766

119,501
2,542,159
19,351,416

Interest expense comprises:
Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised
cost
interest on customer accounts
interest on Eurobonds issued (Note 22)
interest on other borrowed funds (Note 23)
interest on subordinated debt (Note 25)
interest on due to banks
other interest expense

(11,016,008)
(1,967,068)
(264,111)
(245,793)
−
(36)

(10,318,026)
(2,879,165)
(327,860)
(246,989)
(124,034)
(4)

Other interest expense
Interest on lease liabilities
Total interest expense

(74,201)
(13,567,217)

−
(13,896,078)

5,498,549

5,455,338

Interest income on financial assets measured at fair value
through profit or loss
interest on loans to customers
interest on investments
Total interest income, calculated using effective interest method

Net interest income
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6.

ALLOWANCE FOR EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES OF INTEREST BEARING ASSETS, OTHER
PROVISIONS
Movements in allowances for expected credit losses on interest bearing assets are presented as follows:
Due from
banks

Loans to legal
entities

Loans to
individuals

Investments

Total

1 January 2018
Accrual/(release) of
allowance for expected
credit losses
Accrual/(release) of
allowance upon
modification
Adjustment of interest
income
Write-off of assets
Recovery of assets
previously written off
Reclassification of
allowance as the result of
restructuring of asset
Sale of asset
Foreign exchange
differences

4,614,079

64,153,875

3,389,845

2,603,553

74,761,352

55,631

(88,277)

187,605

(1,330,115)

(1,175,156)

−

(2,283,878)

1,541

63,178

(2,219,159)

−
−

4,336,450
(11,035)

18,493
(26,748)

−
(1,296)

4,354,943
(39,079)

−

8

−

−

8

−
−

(4,844,744)
−

−
−

(151,284)
−

(4,996,028)
−

(67,470)

(1,153,324)

(38,446)

−

(1,259,240)

31 December 2018

4,602,240

60,109,075

3,532,290

1,184,036

69,427,641

(44,458)

858,392

4,690

(947,692)

(129,068)

−

45,541

1,202

(310)

46,433

−
−

3,207,733
(7,388)

55,486
(22,199)

−
(100)

3,263,219
(29,687)

−

−

3

−

3

Accrual/(release) of
allowance for expected
credit losses
Accrual/(release) of
allowance upon
modification
Adjustment of interest
income
Write-off of assets
Recovery of assets
previously written off
Reclassification of
allowance as the result of
restructuring of asset
Sale of asset
Foreign exchange
differences

−
−

(2,080,068)
−

−
−

−
(141)

(2,080,068)
(141)

(531,758)

(7,970,856)

(253,861)

(35,401)

(8,791,876)

31 December 2019

4,026,024

54,162,429

3,317,611

200,392

61,706,456
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Movements in allowances for expected credit losses on other operations were presented as follows:
Other
financial assets

Guarantees
and other
commitments

Total

1 January 2018
Accrual of allowance
Write-off of assets
Foreign exchange differences

3,001,008
17,995
(32)
(4,446)

161,023
150,167
−
(95)

3,162,031
168,162
(32)
(4,541)

31 December 2018

3,014,525

311,095

3,325,620

Accrual of allowance
Write-off of assets
Reclassification of allowance as the result of
asset restructuring
Foreign exchange differences

(331,537)
(13)

248,576
−

(82,961)
(13)

(724,483)
(35,502)

−
(32,974)

(724,483)
(68,476)

31 December 2019

1,922,990

526,697

2,449,687

Movements in allowances for impairment losses on other operations were presented as follows:
Other
non-financial
assets

7.

1 January 2018
Accrual of allowance

99,106
38,708

31 December 2018

137,814

Accrual of allowance

41,660

31 December 2019

179,474

FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME AND EXPENSE
Fee and commission income and expense are presented as follows:
For the year
ended
31 December
2019

For the year
ended
31 December
2018

Commission income
Plastic card transactions
Cash and settlement transactions
Foreign currency transactions
Off-balance sheet transactions
Transactions with securities
Other

3,515,155
2,546,125
131,162
54,671
2,999
188,595

2,592,504
2,309,893
130,540
68,728
2,119
132,572

Total fee and commission income

6,438,707

5,236,356

Fee and commission expense
Plastic card transactions
Cash and settlement transactions
Foreign currency transactions
Dealing with securities
Other

(2,119,131)
(80,831)
(14,836)
(4,782)
(16,122)

(1,632,707)
(89,924)
(16,080)
(5,111)
(27,514)

Total fee and commission expense

(2,235,702)

(1,771,336)
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8.

NET GAIN ON FOREIGN EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS
Net gain on foreign exchange transactions includes the following:
For the year
ended
31 December
2019

9.

For the year
ended
31 December
2018

Translation differences, net
Dealing in foreign currencies, net

3,255,760
199,217

831,610
33,318

Total net gain on foreign exchange transactions

3,454,977

864,928

OPERATING EXPENSES
Operating expenses are presented as follows:
For the year
ended
31 December
2019

For the year
ended
31 December
2018

Salary and bonuses
Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets and intangible assets
(Note 18)
Property and equipment maintenance
Salary related expenses
Communication services
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 18)
Utilities
Taxes other than income tax
Office maintenance
Professional services
Security
Advertising costs
Leases
Travel expenses
Insurance
Other expenses

4,529,645

3,994,285

1,307,689
1,110,896
961,108
406,098
187,867
168,720
127,224
117,005
106,231
63,675
59,000
45,704
27,254
19,130
583,812

1,135,487
932,505
850,634
349,687
−
203,121
89,079
117,042
43,337
51,636
43,670
359,758
25,126
42,598
329,859

Total operating expenses

9,821,058

8,567,824
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10.

NET LOSS ON TRANSACTIONS WITH FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT
OR LOSS
Net loss on transactions with financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss is presented as follows:
For the year
ended
31 December
2019
Trading transactions, net
- derivative financial instruments
Change in fair value:
- loans to customers
- investments
Total net loss on transactions with financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss

11.

For the year
ended
31 December
2018

74

(22,727)

(725,125)
(2,924,345)

(96,725)
(2,291,371)

(3,649,396)

(2,410,823)

INCOME TAX
The Bank and the consolidated entities are separated income taxpayers.
The Bank assesses income tax by multiplying the tax rate by the object of taxation, which is determined by
adjusting (increasing or decreasing) the pre-tax financial result (profit or loss), determined in the financial
statements of the Bank in accordance with international financial reporting standards, by the differences which
occur in accordance with the current Ukrainian tax legislation. Amount of differences are determined based on
the data of separated tax accounting.
The income tax rate applicable to the majority of the Bank’s 2019 income is 18% (2018: 18%). The income tax
rate applicable to the special purpose entitiy 2019 income is 19% (2018: 19%).
Deferred taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes. The tax effect of the
movements in these temporary differences in 2019 is presented below:

1 January
2019

Credited/
(charged) to
profit or loss

Credited/
(charged) to
other
comprehensive
income

31 December
2019

Tax effect of deductible temporary differences
Other liabilities
Property, equipment and intangible assets
Other assets
Debt securities
Tax losses carried forward
Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax asset not recognised
Net deferred tax assets

55,998
1
24,807
118,495
4,249,521
4,448,822
(4,574,846)
(126,024)

38,808
(1)
17,185
(26)
403,970
459,936
58,121
518,057

−
−
−
(114,676)
−
(114,676)
−
(114,676)

94,806
−
41,992
3,793
4,653,491
4,794,082
(4,516,725)
277,357

Tax effect of taxable temporary differences
Allowance for expected credit losses on the loans
to customers
Other assets
Debt securities
Property, equipment and intangible assets
Total deferred tax liabilities

487,620
(130,137)
−
(361,595)
(4,112)

(525,825)
−
−
8,742
(517,083)

−
−
(126,011)
55
(125,956)

(38,205)
(130,137)
(126,011)
(352,798)
(647,151)

Net recognised deferred tax liabilities

(130,136)

974

(240,632)

(369,794)
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The tax effect of the movements in these temporary differences in 2018 is presented below:

1 January
2018
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences
Allowance for impairment of loans to customers
Other liabilities
Property, equipment and intangible assets
Other assets
Debt securities
Tax losses carried forward

Credited/
(charged) to
profit or loss

Credited/
(charged) to
other
comprehensive
income

31 December
2018

1,042,298
12,962
1
17,785
−
3,780,518

(554,678)
43,036
−
7,022
3,819
469,003

−
−
−
−
114,676
−

487,620
55,998
1
24,807
118,495
4,249,521

4,853,564
(4,724,844)

(31,798)
149 998

114,676
−

4,936,442
(4,574,846)

128,720

118,200

114,676

361,596

Tax effect of taxable temporary differences
Other assets
Debt securities
Property, equipment and intangible assets
Total deferred tax liabilities

(130,137)
(159,246)
(372,905)
(662,288)

−
−
11,268
11,268

−
159,246
42
159,288

(130,137)
−
(361,595)
(491,732)

Net recognised deferred tax liabilities

(533,568)

129,468

273,964

(130,136)

Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax asset not recognised
Net deferred tax assets

The Tax Code of Ukraine, as amended at the time of preparation of the financial statements, does not have
any restrictions on the timing of the transfer of tax losses of previous years to reduce the object of income tax
in subsequent reporting periods.
The deferred income tax assets as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 were measured based on the tax rates
expected to be applied to the periods when the temporary differences are expected to be utilized.
As at 31 December 2019, deferred tax assets in the amount of UAH 4,516,725 thousand (31 December 2018:
UAH 4,574,846 thousand) were not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position as the Bank’s
management believes that the probability that these deferred tax assets will be utilized in the future is low.
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Reconciliation of income tax expenses and accounting profit based on the consolidated financial statements
is explained as follows:
For the year
ended
31 December
2019
Profit before tax
Statutory tax rate

For the year
ended
31 December
2018

254,118
18%

31,824
18%

45,741

5,729

26
7,939
(58,121)
3,459

256
6,148
(149 998)
8,483

Income tax benefit

(956)

(129,382)

Current income tax expense
Recovery of deferred income tax

13
(969)

86
(129,468)

Income tax benefit

(956)

(129,382)

Tax at the statutory tax rate
Effect of the tax rate that differs from 18% (special purpose entity in
another jurisdiction)
Effect of non-deductible expenses
Change in deferred tax assets not recognised
Other adjustments

Movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are presented
as follows:
For the year
ended
31 December
2019
At the beginning of the period

12.

For the year
ended
31 December
2018

(130,136)

(533,568)

Change in deferred income tax liabilities recognised in profit or loss
Tax effect of property revaluation reserve change
Tax effect on revaluation reserve of securities measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income

974
55

129,468
42

(240,687)

273,922

At the end of the period

(369,794)

(130,136)

EARNINGS PER SHARE
For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, the earnings per shares are not disclosed
whereas 100% of the shares belong to the state.

13.

CASH AND BALANCES WITH THE NATIONAL BANK OF UKRAINE
31 December
2019

31 December
2018

Balances with the National Bank of Ukraine
Cash on hand

29,314,608
7,377,787

4,932,824
5,667,991

Total cash and balances with the National Bank of Ukraine

36,692,395

10,600,815

Balances with the NBU represent funds placed with the NBU to secure daily settlements and other operations.
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Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows are presented as
follows:
31 December
2019
Cash and balances with the National Bank of Ukraine
Due from banks (Note 14)

Less: guarantee deposits
Less: other amounts due from banks which do not qualify as cash and
cash equivalents
Total cash and cash equivalents

14.

31 December
2018

36,692,395
20,223,301

10,600,815
10,965,932

56,915,696

21,566,747

(44,880)

(53,780)

(67,703)

(49,553)

56,803,113

21,463,414

DUE FROM BANKS
Due from banks comprises:
31 December
2019
Correspondent accounts
Loans and term deposits

31 December
2018

23,995,991
253,334

15,213,384
354,788

24,249,325

15,568,172

Less: allowance for expected credit losses

(4,026,024)

(4,602,240)

Total due from banks

20,223,301

10,965,932

Movements in allowance for expected credit losses on balances due from banks for the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018 are disclosed in Notes 6, 32.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the maximum credit risk exposure on due from banks amounted to
UAH 20,223,301 thousand and UAH 10,965,932 thousand, respectively.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, due from banks included guarantee deposits placed by the Group for
its operations with plastic cards and letters of credit in the amount of UAH 44,880 thousand and
UAH 53,780 thousand, respectively.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Bank had placements with two banks in the amount of
UAH 11,643,249 thousand (48.01%) and UAH 11,490,933 thousand (73.81%) respectively, which represents
a significant concentration.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, funds placed with seven banks, with gross carrying value of UAH 3,980,437
thousand and UAH 4,577,228 thousand, respectively, which accounted for 100% of the allowance for expected
credit losses, were not included in the amount of cash and cash equivalents.
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15.

LOANS TO CUSTOMERS
31 December
2019

31 December
2018

Loans measured at amortised cost
Loans measured at fair value through profit or loss (Note 29)

62,318,412
2,849,932

63,991,811
3,551,365

Total loans to customers

65,168,344

67,543,176

31 December
2019
Loans measured at amortised cost
Loans to legal entities
Loans to individuals
Allowance for expected credit losses
Total loans measured at amortised cost

31 December
2018

108,916,463
10,881,989
(57,480,040)

118,689,071
8,944,105
(63,641,365)

62,318,412

63,991,811

31 December
2019

31 December
2018

Loans measured at fair value through profit or loss
loans to legal entities

2,849,932

3,551,365

Total loans measured at fair value through profit or loss

2,849,932

3,551,365

Movements in the allowance for expected credit losses for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are
disclosed in Note 6, 32.
The table below represents the structure of the Group’s borrowers as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 by
economic sectors:
31 December
2019
Analysis by sector
Energy
Construction and real estate
Oil, gas and chemical production
Food and beverage manufacturing and processing
Individuals
Trade
Mining and metallurgy
Agriculture
Engineering
Municipal authorities
Industrial and consumer goods manufacturing
Transport
Road construction and maintenance
Services
Media and communications
Financial services
Press and publishing
Other

Less: allowance for expected credit losses
Total loans to customers
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31 December
2018

39,254,829
19,369,732
16,410,402
15,815,768
10,881,989
6,568,620
3,781,515
3,589,413
2,136,894
1,578,192
1,177,050
887,547
624,248
355,912
126,244
34,211
25,085
30,733

40,524,798
21,607,706
19,921,161
19,616,543
8,944,105
7,443,215
4,673,952
3,707,657
1,508,236
202,651
832,679
1,160,718
603,064
290,653
7,330
99,495
25,317
15,261

122,648,384

131,184,541

(57,480,040)

(63,641,365)

65,168,344

67,543,176
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The Group obtained real estate property and other assets by taking possession of collateral. As at
31 December 2019 and 2018, such assets in the amount of UAH 1,413,950 thousand and
UAH 955,585 thousand, respectively, were included in other assets (Note 19).
Loans to individuals are presented by the following products:
31 December
2019
Payment card loans
Car loans
Mortgage loans
Consumer loans secured by real estate and guarantees
Other consumer loans

Less: allowance for impairment losses
Total loans to individuals

31 December
2018

4,100,037
2,287,008
1,803,507
1,556,912
1,134,525

3,338,155
1,316,830
1,716,534
1,685,499
887,087

10,881,989

8,944,105

(3,317,611)

(3,532,290)

7,564,378

5,411,815

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the maximum credit risk exposure on loans to customers amounted to
UAH 65,168,344 thousand and UAH 67,543,176 thousand, respectively.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the maximum credit risk exposure on contingent liabilities and credit
commitments extended by the Group to its customers amounted to UAH 11,750,712 thousand and
UAH 8,359,473 thousand, respectively.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, loans with gross carrying amount of UAH 55,784,116 thousand (45%) and
UAH 60,854,789 thousand (46%) respectively, were granted to ten borrowers, which represents a significant
concentration.
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16.

INVESTMENTS

At fair value
through profit
or loss
Ukrainian government debt securities
Short-term Ukrainian government debt securities
Medium-term Ukrainian government debt securities
Long-term Ukrainian government debt securities
Ukrainian government debt securities for settlement of
budget debt on value added tax

Other
Debt commitments of the NBU
Bonds issued by corporate entities
Bonds issued by local government authorities
Bonds issued by State Mortgage Institution

Allowance for expected credit losses
Total debt securities
Equity securities:
Corporate shares
Total equity securities
Total investments

31 December 2019
At fair value
through other
comprehensive
income

At amortised
cost

At fair value
through profit
or loss

31 December 2018
At fair value
through other
comprehensive
income

At amortised
cost

−
−
38,578,398

11,151,736
17,210,707
3,796,465

2,687,355
16,243,084
5,758,254

−
−
40,736,819

26,458,343
20,598,432
3,406,344

5,395,381
7,059,289
5,752,569

−
38,578,398

−
32,158,908

−
24,688,693

−
40,736,819

98,245
50,561,364

−
18,207,239

−
−
−
−
−

4,508,307
695,538
452,995
−
5,656,840

11,514,480
153,456
−
516,538
12,184,474

−
−
−
855,113
855,113

−
1,640,766
420,090
−
2,060,856

4,505,918
−
−
−
4,505,918

−
38,578,398

−
37,815,748

(63,656)
36,809,511

−
41,591,932

−
52,622,220

(370,641)
22,342,516

−
−

412,526
412,526

−
−

−
−

33,570
33,570

−
−

38,578,398

38,228,274

36,809,511

41,591,932

52,655,790

22,342,516
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Movements in the allowance for expected credit losses for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are
disclosed in Notes 6, 32.
As at 31 December 2019, in compliance with the terms of the agreement on storage of cash of the National
Bank, Ukrainian state debt securities with carrying amount of UAH 9,341,196 thousand were pledged as
collateral, namely: state bonds at amortized cost with carrying amount of UAH 1,372,807 thousand; state
bonds at fair value through profit or loss with carrying amount of UAH 7,968,389 thousand. As at
31 December 2018, Ukrainian state debt securities, which are measured at fair value through profit or loss
with carrying amount of UAH 4,935,840 thousand, were pledged under the same agreement.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, state debt securities at fair value through profit or loss with carrying amount
of UAH 378,601 thousand and UAH 407,511 thousand respectively were used as collateral for loans received
from the German-Ukrainian Foundation (Note 23).
Under the terms of the general loan agreement concluded with the NBU, the Group pledged Ukrainian state debt
securities. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the value of the transferred assets comprised
UAH 10,153,684 thousand and UAH 9,594,949 thousand, respectively. In particular, securities measured at
amortised cost of UAH 4,777,921 thousand (31 December 2018: UAH 4,703,519 thousand) and securities at fair
value through other comprehensive income of UAH 5,375,762 thousand (31 December 2018:
UAH 4,891,430 thousand) were pledged.
Company shares are investments in equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income, which are represented mainly by shares of Visa and Mastercard payment systems. The Group
considers these shares to be a strategic investment and has no plans to trade them. As at 31 December 2019
the fair value of shares of Visa and Mastercard payment systems amounted to UAH 390,122 thousand. During
2019 and 2018, the Group received UAH 2,048 thousand and UAH 1,839 thousand of dividends, respectively.

17.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY
As at 31 December 2019, the Group recognised assets within investment property in amount of
UAH 809,070 thousand (31 December 2018: UAH 796,869 thousand), that were foreclosed on the Group’s
balance sheet during the procedure of financial restructuring of funds due from a borrower under the Law of
Ukraine On Financial Restructuring and was revalued by independent appraiser using the income method.
Based on the Restructuring Plan made up by the Group and the borrower, the assets were transferred for
operating lease to the borrower. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the income from operating lease
comprised UAH 47,179 thousand and UAH 41,566 thousand, respectively.
Undiscounted cash flows for the operation lease agreements are presented below:
31 December 2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024

49,113
49,113
49,113
49,113
49,113

Total

245,565
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18.

PROPERTY, EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Property, equipment and intangible assets are presented as follows:
31 December
2019

31 December
2018

Property, equipment and intangible assets
Right-of-use assets

9,503,288
444,813

8,953,669
−

Total of property, equipment and intangible assets

9,948,101

8,953,669

Buildings

Leasehold
improvements

Furniture and
office
equipment

Vehicles

Construction
in progress

Intangible
assets

Total

At cost/revalued amount
1 January 2019
Additions
Transfers
Disposals

3,279,372
4,047
114,535
(20,620)

356,507
−
74,274
(23,837)

6,278,813
1,278,848
208,984
(63,948)

912,065
3,078
−
(9,275)

1,124,429
194,330
(568,658)
(366)

1,315,285
398,883
170,865
(1,150)

13,266,471
1,879,186
−
(119,196)

31 December 2019

3,377,334

406,944

7,702,697

905,868

749,735

1,883,883

15,026,461

Accumulated depreciation and amortization
1 January 2019
Charges for the year
Written off on disposal

222,784
61,768
(1,247)

244,892
69,425
(23,535)

2,815,641
947,972
(62,031)

512,400
63,869
(9,355)

−
−
−

517,085
164,655
(1,150)

4,312,802
1,307,689
(97,318)

31 December 2019

283,305

290,782

3,701,582

566,914

−

680,590

5,523,173

Net carrying value
31 December 2019

3,094,029

116,162

4,001,115

338,954

749,735

1,203,293

9,503,288

1 January 2019

3,056,588

111,615

3,463,172

399,665

1,124,429

798,200

8,953,669
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Buildings

Leasehold
improvements

Furniture and
office
equipment

Vehicles

Construction
in progress

Intangible
assets

Total

At cost/revalued amount
1 January 2018
Additions
Transfers
Disposals

3,112,140
105,644
62,126
(538)

307,193
15
55,313
(6,014)

4,931,451
1,360,104
68,298
(81,040)

912,922
2,413
−
(3,270)

757,152
694,704
(322,799)
(4,628)

864,581
337,725
137,062
(24,083)

10,885,439
2,500,605
−
(119,573)

31 December 2018

3,279,372

356,507

6,278,813

912,065

1,124,429

1,315,285

13,266,471

Accumulated depreciation and amortization
1 January 2018
Charges for the year
Written off on disposal

162,336
60,580
(132)

172,028
78,773
(5,909)

2,091,732
803,176
(79,267)

442,144
74,083
(3,827)

−
−
−

402,446
118,875
(4,236)

3,270,686
1,135,487
(93,371)

31 December 2018

222,784

244,892

2,815,641

512,400

−

517,085

4,312,802

Net carrying value
31 December 2018

3,056,588

111,615

3,463,172

399,665

1,124,429

798,200

8,953,669

1 January 2018

2,949,804

135,165

2,839,719

470,778

757,152

462,135

7,614,753

45

Translation from Ukrainian original

JOINT STOCK COMPANY “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”
(former Public Joint Stock Company “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
(in thousands of UAH)

As at 31 December 2016, the buildings and office premises owned by the Group were revalued to market
value by an independent appraiser. Sales comparison method was used to determine the fair value of the
buildings and office premises. For items with no market data, income capitalization method was applied.
Had the buildings been accounted for at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
their carrying value would be UAH 1,301,402 thousand and UAH 1,210,830 thousand as at 31 December 2019
and 2018, respectively.
Certain buildings not yet put into operation are included in the construction in progress category. The carrying
amounts of this buildings as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 were UAH 25,271 thousand and
UAH 35,709 thousand, respectively.
Intangible assets are mainly comprised of the software licenses.
Movements of right-of-use assets for the year ended 31 December 2019 are presented as follows:
Buildings
Value
1 January 2019 according to IFRS 16
Additions and changes in contract terms

459,744
221,888

31 December 2019

681,632

Accumulated depreciation
1 January 2019 according to IFRS 16
Depreciation
Changes in contract terms

−
187,867
48,952

31 December 2019

236,819

Residual value as at
1 January 2019 according to IFRS 16

459,744

31 December 2019

444,813

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recognized expenses under short-term leases and leases
with low value underlying asset in the amount of UAH 45,322 thousand.
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19.

OTHER ASSETS
Other assets comprise:
31 December
2019
Other financial assets
Accounts receivable for securities settlements
Accounts receivable for transactions with other financial instruments
Income accrued
Settlements with money transfer systems
Other receivables

Less: allowance for expected credit losses

Other non-financial assets
Collateral repossessed by the Group
Prepayments for purchase of assets
Deferred expenses
Inventories
Receivables from employees and third parties
Prepaid services
Precious metals
Receivables on taxes and obligatory payments
Prepaid precious metals
Non-current assets held-for-sale
Other

Less: allowance for impairment losses

Total other assets

31 December
2018

1,642,422
212,922
202,846
52,557
5,750

2,679,242
249,395
190,406
81,631
3,763

2,116,497

3,204,437

(1,922,990)

(3,014,525)

193,507

189 912

1,413,950
428,624
249,041
150,892
82,750
40,528
31,247
5,320
667
−
43

955,585
378,568
131,261
171,585
83,437
65,620
33,712
13,735
3,262
179,285
38

2,403,062

2,016,088

(179,474)

(137,814)

2,223,588

1,878,274

2,417,095

2,068,186

Movements in allowance for other assets for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are disclosed in
Note 6, 32.
Accounts receivable for securities settlements as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are represented by the
principal outstanding at the time of repayment, the interest accrued on corporate bonds and the value of the
corporate bonds unpaid by the counterparty under securities purchase and sale agreement. After transferring
the bonds and not receiving any payments, respective amounts due were recognised as accounts receivable
for securities and reclassified from investments to other assets. Allowance for accounts receivable for
securities settlements as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 was recognized for the amount of respective gross
carrying amount.
Accounts receivable for transactions with other financial instruments include impaired receivables under letters
of credit issued by the Group.
Precious metals are represented by gold and silver in vault.
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20.

DUE TO BANKS
Due to banks comprises:
31 December
2019

21.

31 December
2018

Correspondent accounts of other banks

58,040

54,074

Total due to banks

58,040

54,074

CUSTOMER ACCOUNTS
Customer accounts comprise:
31 December
2019

31 December
2018

Demand accounts
Term deposits

109,372,312
92,770,622

67,114,507
86,901,940

Total customer accounts

202,142,934

154,016,447

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, total balances on accounts of top ten customers amounted to
UAH 60,085,667 thousand and UAH 28,023,949 thousand, which represented 30% and 18% of total customer
balances, respectively. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, total balance on accounts of one largest customer
comprised 22% and 10% of total balances on customers’ accounts, respectively.
The table below represents customer accounts’ structure as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 by industry
sectors:
31 December
2019

31 December
2018

Analysis by sector of economy:
Individuals
Oil, gas and chemical production
State authorities and local governments
Energy
Agriculture
Services
Trade
Financial services
Transport
Construction and real estate
Media and communications
Mining and metallurgy
Engineering
Industrial and consumer goods manufacturing
Food and beverage manufacturing and processing
Press and publishing
Other

106,906,881
44,929,250
12,383,699
6,600,394
5,071,934
4,544,148
4,479,009
3,448,374
2,625,473
2,219,779
2,218,724
1,709,292
1,072,874
979,012
723,854
100,660
2,129,577

95,557,361
6,778,589
15,293,888
6,038,121
4,970,426
4,182,812
5,192,493
3,245,468
2,449,479
1,805,813
2,785,345
1,169,234
1,059,840
716,206
659,240
68,858
2,043,274

Total customer accounts

202,142,934

154,016,447
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As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, included in customer accounts are deposits in the amount of
UAH 472,087 thousand and UAH 134,351 thousand, respectively, that are held as a collateral for financial
guarantees issued and other commitments (Note 27).
22.

EUROBONDS ISSUED
Eurobonds issued are presented as follows:

Date of the loan issue
March and July 2011
March 2013

Maturity
March 2020 –
March 2023
March 2020 –
March 2025

Coupon
rate p.a., %

Carrying value,
31 December
2019

Carrying value,
31 December
2018

9.375%

6,053,292

20,113,455

9.625%

12,250,585

14,383,239

18,303,877

34,496,694

Changes during 2019 and 2018 within the Eurobonds issued are presented as follows:
For the year
ended
31 December
2019
Balance as at 1 January
Repayment on Eurobonds
Effect of changes in the foreign exchange rates
Interest expense (Note 5)
Interest paid
Balance as at 31 December

For the year
ended
31 December
2018

34,496,694

35,200,814

(12,126,070)
(3,577,500)
1,967,068
(2,456,315)

−
(459,744)
2,879,165
(3,123,541)

18,303,877

34,496,694

In March 2011, the Bank received a loan from SSB No.1 Plc in the amount of USD 500 million at the interest
rate of 8.250% p.a. maturing in 2016. The loan was funded by SSB No.1 Plc through the issue of Eurobonds
in the form of 5-year loan participation notes with the nominal value of USD 500 million and fixed coupon rate
of 8.250% p.a. In July 2011, SSB No.1 granted the Bank with a loan in the amount of USD 200 million at the
interest rate of 8.250% p.a. with maturity in 2016, which was funded by an additional issue of Eurobonds with
the nominal value of USD 200 million that were consolidated into a single series of loan participation notes for
the total amount of USD 700 million with maturity in 2016. The Eurobonds are listed on the Irish Stock
Exchange.
In March 2013, the Bank received a loan from SSB No.1 Plc in the amount of USD 500 million at the interest
rate of 8.875% p.a. with maturity in 2018. The loan was funded by SSB No.1 Plc through the issue of
Eurobonds in the form of 5-year loan participation notes with the nominal value of USD 500 million and fixed
coupon rate of 8.875% p.a. The Eurobonds are listed on the Irish Stock Exchange.
Subsequent to 31 December 2017, the Irish Stock Exchange was merged with Euronext and changed its name
to Euronext Dublin.
In 2015, the Group has amended the terms of Eurobonds issued as follows:
•

Reprofiling of Eurobonds with maturity in 2016 provides an increase in the coupon rate to 9.375% and
extension of the maturity schedule from 10 March 2019 to 10 March 2023;

•

Reprofiling of Eurobonds with maturity in 2018 provides an increase in the coupon rate to 9.625% and
extension of the maturity schedule from 20 March 2020 to 20 March 2025.
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At the date of reprofiling, the Group analysed the discounted present values of the future cash outflows under
the new terms of the Eurobonds and concluded that the modification in the terms of the debt was not
substantial. Accordingly, the Group continued recognising the old financial instrument.
The Bank is obliged to comply with certain covenants specified in the loan agreement with SSB No.1 Plc in
relation to the Eurobonds issued. Other liabilities include: requirement to submit financial statements according
to the schedule stated below, restriction to declare or pay dividends or make other distributions if this may lead
to delays in repayment of the Eurobonds or if such distributions, in aggregate, exceed 30% of net profits of the
Group for the relevant period (calculated in accordance with the laws of Ukraine), certain limitations on
transactions with related parties, etc.
In accordance with the terms of the loan agreements, the Group is required to submit the following financial
statements:
•

Audited annual financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS within 180 days from the reporting
date;

•

Unaudited interim IFRS financial statements for the six months ending 30 June within 120 days from the
reporting date.

SSB No.1 plc has the right to enforce obligations of the Bank regarding compliance with the covenants.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018 there were no breaches of the covenants.

23.

OTHER BORROWED FUNDS

Currency
Borrowings from the European
Investment Bank

USD

Loans from the European
Investment Bank

EUR

Loans from the European
Investment Bank

EUR

Loans from the European
Investment Bank
Loan from German-Ukrainian
Fund
Loan from German-Ukrainian
Fund
Loan from ODDO BHF
AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT

31 December 2019
Carrying
Coupon
value,
rate p.a., 31 December
Maturity
%
2019

EUR

February
2020 –
February
2022
March 2020 –
September
2024
June 2020 –
December
2024
January 2022
– July 2025
April 2020 –
January 2022

UAH

March 2022

EUR

USD

5.87

1,076,593

4.43

1,263,250

4.26

1,246,848

3.91

592,602

2.80

199,250

14.96

51,540

−

Total other borrowed funds

−
4,430,083
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31 December 2018
Carrying
Coupon
value,
rate p.a., 31 December
Maturity
%
2018
February
2019 –
February
2022
March 2019 –
September
2024
June 2019 –
December
2024
January 2022
– July 2025
April 2019 –
January 2022
March 2022
December
2019

5.87

1,757,804

4.43

1,819,427

4.26

1,795,707

3.91

711,280

2.80

239,059

13.46

51,295

4.06

244,162
6,618,734
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Changes in other borrowed funds during 2019 and 2018 are presented as follows:
For the year
ended
31 December
2019
Balance at 1 January
Other funds attracted
Repayment of other borrowed funds
Effect of changes in the foreign exchange rates
Interest expense (Note 5)
Effect of modification of financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Interest paid
Balance as at 31 December

For the year
ended
31 December
2018

6,618,734

7,309,775

−
(1,211,998)
(968,520)
264,111
139
(272,383)

671,709
(1,109,130)
(261,228)
327,860
−
(320,252)

4,430,083

6,618,734

As at 31 December 2019, debt securities measured at fair value through profit or loss with carrying amount of
UAH 378,601 thousand (Note 16), were used as a collateral to secure the loans received from the GermanUkrainian Fund(2018: debt securities measured at amortized cost with carrying amount of
UAH 407,511 thousand)
On 30 December 2013, the Group and the European Investment Bank (“EIB”) entered into a credit line
agreement in the amount of EUR 220,000 thousand for the period of 10 years. Drawdowns under the credit
line agreement are available in USD and EUR. The objective of this credit line facility was to finance small and
medium business entities, midcap companies, and other priority projects. Interest on the tranches received is
payable semi-annually.
Under the loan agreement with EIB the Group is obliged to comply with a range of information requirements
and financial covenants, which include maintaining certain coefficients (ratios) at determined levels.
On 7 November 2019, EIB and the Group signed the agreement, amending a number of financial covenants
by decreasing respective ratios. The updated ratios are effective since 18 November 2019 and have been
applied retrospectively starting from the beginning of 2019.
In accordance with the terms of the loan agreement with the German-Ukrainian Fund, the Group should
comply, inter alia, with certain covenants and is required to submit financial statements.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018 there were no breaches of the covenants.
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24.

OTHER LIABILITIES
Other liabilities include:
31 December
2019
Other financial liabilities
Expected credit losses for guarantees and other commitments
(Notes 6, 27)
Lease liabilities
Other accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Other

526,697
465,211
67,351
30,177
−

311,095
−
47,371
29,647
45

1,089,436

388,158

466,597
148,256
54,810
33,179
14,827

362,249
136,053
43,474
78,559
20,172

717,669

640,507

1,807,105

1,028,665

Other non-financial liabilities
Provision for unused vacations
Taxes payable other than income tax
Advances received
Accrued bonuses and salaries
Other

Total other liabilities

31 December
2018

Movements in expected credit losses for guarantees and other commitments for the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018 are disclosed in Notes 6, 32.
Movement in lease liabilities during 2019 year is presented as follows:
For the year
ended
31 December
2019
Balance at 1 January

451,200

Liabilities recognized
Liabilities repayments
Interest accrual (Note 5)
Interest paid

163,071
(159,038)
74,201
(64,223)

Balance as at 31 December

25.

465,211

SUBORDINATED DEBT
Subordinated debt is presented as follows:

Currency
Eurobonds holders

USD

Maturity
of the
principal

Interest
rate,
%

19 January
2024

9.07

Total subordinated debt

31 December
2019
2,462,640
2,462,640
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Changes in subordinated debt during 2019 and 2018 are presented as follows:
For the year
ended
31 December
2019

For the year
ended
31 December
2018

Balance at 1 January

2,879,790

2,905,648

Effect of changes in the foreign exchange rates
Interest expense (Note 5)
Interest paid

(405,531)
245,793
(257,412)

(38,391)
246,989
(234,456)

Balance as at 31 December

2,462,640

2,879,790

On 25 November 2015, the Group completed reprofiling of subordinated debt provided by The Royal Bank of
Scotland. As part of the reprofiling, The Royal Bank of Scotland plc, the Bank and SSB No.1 plc entered into
an amendment and restatement deed pursuant to which (i) The Royal Bank of Scotland plc transferred all of
its rights and obligations under the subordinated loan agreement to SSB No.1 plc in consideration for issuance
by SSB No.1 plc of loan participation notes with equivalent principal amount and (ii) the parties agreed to
amend the terms of the subordinated loan. The amendment of the terms of the subordinated loan agreement
included, among other things, an extension of maturity by seven years to 19 January 2024, increase of a
coupon interest rate to USD 6-month Libor plus 6.875% and an amortization profile pursuant to which
(a) 50 percent of the principal amount of subordinated loan will be redeemed on 19 January 2020 and
(b) the remaining principal amount of subordinated loan will be redeemed in eight equal semi-annual
instalments starting on 19 July 2020, with the final repayment due on 19 January 2024.
In the event of bankruptcy or liquidation of the Group, repayment of this debt is subordinated to the repayments
of the Group’s liabilities to all other creditors.
In accordance with the terms of the loan agreement, the Group should comply, inter alia, with the following
covenants and is required to submit:
•

Audited annual financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS within 180 days from the reporting
date;

•

Unaudited interim IFRS financial statements for the six months ending 30 June within 120 days from the
reporting date.

SSB No.1 Plc has the right to enforce obligations of the Bank regarding compliance with the covenants.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018 there were no breaches of the covenants.

26.

SHARE CAPITAL
Share capital is presented as follows:
Number
of shares

Nominal value,
UAH thousand

Adjusted
amount,
UAH thousand

31 December 2017

42,649

49,472,840

49,724,980

31 December 2018

42,649

49,472,840

49,724,980

31 December 2019

42,649

49,472,840

49,724,980
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As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the nominal value of each share amounted to UAH 1,160,000. All shares
rank equally and carry one vote.
These consolidated financial statements reflect the amount of paid share capital carried at cost, which was
adjusted for the effect of hyperinflation in the amount of UAH 252,140 thousand that existed before
31 December 2000.
In 2018, based on the financial result of 2017, the Bank paid out a portion of profit in the amount of
UAH 167,557 thousand to the general purpose fund of the Budget of Ukraine in accordance with the resolution
of the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine dated 28.02.2018 № 139 "On approval of the basic standard for
deducting the share of profits, aimed at paying dividends on the results of financial and economic activities in
2018 of companies whose statutory capital includes corporate rights of the state".
In 2019, based on the financial result of 2018, the Bank paid out a portion of profit in the amount of
UAH 48,671 thousand to the general purpose fund of the Budget of Ukraine in accordance with the Resolution
of the Cabinet of Ministers of Ukraine dated 24 April 2019 № 364 On approval of the basic standard for
deducting the share of profits, aimed at paying dividends on the results of financial and economic activities in
2018 of companies whose statutory capital includes corporate rights of the state.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Bank’s share capital was established and paid in by cash, by Ukrainian
government debt securities and using the profit to increase share capital, in amount of
UAH 49,724,980 thousand, taking into account effect of hyperinflation as required by IAS 29 Financial
Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies.
The cash contributed to the Bank share capital are used for the activities envisaged by the Bank Charter.

27.

CONTINGENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
In the normal course of business, the Group is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in
order to meet the needs of its customers. These instruments, involving varying degrees of credit risk, are not
reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk under contingent liabilities and contractual commitments to
extend credit, in the event of non-performance by the other party where all counterclaims, collateral, or security
prove being impaired, is represented by the contractual amounts of those instruments.
The Group uses the same credit control and management policies in undertaking off-balance sheet
commitments as it does for operations recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the nominal or contractual amounts of contingent liabilities and credit
commitments were as follows:
31 December
2019

31 December
2018

Contingent financial liabilities and credit commitments
Irrevocable commitments on loans and unused credit lines
Financial guarantees issued and similar commitments
Letters of credit and other contingencies

10,026,764
1,353,037
897,608

6,645,692
854,932
1,056,052

Total contingent financial liabilities and credit commitments

12,277,409

8,556,676

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, non-financial guarantees amounted to UAH 5,307 thousand and
UAH 113,892 thousand, respectively.
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As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, allowance for financial guarantees and other liabilities amounted to
UAH 526,697 thousand and UAH 310,736 thousand, respectively; provisions for non-financial guarantees and
other liabilities amounted to UAH nil and UAH 359 thousand, respectively (Notes 6, 24, 32).
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, guarantees issued and other liabilities were provided by cash deposits in
the amount of UAH 472,087 thousand and UAH 134,351 thousand, respectively (Note 21).
Increase of loans to customers within loans and credit line limits is approved by the Group on a case-by-case
basis and depends on the borrowers’ financial performance, debt service quality, and other conditions.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the total amount of such revocable commitments amounted to
UAH 9,614,833 thousand and UAH 8,815,982 thousand, respectively.
The total amount of debt for unused credit lines, letters of credit and guarantees under the agreements do not
necessarily represent future cash claim, since the expiration or cancellation of those commitments without
providing funds to the borrower could be possible.
Capital commitments
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group had commitments to purchase intangible assets for the amount
of UAH 170,792 thousand and UAH 215,204 thousand, respectively.
Operating lease commitments
Where the Group is a lessee, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
are as follows:
31 December
2018
Within one year
More than one year, but no more than five years
More than five years

253,987
280,969
139,481

Total operating lease commitments

674,437

Litigations
From time to time and in the normal course of business, claims against the Group are received from customers
and counterparties. Management believes that no material losses will be incurred and, accordingly, no
provision has been made in these consolidated financial statements.
Taxation
Due to presence in the Ukrainian legislation, in particular, tax legislation, of provisions allowing more than one
interpretation, and also due to the practice developed in a generally unstable environment by the tax authorities
of making arbitrary judgment of business activities, Ukrainian tax authorities may take a stricter position in their
interpretation of the law during the tax audits. Combined with possible efforts to increase collection of taxes to
meet state budget requirements this could increase the level and frequency of inspections by the tax
authorities. In particular, it is possible that transactions and activities that were not challenged in the past, may
be challenged. As a result, significant additional taxes, penalties and fines may be assessed. Such uncertainty
may relate to the valuation of financial instruments, allowances for expected credit losses, operations with
non-residents and the market level for pricing of deals.
In respect of certain areas, the Ukrainian tax legislation does not contain clear guidance. From time to time,
the Group uses the interpretation of such uncertain areas, based on the provisions of current Ukrainian
legislation, intergovernmental legislative acts on avoidance of double taxation, which results in application by
55

Translation from Ukrainian original

JOINT STOCK COMPANY “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”
(former Public Joint Stock Company “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
(in thousands of UAH)

the Group (the tax agent) of the tax rates which are based on intergovernmental agreements. As noted above,
such tax positions may be subject to detailed inspection. The impact of any claims by the tax authorities cannot
be reliably estimated; however, it may be material to the financial position and/or general operations of the
Group.
As at 31 December 2019, the Group has neither overdue liabilities in paying taxes (presence/absence of tax
liability) nor unpaid fines for violating the laws in the financial services area, including those dealing with the
securities market. The Group believes that it has already made all tax payments, and, therefore, no allowance
has been made in the consolidated financial statements. Tax records remain open to review by the tax
authorities for three years.
As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no contingent assets and/or liabilities with a high probability of their
recognition in the balance sheet, except for those reported in the financial statements as at 31 December 2019
and for the year then ended.

28.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related parties of the Bank, as defined by IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures, represent:
а)

b)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the reporting entity if that person:
i)

has control or joint control over the reporting entity;

іі)

has significant influence over the reporting entity; or

ііі)

is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of the
reporting entity.

An entity is related to the reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies:
i)

the entity and the reporting entity are members of the same bank (which means that each parent,
subsidiary, and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

іі)

one entity is an associate or a joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or a joint venture
of a member of a bank of which the other entity is a member);

ііі)

both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

iv)

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

v)

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the reporting
entity or an entity related to the reporting entity. If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to the reporting entity;

vi)

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in а);

vii)

a person identified in a) i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Transactions and balances with related parties comprise transactions with government, government-related
entities (both directly and indirectly), key management personnel of the Group, and entities, if any, that are
controlled, jointly controlled, or significantly influenced by them.
Government-related entities are entities that are controlled, jointly controlled, or significantly influenced by the
government bodies.
Government refers to the Government of Ukraine, government agencies, and similar bodies, whether local,
national or international.
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In considering each possible related party relationship, one should pay analyze substance of the relationship
and not merely the legal form.
The Group’s balances with its related parties as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are presented in the table
below.

31 December 2019
Transactions
with related
Total in
parties
category
Balances with the National Bank of Ukraine
- other related parties

31 December 2018
Transactions
Total in
with related
category
parties

29,314,608
29,314,608

29,314,608

4,932,824
4,932,824

4,932,824

Due from banks, less allowance for expected credit
losses:
- other related parties

855,597
855,597

20,223,301

323,819
323,819

10,965,932

Loans to customers, before allowance for expected
credit losses:
- key management personnel of the Group
- other related parties

20,270,283
7,180
20,263,103

122,648,384

22,317,113
8,734
22,308,379

131,184,541

(472,381)
(78)
(472,303)

(57,480,040)

(1,375,524)
(175)
(1,375,349)

(63,641,365)

112,619,323
112,619,323

113,616,183

116,168,998
116,168,998

116,590,238

18,964
18,964

58,040

3,559
3,559

54,074

64,713,057
84,069
64,628,988

202,142,934

29,822,340
89,780
29,732,560

154,016,447

250,790
250,790

4,430,083

290,354
290,354

6,618,734

14,596
14,596

1,807,105

11,867
11,867

1,028,665

3,606,342
1,213
3,605,129

21,897,549

2,102,796
2,018
2,100,778

17,486,550

Allowance for expected credit losses on the loans
granted to customers:
- key management personnel of the Group
- other related parties
Investments after deducting the allowance for
expected credit losses:
- other related parties
Due to banks:
- other related parties
Customer accounts:
- key management personnel of the Group
- other related parties
Other borrowed funds:
- other related parties
Other liabilities:
- key management personnel of the Group
Contingent liabilities and credit commitments,
including allowance for expected credit losses:
- key management personnel of the Group
- other related parties
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Included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018 were the following amounts which arose due to transactions with related parties:
For the year ended
31 December 2019
Transactions
with related
Total in
parties
category

For the year ended
31 December 2018
Transactions
with related
Total in
parties
category

Interest income:
- key management personnel of the Group
- other related parties:
- due from banks
- loans to customers
- investments

12,401,683
821
12,400,862
8
3,507,417
8,893,437

19,065,766

13,465,629
570
13,465,059
8
4,081,528
9,383,523

19,351,416

Interest expense:
- key management personnel of the Group
- other related parties:
- due to banks
- customer accounts
- other borrowed funds

(2,214,682)
(5,611)
(2,209,071)
−
(2,195,642)
(13,429)

(13,567,217)

(2,294,826)
(5,892)
(2,288,934)
(110,010)
(2,165,371)
(13,553)

(13,896,078)

1,907,205
1,907,205

186,644

1,859,978
1,859,978

1,127,366

Commission income:
- key management personnel of the Group
- other related parties

314,023
129
313,894

6,438,707

416,323
97
416,226

5,236,356

Fee and commission expense:
- other related parties

(35,455)
(35,455)

(2,235,702)

(45,463)
(45,463)

(1,771,336)

(2,924,345)
(2,924,345)

(3,649,396)

(2,291,371)
(2,291,371)

(2,410,823)

18,995
18,995

340,096

111
111

304,689

Operating expenses:
- key management personnel of the Group
- other related parties

(175,425)
(99 912)
(75,513)

(9,821,058)

(190,314)
(80,931)
(109,383)

(8,567,824)

Key management personnel remuneration:
- short-term employee benefits
- social charges

(99,860)
(93,478)
(6,382)

(5,490,753)

(80,568)
(75,045)
(5,523)

(4,844,919)

Reversal/(accrual) of allowance for expected credit
losses on interest bearing assets:
- other related parties

Net gain on transactions with financial instruments
at fair value through profit or loss:
- other related parties
Net other income/(expenses)
- other related parties
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29.

FAIR VALUE
IFRS defines fair value as the price that would be received from an asset sale or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The estimated fair values have been determined by the Group using available market information, where it
exists, and appropriate valuation methodologies. However, judgement is necessarily required to interpret
market data to determine the estimated fair value. Management has used all available market information in
estimating the fair value. The estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the
Group could realize in a market exchange from the sale of its full holdings of a particular instrument or pay in
the transfer of liabilities.
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring
basis and fair value of buildings
Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities, as well as the Group’s buildings, are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of
these financial assets and financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and inputs
used):
Assets/
liabilities
Investments

Fair value
hierarchy

Valuation techniques and key inputs

1

Quoted bid prices (unadjusted) in an active market (available to the Group on assessment
date) for identical investments. Fair value is assessed using market approach.

2

Discounted cash flows.
Future cash flows are estimated based on the inputs that are observable, either directly or
indirectly, and the estimates use one or more observable prices for orderly transactions in
the markets that are not considered active.
Discounted cash flows.
Future cash flows are estimated based on both observable and unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs include assumptions regarding future financial performance of the
issuer and its risk profile.
The fair value is calculated using the adjusted option pricing model for European currency
options (Garman-Kohlhagen’s form of the Black–Scholes’s formula). The following input
data are used in the calculations:
• strike rate of US dollar against UAH. Defined as the average US dollar exchange rate
against UAH on the interbank market for the month preceding the date of issue of the
relevant series of bonds with indexed value (according to the indexation mechanism
provided for in the terms of issue). For the Ukrainian government bonds with indexed
value received by the Group as contribution to the share capital, strike rate was in the
range UAH 14.81-27.22 per US dollar for a package of bonds depending on the date
of issue of relevant series of bonds (31 December 2018: in the range UAH 14.81-27.22
per US dollar);
• forward US dollar exchange rate against UAH. Determined based on the risk-free rate
of return in the US dollars (according to the yield to maturity of the United States
government securities) as well as the national currency (according to zero-coupon yield
curve published by the National Bank of Ukraine). As at 31 December 2019, the
estimated value of the forward US dollar in UAH, which is adopted for calculating the
fair value of the embedded option, ranged from 33.83 UAH/USD for 3.57 year time
horizon to 55.39 UAH/USD for 12.15 year time horizon (31 December 2018: from 48.13
UAH/USD for 4.57 year time horizon to 55.75 UAH/USD for 13.15 year time horizon);
• volatility of the US dollar against UAH. Defined as the annual volatility of interbank US
dollar against UAH. As at 31 December 2019, the volatility of the US dollar against the
hryvnia was 18.59% (31 December 2018: 20.36%);
• discount rate. The discount rate is determined according zero-coupon yield curve
published by the National Bank of Ukraine. As at 31 December 2019, the discount rate

3
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Assets/
liabilities

Fair value
hierarchy

Loans
measured
at fair
value
through
profit or
loss

3

Real estate:
Capital
investment
s on
constructio
n in
progress

3

Real estate:
buildings

3

Investment
property

Valuation techniques and key inputs
ranged from 11.64% per annum for the term of 3.57 years to 8.94% per annum for the
period of 12.15 years (31 December 2018: from 14.66% per annum for the term of 4.57
years to 8.09% per annum for the period of 13.15 years).
Discounted cash flows.
Future cash flows are estimated based on expected cash flows attributable to the
repayment of loans and are risk-adjusted considering the Group’s analytical evaluations of
respective amounts and maturities and taking into account the probabilities of their
origination. Cash flows are discounted applying risk-free interest rates adjusted for systemic
risk in respective currencies determined according zero-coupon yield curve published by
the National Bank of Ukraine.
The Group engages professional independent appraisers to determine the fair values of its
constructions in progress.
To assess the fair value of constructions in progress, a combination of market, income and
cost approaches is used, considering time from the beginning of construction, degree of
readiness of construction and prospect of completion of the valuation objects.
Prospective low-readiness projects that have been purchased or recently started can be
evaluated using a cost approach. The cost approach shows an estimate of the cost of
replacing or replacing an object minus all types of wear (physical, functional, economic).
The Group engages professional independent appraisers to determine the fair values of its
buildings and office premises and investment property by using sales comparison method,
and for items for which there are no market analogues, income capitalization method is
used. In the sales comparison method, the prices of market-based sales of comparable
properties in the immediate proximity are adjusted with reference to differences in main
parameters (such as floor space of the property). The main parameter used in this valuation
technique is the price per square meter of a property.

The following table summarizes financial instruments and real estate carried at fair value using a fair value
hierarchy. The levels reflect the ability of direct determination of the fair value based on the market data:

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

31 December
2019
Total

Assets
Investments at fair value through profit
or loss:
government securities
other securities
Investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income:
government securities
other securities
Loans measured at fair value through
profit or loss
Real estate:
construction in progress
buildings
Investment property

−
−

−
−

38,578,398
−

38,578,398
−

−
390,122

32,158,908
4,508,307

−
1,170,937

32,158,908
6,069,366

−

−

2,849 932

2,849 932

−
−
−

−
−
−

25,271
3,094,029
809,070

25,271
3,094,029
809,070

Total

390,122

36,667,215

46,527,637

83,584,974
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Level 1
Assets
Investments at fair value through profit
or loss:
government securities
other securities
Investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income:
government securities
other securities
Loans measured at fair value through
profit or loss
Real estate:
construction in progress
buildings
Investment property
Total

Level 2

Level 3

31 December
2018
Total

−
−

−
−

40,736,819
855,113

40,736,819
855,113

−
−

50,561,364
−

−
2,094,426

50,561,364
2,094,426

−

−

3,551,365

3,551,365

−
−
−

−
−
−

35,709
3,056,588
796,869

35,709
3,056,588
796,869

−

50,561,364

51,126,889

101,688,253

For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group did not carry out transfers between Level 1 and
Level 2 hierarchies of fair value. The Group policy determines that the transfers between the levels of the fair
value hierarchy is considered to be made at the reporting date.
The following tables present movements in fair values of Level 3 for financial instruments measured at fair value:
Investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income:
1 January 2019
Total income and expense:
In profit or loss:
expenses incurred on initial recognition of
financial assets
interest income and dividends
trading result
accrual/release of allowance for expected
credit losses
modification gain/loss
In other comprehensive income:
Net change in fair value of investments at
FVOCI
Coupon income and dividend collection
Purchase
Sale
Written-off

31 December 2019

2,094,426

1 January 2018
1,729,123
Total income and expense:
In profit or loss:
504,902
expenses incurred in connection with original
recognition
(11,975)
interest income and dividends
338,361
trading result
−
accrual/release of allowance for expected
credit losses
150,603
modification gain/loss
27,913
In other comprehensive income:
(144,965)
Net change in fair value of investments at
FVOCI
(144,965)
Coupon income and dividend collection
(339,050)
Purchase
441,401
Sale
(24,641)
Derecognition in connection with
reclassification to the category of loans to
customers
(72,344)

382,728
−
368,782
216
47,868
(34,138)
91,714
91,714
(388,629)
−
(1,009,202)
(100)

1,170,937

31 December 20178
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Investments measured at fair value through profit or loss:
1 January 2019
Total income and expense:
In profit or loss:
Interest income
net change in fair value
result of modification
Coupon income collected
Repayment
31 December 2019

41,591,932
(253,624)
2,638,300
(2,891,924)
−
(1,775,766)
(984,144)

1 January 2018
Total income and expense:
In profit or loss:
Interest income
net change in fair value
result of modification
Coupon income collected
Sale

43,116,349
250,896
2,542,159
(2,291,433)
170
(1,775,313)
−

38,578,398

31 December 2018

41,591,932

Loans measured at fair value through profit or loss:
1 January 2019
Total income and expense:
In profit or loss:
Interest income
net profit on foreign exchange transactions

3,551,365

(725,125)
18,466
(344,879)
(596,384)
−

1 January 2018
Total income and expense:
In profit or loss:
Interest income
net profit on foreign exchange
transactions
net change in fair value
result of modification
Interest income collected
Repayment
Reclassification

net change in fair value
result of modification
Interest income collected
Repayment
Reclassification

(6,138)
(96,725)
−
(37,602)
(34,854)
3,028,738

31 December 2019

2,849,932

31 December 2018

3,551,365

239,830
984,856
(38,367)

578,446
16,637
119,500

Sensitivity analysis of fair value of Level 3 financial instruments measured at fair value
Sensitivity of the fair value measurement for Level 3 financial instruments to reasonably possible changes in
inputs used is presented below:
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Fair value of investments measured at fair value through profit or loss (domestic government debt securities
with indexed value denominated in hryvnias) consists of the fair value of the principal contract and the fair
value of the embedded option. The table below provides information on the sensitivity of the fair value
measurement of investments, measured at fair value through profit or loss, taking into account the sensitivity
to market indicators (indicators), the change of which affects the fair value of the embedded option (the forward
exchange rate of the US dollar to the hryvnia, the volatility of the dollar USD to hryvnia and discount rates):
Government securities

Change of index
Forward USD/UAH
exchange rate
Volatility of USD/UAH
exchange rate
Discount rate

+ 1%

- 1%

+1 p.p.
+1 p.p.

-1 p.p.
-1 p.p.

Change in fair value of embedded derivative
31 December 2019
31 December 2018
290,749

(290,272)

320,408

(320,100)

67,150
(1,910,862)

(62,022)
2,047,517

53,809
(2,322,822)

(49,299)
2,505,343

The fair value of the embedded option is most sensitive to the changes in discount rates. A 1 p.p.
increase/decrease in discount rate would result in the fair value of the option decrease/increase by
UAH (-1,910,862)/+2,047,517 thousand as at 31 December 2019 and by UAH (-2,322,822)/+2,505,343
thousand as at 31 December 2018.
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The Group also carried out a simulation of the fair value change of the hybrid instrument on the basis of
changes that were objectively feasible – an increase in the forward rate of the US dollar to the hryvnia by 10%
and simultaneous increase of discount rates by 1 p.p. If the above scenario is implemented, the fair value of
the investments will increase by UAH 850,627 thousand as at 31 December 2019 and UAH 680,692 thousand
as at 31 December 2018. Reduction of the forward exchange rate of the US dollar to the hryvnia by 5% and
reduction of discount rates by 1 p.p. will result in an increase in the fair value of investments of
UAH 513,747 thousand as at 31 December 2019 and an increase in the fair value of UAH 794,253 thousand
as at 31 December 2018.
Other securities
Risk premium applied on
observable discount rate as
at

Change in input

31 December 2019
31 December 2018

+ 1 p.p.
+ 1 p.p.

Fair value

- 1 p.p.
- 1 p.p.

−
855,113

Change in fair value
−
(7,369)

−
7,435

Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
Other securities
Risk premium applied on
observable discount rate as
at

Change in input

31 December 2019
31 December 2018

+ 1 p.p.
+ 1 p.p.

Fair value

- 1 p.p.
- 1 p.p.

1,170,939
2,060,855

Change in fair value
(22,617)
(35,890)

23,172
36,820

Investments at amortized cost
Other securities
Risk premium applied on
observable discount rate as
at
31 December 2019
31 December 2018

Change in input
+ 1 p.p.
+ 1 p.p.

Fair value

- 1 p.p.
- 1 p.p.

681,371
−

Change in fair value
(28,486)
−

30,687
−

Sensitivity analysis of the fair value of loans measured at fair value through profit or loss
Presented below is the sensitivity of the fair value of loans measured at fair value through profit or loss to the
changes in the inputs by 1 percentage point (p.p.).
Risk premium applied on observable
discount rate as at
31 December 2019
31 December 2018

Change in input
+ 1 p.p.
+ 1 p.p.

- 1 p.p.
- 1 p.p.

Change in fair value
(107,276)
(158,924)

110,036
171,942

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a recurring
basis (but fair value disclosures are required)
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Other financial instruments
As there is no active secondary market in Ukraine for due from banks, due to banks, loans to customers,
investments at amortised cost, accounts receivable and payable, other borrowed funds, and subordinated
debt, there is no reliable market value available for such instruments.
For financial assets and liabilities that have a short term maturity, it is assumed that the carrying amounts
approximate their fair value. Accordingly, for other financial assets and other financial liabilities, the carrying
value is approximately equal to their fair value. This assumption is also applied to demand deposits and current
accounts without defined maturity.
The management believes that, except for included in the table below, the carrying amounts of financial assets
and financial liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
31 December 2019
Carrying
amount
Fair value
Due from banks
Loans to legal entities
Loans to individuals
Investments

31 December 2018
Carrying
amount
Fair value

20,223,301
54,754,034
7,564,378
36,809,511

20,223,301
55,546,968
6,456,049
36,995,855

10,965,932
58,579 996
5,411,815
22,342,516

10,965,932
56,144,066
5,011,656
22,503,049

Total assets

119,351,224

119,222,173

97,300,259

94,624,703

Due to banks
Customer accounts
Eurobonds issued
Other borrowed funds
Subordinated debt

58,040
202,142,934
18,303,877
4,430,083
2,462,640

58,040
201,835,182
19,130,219
4,297,551
2,550,048

54,074
154,016,447
34,496,694
6,618,734
2,879,790

54,074
154,001,007
33,405,088
5,730,549
2,806,653

Total liabilities

227,397,574

227,871,040

198,065,739

195,997,371

The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used):
Financial assets/
financial
liabilities

Level of the
fair value
hierarchy

Due from banks

2

Loans to
customers at
amortised cost

3

Investments at
amortised cost

2

Due to banks

2

Customer
accounts

2

Valuation techniques and key inputs
Discounted cash flows.
Future cash flows are estimated based on the inputs that are observable, either
directly or indirectly, and the estimates use one or more observable prices for
orderly transactions in the markets that are not considered active.
Discounted cash flows.
Future cash flows are estimated based on both observable and unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs include assumptions regarding future financial
performance of a counterparty and its risk profile.
Discounted cash flows.
Future cash flows are estimated based on the inputs that are observable, either
directly or indirectly, and the estimates use one or more observable prices for
orderly transactions in the markets that are not considered active.
Discounted cash flows.
Future cash flows are estimated based on the inputs that are observable, either
directly or indirectly, and the estimates use one or more observable prices for
orderly transactions in the markets that are not considered active.
Discounted cash flows.
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Eurobonds issued

2

Other borrowed
funds

2

Subordinated debt

2

Future cash flows are estimated based on both observable and unobservable
inputs.
Discounted cash flows.
Future cash flows are estimated based on the inputs that are observable, either
directly or indirectly, and the estimates use one or more observable prices for
orderly transactions in the markets that are not considered active.
Discounted cash flows.
Future cash flows are estimated based on the inputs that are observable, either
directly or indirectly, and the estimates use one or more observable prices for
orderly transactions in the markets that are not considered active.
Discounted cash flows.
Future cash flows are estimated based on the inputs that are not observable
directly, and the estimates use one or more unobservable prices for orderly
transactions in the markets that are not considered active.
31 December 2019,
fair value
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1

Total

Assets
Due from banks
Loans to customers
Investments

−
−
−

20,223,301
−
36,995,855

−
62,003,017
−

20,223,301
62,003,017
36,995,855

Total

−

57,219,156

62,003,017

119,222,173

Liabilities
Due to banks
Customer accounts
Eurobonds issued
Other borrowed funds
Subordinated debt

−
−
−
−
−

58,040
201,835,182
19,130,219
4,297,551
2,550,048

−
−
−
−
−

58,040
201,835,182
19,130,219
4,297,551
2,550,048

Total

−

227,871,040

−

227,871,040

31 December 2018,
fair value
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1

Total

Assets
Due from banks
Loans to customers
Investments

−
−
−

10,965,932
−
22,503,049

−
61,155,722
−

10,965,932
61,155,722
22,503,049

Total

−

33,468,981

61,155,722

94,624,703

Liabilities
Due to banks
Customer accounts
Eurobonds issued
Other borrowed funds
Subordinated debt

−
−
−
−
−

54,074
154,001,007
33,405,088
5,730,549
2,806,653

−
−
−
−
−

54,074
154,001,007
33,405,088
5,730,549
2,806,653

Total

−

195,997,371

−

195,997,371
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30.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximizing the return to the shareholder through the optimization of the debt and equity balance.
The capital structure of the Group consists of share capital, reserves, and accumulated deficit as disclosed in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity, and borrowed funds, which include subordinated debt
disclosed in Note 25.
The Group reviews the capital structure on a regular basis. As a part of this review the cost of capital, its
components and the risks, that are inherent to the Group and might cause the loss of a component of capital
are comprehensively analyzed. The Group balances its overall capital structure, in particular, through new
share issues as well as the issue/redemption of subordinated debt.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Bank complied with the requirements of the National Bank of Ukraine
regarding adequacy of the regulatory capital (H2).

31.

REGULATORY MATTERS
The adequacy of the Group’s capital is monitored using, among other measures, the ratios established by the
Basel Capital Accord 1988 and the ratios established by the NBU in supervising the Group and companies
forming the Group.
Quantitative measures established by regulation to ensure capital adequacy require that the Group maintain
minimum amounts and ratios of total and Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets.
Quantitative measures established by the Basel Committee to ensure capital adequacy require that the Group
maintain minimum amounts and ratios of total capital (8%) and Tier 1 capital (4%) to risk-weighted assets.
The following table analyses the Group’s regulatory capital resources for capital adequacy purposes in
accordance with the Basel Capital Accord 1988:
31 December
2019

31 December
2018

Regulatory capital:
Tier 1 capital
Share capital
Accumulated deficit

49,724,980
(33,004,661)

49,724,980
(33,215,794)

16,720,319

16,509,186

Tier 2 capital
Revaluation reserves
Subordinated debt

2,836,460
947,448

2,038,954
1,626,686

Total Tier 2 qualified capital up to a limit of 100% total Tier 1 capital

3,783,908

3,665,640

20,504,227

20,174,826

Capital ratios:
Total regulatory capital as a percentage of total risk-weighted assets

13.91%

13.42%

Total Tier 1 capital as a percentage of total risk-weighted assets

11.34%

10.98%

Total Tier 1 qualified capital

Total regulatory capital
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32.

RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES
Risk management is fundamental to the Group’s business and is an essential element of the Group’s
operations. The main risks inherent in the Group’s operations are: market risk, credit risk, concentration risk,
liquidity risk, interest risk and currency risk. The Group’s risk management policies in relation to those risks
are described below.
The Group establishes a comprehensive and effective risk management system, taking into account the Bank’s
Development Strategy, the Bank’s Risk Statement and other internal regulatory documents, which define the
nature and volume of Bank's operations, risk profile and Bank’s system importance.
From the functional point of view, risk management of business processes and clear division of responsibilities
between the Bank's branches are implemented using the principle of three lines of protection.
•

First line − at the level of the Bank’s business units and the Bank’s business support units. These units
accept and are responsible for the risks and report daily on management of such risks, in accordance with
the functions set out in the provisions of that unit;

•

Second line − at the level of the risk management and compliance units;

•

Third line − at the level of the internal audit unit for verification and evaluation of the effectiveness of the
risk management system.

The organizational structure of risk management provides clear division of the functions, responsibilities and
powers of risk management among all bodies of the risk management system and employees of the Bank, as
well as their responsibility in accordance with such division.
Risk management functions are distributed among the following bodies of the risk management system:
•

The Supervisory Board of the Bank;

•

Risk Management Committee of Oschadbank JSC;

•

The Management Board of the Bank;

•

Committees established by the Board of the Bank:

•

Risk management department;

•

Compliance department;

•

The Bank’s internal audit department;

•

Business and support departments, including those working with non-performing assets.

The Supervisory Board of the Bank сonducts its activity in accordance with the Resolution of the Cabinet of
Ministers of Ukraine dated 10 July 2019 No. 643.
The Bank’s Supervisory Board is fully responsible for creating a comprehensive and effective risk management
system for risks the Bank is exposed to in its operations. General risk management strategy of the Bank is
determined by the Bank’s Supervisory Board.
To ensure compliance with the risk management policies, the Supervisory Board adopted Decision No. 1 dated
20 June 2019 (Issue 6) on the establishment of standing committees of the Bank’s Supervisory Board, namely:
Audit Committee, Nominating and Remuneration Committee, Risk Committee, Strategy Commitee. Also, by
Decision No. 3 of the Supervisory Board dated 25 July 2019 the Regulation on the Supervisory Board Risk
Committee of Oschadbank JSC was approved, which defines functions and responsibilities of the committee
members. In particular, the functions of the Committee include control over taking into account the Bank’s
business model and risk management strategy for pricing / setting tariffs for banking products, and if the prices /
tariffs do not cover the risks of Oschadbank JSC, developing measures and submitting them for consideration
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and approval (decision-making) of the Supervisory Board of Oschadbank JSC; control over implementation
and compliance with risk exposure declaration, risk management strategy and other internal bank documents;
control over implementation of measures for prompt elimination of deficiencies in the functioning of the risk
management system, implementation of recommendations and observations of the internal audit department,
external auditors, the National Bank of Ukraine and other supervisory bodies; control and supervision of capital
and liquidity management strategies, as well as all risks of Oschadbank JSC defined by the declaration of risk
exposure, in particular, credit, market, operational, reputational and other significant risks of Oschadbank JSC,
defined as such in accordance with internal regulation documents of Oschadbank JSC; consideration of reports
and submission of proposals (including measures to promptly eliminate deficiencies).
The Management Board of the Bank ensures the fulfillment of tasks, decisions of the Bank's Supervisory Board
on the implementation of the risk management system, including the Risk management strategy and policies,
risk management culture, procedures, methods and other measures of effective risk management.
The Regulations on standing committees established by the Bank’s Management Board set out the right for
the Head of the Risk Management department and the Head of the Compliance department to impose a ban
(veto) on the decisions of committees established by the Bank’s Management.
In order to bring the organizational structure of the risk management system in compliance with the
requirements of the Resolution of the Board of the National Bank of Ukraine dated 11 June 2018 No. 64
On Approval of the Regulation on the Organization of the Risk Management System in Banks of Ukraine and
Banking Groups, the risk management general department and the compliance department were established
on 17 September 2019.
The Director of the Risk Management General Department is reported to by:
•

Credit Risk and Assets Valuation Department − to ensure effective performance of credit risk
management;.

•

Strategic Risk and Forecasting Department − to ensure effective operations in managing liquidity risk,
interest rate risk and currency risk.

The activities of these divisions are aimed at identifying, analyzing, assessing, monitoring and controlling risks
within the Bank and supporting decision-making of the relevant risk committees in terms of risk management.
The Compliance department ensures control over the Bank’s compliance with legislation, internal regulatory
documents and relevant standards of professional associations, which are applied to the Bank, etc.
These departments are independent from other areas of business.
The Bank’s internal audit department reviews and evaluates the effectiveness of the Bank's first- and secondlevel risk management systems, including the assessment of the effectiveness of the internal control system.
Business and support departments, including NPL departments, accept risks and are responsible for these
risks and report on the ongoing management of such risks.
The Group manages the following risks:
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss for the Group as a result of a borrower’s or a counterparty’s failure to
meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk arises mainly from loans and investment securities. For risk
management reporting purposes, the Group considers and consolidates all the elements of credit risk exposure
(such as individual customer and counterparty default risk, as well as risks specific to certain countries and
industries).
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When granting and maintaining loan commitments (commitments on undrawn loans, letters of credit and
guarantees), the management applies the same procedures for their consideration, approval, and
maintenance as for loans issued. The maximum off-balance sheet credit risk is disclosed in Note 27.
The credit risk management process is defined in the following internal documents of the Bank: Declarations
of risk exposure of Oschadbank JSC, Risk Management Strategies of Oschadbank JSC, Credit Risk
Management Policy of Oschadbank JSC, Credit Policy of Oschadbank JSC, as well as methodologies and
regulations determining the procedure for assessing the level of credit risk / reduction of the usefulness of
financial instruments.
The basic methods used in the credit risk management process are:
•

assessment of the Group’s counterparty financial condition, including determination of the internal credit
rating/scoring of the counterparty, at the stage of decision making on lending and during the lending
period;

•

assessment of loan terms, including collateral;

•

calculation and establishment of credit limits for borrowers/banks of related counterparties of the Group;

•

accreditation of independent appraisers of pledged property of the borrowers of the Group;

•

regular monitoring of the availability and condition of collateral items;

•

risk assessment of the Group loan portfolio;

•

regular management reporting;

•

accreditation of insurance companies;

•

accreditation of construction sites and developers/managers.

The Group risk management includes the following stages:
•

identification of risks − identification of risks sources;

•

risk assessment − identification and assessment of the identified risks;

•

risk control − setting limits for the size of acceptable risks;

•

risk monitoring - process of continuous monitoring of risk sources.

The Group manages credit risk by establishing limits for individual borrowers and groups of borrowers which
are determined based on the recommendations of the relevant credit department and risk management
department of the Group, and approved by the relevant authorized collegial body of the Bank. In case the
amount of a loan exceeds the limit within the authority of the Management Board, the loan is approved by a
decision of the Supervisory Board. The Group also mitigates its credit risk by obtaining collateral and using
other security arrangements.
Currently, the Group lending decision-making process process is largely centralized. The Credit Factory
system has been introduced, which is used to analyze the creditworthiness of individual borrowers and decide
on the transaction by verifiers who are members of small credit committee for retail business. The decisions
on carrying out active operations with large corporate customers are taken by the Bank’s Credit Committee.
In making its lending decisions, the Group assesses its potential borrowers based on their financial position,
credit history, and the exposure associated with a loan to a particular borrower, using an internal rating scale.
In assessing risks and making decisions on granting a loan to a specific borrower-legal entity or individual
entrepreneur who is receiving a loan for his business activities, the Group takes into account financial
condition, creditworthiness and solvency of the borrower, performs market analysis, as well as of the industry69
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related risks where the borrower carries out its business activities, including market positions of the borrower’s
business, and considers factors such as the quality of its management, geographic location, level of
suppliers/customers concentration, leverage, liquidity and sufficiency of collateral offered in terms of the credit
risk.
The decision-making procedure for granting consumer loans in the Group is standardized. The maximum limits
on loans are set depending on the applicant income, stability of the potential borrower’s future earnings,
liquidity and quality of collateral.
The concentration of credit risks is assessed for the portfolio of active operations as a whole, as well as for its
individual components. The Management Board of the Bank has approved restrictions (limits) on active
operations by sectors of economy, geographical regions, and a number of loan products.
Credit risk assessment for risk management purposes is complex and requires the use of a specific model, as
the exposure to credit risk varies depending on changes in market conditions, expected cash flows and time.
The Group assesses credit risk using probability of default (PD), exposure at default (EAD), and loss given
default (LGD), based on forecast information.
In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 9, the assessment of impairment is based on the model of
expected credit losses (hereinafter - “the impairment model”).
Assessment of ECL on financial assets
General provisions
IFRS 9 requirements for impairment assessment apply to all debt instruments at amortised cost or FVOCI,
including loan commitments and financial guarantees.
In accordance with IFRS 9, the Group applies a three-stage approach to assessing impairment of financial
assets based on credit quality changes since initial recognition:
Stage 1 covers financial assets that have not experienced a significant increase in credit risk after initial
recognition or occurrence of a default event, or the financial assets with a low credit risk at the reporting date.
For these assets, allowance is determined based on 12 months expected credit losses (ECL).
Stage 2 covers financial assets that have experienced a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, with no default event occurred. For these assets, allowance is determined based on the life-time
ECL.
Stage 3 covers financial assets with objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date. For such assets,
life-time expected credit losses are recognised. These assets are considered to be credit-impaired.
Allocating an asset to Stage 3/credit-impaired takes place when default event is identified.
A financial asset is classified by the Group as a financial asset for which a default event occured, if at least
one of the objective evidence of impairment is identified. Obligatory and optional (based on the Group
judgement) default criteria are applied.
The obligatory default criteria are:
•

number of days overdue (corporate and retail business and financial receivables 90+, interbank
transactions 7+, and securities 30+);

•

restructuring caused by financial difficulties of a borrower;

•

death of a borrower − individual;
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•

temporary administration in the bank;

•

default event based on a credit rating (corporate business, interbank operations).

Identification of a significant increase in credit risk is carried out at the level of a loan transaction and is based
on the use of a combination of qualitative and quantitative factors/indicators such as:
•

change in the probability of default at the reporting date as compared to the value at the time of initial
recognition in excess of the threshold value (retail business lending);

•

change in the credit rating determined according to the internal rating model in excess of the threshold
value (corporate business lending);

•

reaching the threshold value for the days of overdue (over 30 days for retail and corporate business
lending).

Regardless of whether there was a corresponding change after the initial recognition, the credit risk of the debt
is not considered to have increased significantly after its initial recognition if the loan is attributed to the group
of low risk credit instruments.
The credit risk of a financial instrument is considered low if:
•

the financial instrument has a low risk of default (the external rating of the borrower is at the investment
level; there are no overdue payments or the delay does not exceed 30 days (interbank loans − 1 day, for
securities issuers − up to 7 days);

•

the borrower has a high “potential” to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the short-term
perspective; and

•

the adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the long run may lead, but not necessarily,
to a decrease in the ability of the borrower to meet its obligations related to the contractual cash flows.

The three-stage approach does not apply to purchased (originated) credit impaired financial assets
(hereinafter − “POCI-assets”). POCI assets are financial assets that are credit-impaired at the date of initial
recognition. For such assets the impairment is determined based on expected credit losses over the life of
financial asset at initial recognition. POCI assets are initially recognised at fair value.
Valuation models
The Group developed expected credit losses (ECL) evaluation models based on the risk of probability of
default (PD), exposure at the time of default (EAD), and loss given default (LGD), considering forecast
information, and effective interest rate on a lending transaction.
The PD estimate for lending to corporate and retail business is based on the analysis of borrowers
migration/lending transactions across overdue portfolios of homogeneous borrowers/loans groups. By using
forecasts of the development and relevant models of the macro indicators influence, the Group transforms the
received values of PD allowing for the economic cycle stage – “point-in-time” (PIT) PD.
During the reporting period, the Group implemented changes to the procedure for identifying the event of
default of the borrower in terms of the introduction of the materiality threshold of the amount of overdue debt.
These changes in estimates led to a decrease in the allowance for expected credit losses in the consolidated
statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income for 2019 by UAH 91,595 thousand.
To assess ECLs for the investments in government securities, the risk parameters values are obtained based
on the rating provided by the international rating agency Moody’s based on the agency statistical information
and taking into account the individual rating of the country. In the reporting period, the Group introduced
changes to the approach of determining the PD in terms of adjusting the rating value in accordance with the
national scale of the rating agency defined for issuers of Ukraine.
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The LGD is defined as the level of losses in case a borrower defaults and is an estimate of the debt/exposure
that cannot be obtained/recovered. The assessment is based on the model that takes into account collateral
value and the recovery likelihood of a loan transaction. Collateral value is estimated taking into account the
type of collateral and the assessment of the possible recovery amount in case of its sale (application of
discounts by types of collateral). The probability of recovery from default is estimated by groups of overdue
portfolios of homogeneous borrowers/loans.
The estimate of the available collateral is updated in accordance with the Group internal regulatory documents.
The EAD is the expected amount of debt at the time of default. The models of the EAD are built based on loan
repayment schedule and assessment of the possible increase in debt by using the available (if any) undrawn
limits on a loan transaction, guarantees realization, etc. Off-balance sheet transactions are accounted for using
the Credit Conversion Factor (CCF) or the factor of the average level of utilization / use of the limits available
to the borrower (UTIL), determined in accordance with historical data held by the Group on such transactions
and takes into account the specifics of the loan transaction and the borrower.
Consideration of forecast information on macroeconomic indicators
Calculation of expected credit losses is based on expectations regarding changes in a number of
macroeconomic indicators.
Selection of indicators and their use in the models is based on the analysis of historical information about the
impact of their change on the credit risk exposure for individual portfolios by customer segment and product
type.
The forecast of macroeconomic indicators has been developed by the Group with three years horizon, using
three scenarios: basic (with a probability of 50%), two less probable scenarios, optimistic and pessimistic, with
a probability of occurrence of 25% each. When making the forecast the Group used both mathematical
methods and assumptions and published data on future values of macroeconomic factors for the period up to
2021 prepared by the National Bank of Ukraine, the Ministry for Economic Development and Trade and the
Ministry of Finance of Ukraine, as well as the international financial institutions. The main macroeconomic
indicators used in calculating expected credit losses are GDP, devaluation and consumer price index (for retail
business loans without collateral).
The Group identifies and records key drivers of credit risk and credit losses for each financial instruments
portfolio and, using the analysis of the historical data, estimates the relation between the change in macroeconomic values and the credit risk and credit losses. The key drivers for credit risk for retail portfolios are:
GDP, devaluation and consumer price index (for retail loans with no collateral).
Change in allowances for losses on financial instruments by Stages subject to the IFRS 9 impairment
requirements
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Due from banks
Stage 1
12-month ECL

Stage 2
Life-time ECL
(not impaired)

Stage 3
Life-time ECL
(impaired)

41,277

−

4,572,802

4,614,079

(15,401)
(864)

−
−

71,032
(66,606)

55,631
(67,470)

Balance as at 31 December 2018

25,012

−

4,577,228

4,602,240

Repaid assets
Other changes
Total accrual/(release) of allowance
for expected credit losses

(16)
27,530

−
−

(71,973)
−

(71,989)
27,530

27,514

−

(71,973)

(44,459)

Foreign exchange differences

(6,939)

−

(524,818)

(531,757)

Balance as at 31 December 2019

45,587

−

3,980,437

4,026,024

Stage 1
12-month ECL

Stage 2
Life-time ECL
(not impaired)

Stage 3
Life-time ECL
(impaired)

Balance as at 1 January 2018
Accrual/(release) of allowance for
expected credit losses
Write-off of assets

234,881

−

753

235,634

135,760
−

−
−

−
(753)

135,760
(753)

Balance as at 31 December 2018

370,641

−

−

370,641

46,076
(9,174)
(329,829)

−
−
−

−
−
−

46,076
(9,174)
(329,829)

(292,927)

−

−

(292,927)

−
(14,058)

−
−

−
−

−
(14,058)

63,656

−

−

63,656

Balance as at 1 January 2018
Accrual/(release) of allowance for
expected credit losses
Foreign exchange differences

Total

Іnvestments measured at amortised cost

New assets
Repaid assets
Other changes
Total accrual/(release) of allowance
for expected credit losses
Write-off of assets
Foreign exchange differences
Balance as at 31 December 2019

73

Total

Translation from Ukrainian original

JOINT STOCK COMPANY “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”
(former Public Joint Stock Company “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
(in thousands of UAH)

Investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income

Balance as at 1 January 2018
Accrual/(release) of allowance for
expected credit losses
Write-off of assets
Effect of modification
Foreign exchange differences
Balance as at 31 December 2018
New assets
Repaid assets
Other changes
Total accrual/(release) of allowance for
expected credit losses
Write-off of assets
Effect of modification
Foreign exchange differences
Sale of asset
Balance as at 31 December 2019

Stage 1
12-month ECL

Stage 2
Life-time ECL
(not impaired)

Stage 3
Life-time ECL
(impaired)

2,092,488

−

275,431

2,367,919

(1,417,697)
63,178
−

−
−
−
−

(48,178)
(543)
−
(151,284)

(1,465,875)
(543)
63,178
(151,284)

737,969

−

75,426

813,395

24,364
(209,864)
(465,475)

−
−
−

−
−
(3,790)

24,364
(209,864)
(469,265)

(650,975)

−

(3,790)

(654,765)

−
(310)
(21,343)
(141)

−
−
−
−

(100)
−
−
−

(100)
(310)
(21,345)
(141)

65,200

−

71,536

136,736
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Loans to legal entities, that measured at amortised cost
Stage 2
Life-time
ECL (not
impaired)

Stage 1
12-month
ECL

Stage 3
Life-time
ECL
(impaired)

Purchased
or initially
impaired

Total

Balance as at 1 January 2018
Accrual/(release) of allowance for
expected credit losses
Adjustment of interest income
Write-off of assets
Recovery of assets previously
written off
Effect of modification
Reclassification of allowance due to
restructuring of asset resulted in
derecognition of financial
instrument
Foreign exchange differences

1,488,995

418

61,187,242

1,477,220

64,153,875

(355,144)
−
−

44,434
−
−

430,568
3,864,350
(11,035)

(208,135)
472,100
−

(88,277)
4,336,450
(11,035)

−
(634)

−
1

8
(2,284,183)

−
938

8
(2,283,878)

−
(22,954)

−
(10,030)

(4,729,345)
(1,120,255)

(115,399)
(85)

(4,844,744)
(1,153,324)

Balance as at 31 December 2018

1,110,263

34,823

57,337,350

1,626,639

60,109,075

New assets
Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3
Repaid assets
Other changes
Accrual/(release) of allowance for
expected credit losses

69,444
23,420
(23,095)
(84,387)
(68,259)
(874,845)

−
(22,140)
24,881
(961)
(10,784)
33,266

−
(1,280)
(1,786)
85,348
(910,650)
2,374,189

(46,177)
−
−
−
(240,007)
532,215

23,267
−
−
−
(1,229,700)
2,064,825

(957,722)

24,262

1,545,821

246,031

858,392

Adjustment of interest income
Write-off of assets
Recovery of assets previously
written off
Effect of modification
Reclassification of allowance due to
restructuring of asset resulted in
derecognition of financial
instrument
Foreign exchange differences

−
−

−
−

3,122,950
(7,388)

84,783
−

3,207,733
(7,388)

−
52,714

−
(4,160)

−
(5,874)

−
2,861

−
45,541

−
(34,216)

−
(37,068)

(555,599)
(7,895,875)

(1,524,469)
(3,697)

(2,080,068)
(7,970,856)

Balance as at 31 December 2019

171,039

17,857

53,541,385

432,148

54,162,429

Gross carrying value of loans to legal entities in 2019 decreased by UAH 11,875,281 thousand due to
strengthening of the national currency, that was followed by a decrease in allowance in the amount of
UAH 7,970,856 thousand.
During 2019, loans assessed in Stage 3 with a gross carrying amount of UAH 1,288,261 thousand, for which
allowance for expected credit losses, including interest income, was recorded in the amount of UAH 555,599
thousand, as well as loans classified as POCI, with a gross carrying amount of UAH 3,756,694 thousand, for
which allowance for expected credit losses, including interest income, was recorded in the amount of
UAH 1,524,469 thousand and, accordingly, the amount of initial impairment (discount) amounted to
UAH 2,005,949 thousand, were restructured. As a result of the restructuring, new loans classified as POCI
were recognized with a carrying amount of UAH 2,930,609 thousand, including an initial impairment (discount)
of UAH 4,130,698 thousand.
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Loans to individuals measured at amortised cost
Stage 2
Life-time ECL
(not impaired)

Stage 3
Life-time ECL
(impaired)

Purchased or
initially
impaired

83,907

18,559

3,287,379

−

3,389,845

66,528
−
−

16,753
−
−

104,324
18,493
(26,748)

−
−
−

187,605
18,493
(26,748)

Stage 1
12-month ECL

Total

Balance as at 1 January 2018
Accrual/(release) of allowance for
expected credit losses
Adjustment of interest income
Write-off of assets
Recovery of assets previously
written off
Effect of modification
Reclassification of allowance due to
restructuring of asset resulted in
derecognition of financial
instrument
Foreign exchange differences

−
−

−
−

−
1,541

−
−

−
1,541

−
(2,019)

−
(41)

−
(36,386)

−
−

−
(38,446)

Balance as at 31 December 2018

148,416

35,271

3,348,603

−

3,532,290

New assets
Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3
Repaid assets
Other changes
Accrual/(release) of allowance for
expected credit losses

128,793
138,900
(39,224)
(62,596)
(26,026)
(152,169)

−
(8,977)
48,012
(20,323)
(3,588)
19,204

−
(129,923)
(8,788)
82,919
(74,130)
112,606

−
−
−
−
−
−

128,793
−
−
−
(103,744)
(20,359)

(12,322)

34,328

(17,316)

−

4,690

Adjustment of interest income
Write-off of assets
Recovery of assets previously
written off
Effect of modification
Reclassification of allowance due to
restructuring of asset resulted in
derecognition of financial
instrument
Foreign exchange differences

−
−

−
−

55,486
(22,199)

−
−

55,486
(22,199)

−
1,203

−
17

3
(18)

−
−

3
1,202

−
(48)

−
(10)

−
(253,803)

−
−

−
(253,861)

137,249

69,606

3,110,756

−

3,317,611

Balance as at 31 December 2019

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the amount of the initial impairment loss for purchased or originated
credit-impaired loans recognized at origination, which is not included in the allowance, comprised
UAH 10,672,992 thousand and UAH 7,777,100 thousand, respectively.
As at 31 December 2019, loans to customers issued in 2019 amounted to UAH 14,770,370 thousand and as
at 31 December 2018 loans to customers issued in 2018 amounted to UAH 12,366,100 thousand (12% of
loans granted to customers as at 31 December 2019 and 9% of loans granted to customers as at
31 December 2018).
As at 31 December 2019, loans to customers amounting to UAH 11,024,709 thousand have been fully
repaid, representing 8% of loans to customers as at 1 January 2019 and as at 31 December 2018
UAH 7,385,463 thousand, representing 6% of loans to customers as at 1 January 2018.
As at 31 December 2019, loans to customers overdue for more than 90 days (NPLs − non-performing loans)
amounted to UAH 59,767,650 thousand representing 49% of the total amount of loans to customers before
deducting allowance for expected credit losses (as at 31 December 2018 amounted to
UAH 68,613,182 thousand, representing 52% of the total amount of loans to customers before deducting
allowance for expected credit losses); including loans to customers of the Crimean Republican Branch,
amounted to UAH 21,978,137 thousand (as at 31 December 2018 amounted to UAH 24,240,414 thousand).
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Without taking into account loans to customers of the Crimean Republican Branch, loans overdue for more
than 90 days comprised 38% (as at 31 December 2018 comprised 41%).
The Group expects that a significant part of loans (other than the loans granted to customers of the Crimean
Republican Branch and Regional Branches in Luhansk and Donetsk Regions located in the territories that are
not controlled by the Ukrainian authorities), which are overdue for more than 90 days, will be repaid either by
the proceeds from the borrowers’ own earnings or proceeds from the sale of collateral. Such expectations are
based on the fact that a considerable part of overdue loans to legal entities are secured by marketable collateral
and granted to entities which have potential ability to restore their solvency. The Group’s ability to receive
payments on overdue loans to individuals is explained by the fact that these loans are mostly secured by real
estate or vehicles. Moreover, even if the value of collateral is not enough to repay the loan, the Group retains
the right to demand repayments from the borrowers until the loan is repaid in full.
Financial accounts receivable
Stage 3
Life-time ECL
(impaired)

Simplified ECL
approach by the
end of the term

Total

Balance as at 1 January 2018
Accrual/(release) of allowance for expected credit
losses
Write-off of assets
Foreign exchange differences

2,988,035

12,973

3,001,008

22,458
−
(4,301)

(4,463)
(32)
(145)

17,995
(32)
(4,446)

Balance as at 31 December 2018

3,006,192

8,333

3,014,525

(350,765)
−
(34,040)

19,228
(13)
(1,462)

(331,537)
(13)
(35,502)

(724,483)

−

(724,483)

1,896,904

26,086

1,922,990

Accrual/(release) of allowance for expected credit
losses
Write-off of assets
Foreign exchange differences
Reclassification of allowance as the result of
restructuring of asset
Balance as at 31 December 2019
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Guarantees and other loan commitments

Balance as at 1 January 2018
Accrual/(release) of allowance for
expected credit losses
Foreign exchange differences
Balance as at 31 December 2018
New assets
Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3
Repaid assets
Other changes
Accrual/(release) of allowance for
expected credit losses

Stage 1
12-month ECL
50,993

Stage 2
Life-time ECL
(not impaired)
885

Stage 3
Life-time ECL
(impaired)
109,145

Total
161,023

47,913
−

(58)
−

102,312
(95)

150,167
(95)

98,906

827

211,362

311,095

115,849
69,913
(2,349)
(20,568)
(27,513)
(48,830)

−
(343)
4,381
(34)
(218)
(963)

−
(69,570)
(2,032)
20,602
(21,235)
231,486

115,849
−
−
−
(48,966)
181,693

86,502

2,823

159,251

248,576

79

−

(33,053)

(32,974)

185,487

3,650

337,560

526,697

Foreign exchange differences
Balance as at 31 December 2019

Gross carrying value of financial instruments subject to the IFRS 9 impairment requirements by credit
risk exposure by Stages
For estimating the expected credit losses for the impaired financial assets subject to impairment requirements
under IFRS 9, the Bank allocates financial assets to five levels of risk, depending on the days overdue and
default signs, namely:

STAGE 1
STAGE 2
STAGE 3
STAGE 4
STAGE 5
(default)

Loans to
customers

Guarantees and
other credit
commitments

Agreement not
overdue (DPD = 0)
Agreement past
due 1-30 days
Agreement past
due 31-60 days
Agreement past
due 61-90 days
Agreement is in
default

Agreement not
overdue (DPD = 0)
Agreement past
due 1-30 days
Agreement past
due 31-60 days
Agreement past
due 61-90 days
Agreement is in
default

Financial
accounts
receivable
Agreement past
due (1-5 days)
Agreement past
due 6-30 days
Agreement past
due 31-60 days
Agreement past
due 61-90 days
Agreement is in
default

Due from banks

Investments

Agreement not
overdue (DPD = 0)
Agreement past
due 1-3 days
Agreement past
due 4-5 days
Agreement past
due 6-7 days
Agreement is in
default

Agreement not
overdue (DPD = 0)
Agreement past
due 1-10 days
Agreement past
due 11-20 days
Agreement past
due 21-30 days
Agreement is in
default

Due from banks
As at 31 December 2019
As at 31 December 2018
Stage 2
Stage 3
Stage 2
Stage 3
Stage 1
Life-time ECL Life-time ECL
Stage 1
Life-time ECL Life-time ECL
12-month ECL (not impaired) (impaired) 12-month ECL (not impaired) (impaired)
STAGE 1
STAGE 2
STAGE 3
STAGE 4
STAGE 5 (default)

20,268,888
−
−
−
−

−
−
−
−
−

−
−
−
−
3,980,437

Investments at amortised cost
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10,990,944
−
−
−
−

−
−
−
−
−

−
−
−
−
4,577,228
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As at 31 December 2019
As at 31 December 2018
Stage 2
Stage 3
Stage 2
Stage 3
Stage 1
Life-time ECL Life-time ECL
Stage 1
Life-time ECL Life-time ECL
12-month ECL (not impaired) (impaired) 12-month ECL (not impaired) (impaired)
STAGE 1
STAGE 2
STAGE 3
STAGE 4
STAGE 5 (default)

−
−
−
−
−

36,873,167
−
−
−
−

−
−
−
−
−

−
−
−
−
−

22,713,157
−
−
−
−

−
−
−
−
−

Investments at FVOCI
As at 31 December 2019
As at 31 December 2018
Stage 2
Stage 3
Stage 2
Stage 3
Stage 1
Life-time ECL Life-time ECL
Stage 1
Life-time ECL Life-time ECL
12-month ECL (not impaired) (impaired) 12-month ECL (not impaired) (impaired)
STAGE 1
STAGE 2
STAGE 3
STAGE 4
STAGE 5 (default)

−
−
−
−
−

37,815,748
−
−
−
−

−
−
−
−
−

−
−
−
−
−

52,622,220
−
−
−
−

−
−
−
−
−

Loans at amortised cost as at 31 December 2019
Stage 1
12-month ECL

Stage 2
Life-time ECL
(not impaired)

42,731,782
247,963
−
−
−

4,509,200
85,532
77,561
80,011
−

Stage 1
12-month ECL

Stage 2
Life-time ECL
(not impaired)

42,353,598
1,024,937
−
−
−

3,611,025
495,757
57,401
40,525
−

STAGE 1
STAGE 2
STAGE 3
STAGE 4
STAGE 5 (default)

Stage 3
Life-time ECL Purchased or
(impaired) initially impaired
−
−
−
−
66,704,103

−
−
−
−
5,362,300

Loans at amortised cost as at 31 December 2018

STAGE 1
STAGE 2
STAGE 3
STAGE 4
STAGE 5 (default)
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Stage 3
Life-time ECL Purchased or
(impaired) initially impaired
−
−
−
−
73,542,567

−
−
−
−
6,507,366
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Financial accounts receivable
As at 31 December 2019
As at 31 December 2018
Simplified
Simplified
Stage 3 life-time
approach
Stage 3 life-time
approach
ECL (impaired) Life-time ECL ECL (impaired) Life-time ECL
−
−
−
−
1,901,562

STAGE 1
STAGE 2
STAGE 3
STAGE 4
STAGE 5 (default)

176,644
11,933
1,965
24,393
-

−
−
−
−
3,007,055

188,612
4,374
2,331
2,065
-

Guarantees and other credit commitments as at 31 December 2019

STAGE 1
STAGE 2
STAGE 3
STAGE 4
STAGE 5 (default)

Stage 1
12-month ECL

Stage 2
Life-time ECL
(not impaired)

10,812,626
47,730
−
−
−

17,519
24,066
16,774
10,298
−

Stage 3
Life-time ECL Purchased or
(impaired) initially impaired
−
−
−
−
1,348,396

−
−
−
−
−

Guarantees and other credit commitments as at 31 December 2018
Stage 1
12-month ECL

Stage 2
Life-time ECL
(not impaired)

6,323,105
56,220
−
−
−

144,190
−
7,893
4,756
−

STAGE 1
STAGE 2
STAGE 3
STAGE 4
STAGE 5 (default)

Stage 3
Life-time ECL Purchased or
(impaired) initially impaired
−
−
−
−
2,020,512

−
−
−
−
−

Effect of modifications on financial assets
Effect of modifications on loans at amortised cost:
For the year
ended
31 December
2019
Amortised cost before modification
Net result from modifications on loans granted to customers (life-time ECL)
Gross carrying amount of loans for which loss allowance has changed to
12-month measurement during the period

For the year
ended
31 December
2018

5,183,292
(7,387)

7,720,187
(2,333,525)

13,305

2,763,298

The net result from the modifications of investment securities that are measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 amounted to UAH -34,138 thousand
and UAH 27,914 thousand, respectively.
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For the purpose of determining the expected credit losses for impairment of financial assets assessed on a
collective basis (excluding loans granted to government enterprises) and that are subject to impairment
requirements under IFRS 9, corporate loans and guarantees and other obligations to provide loans to legal
entities the Group applies internal credit ratings to determine significant increase in credit risk for borrowers.
Internal credit ratings are based on qualitative and quantitative criteria for a borrower. Quantitative criteria are
based on the financial statements of borrowers, while qualitative criteria cover the areas of management and
owners of borrowers, professionalism of organizations, external factors and their potential impact on the
borrower, information indicating difficulties with payment by the borrower in the recent past. Accordingly,
internal ratings are classified into four groups:
•

Credit ratings from “AAA” to “A” belong to the area of minimal risk − solvency allows to ensure timely and
full repayment of the principal amount of debt and interest. The counterparty has a long positive credit
history and no evidence of late payments to the Bank or other banks. Credit transactions with
counterparties do not involve significant risks.

•

Credit ratings from “BBB” to “B” − an area of acceptable (low) risk is characterized by a low probability of
losses, solvency of the counterparty allows to ensure timely and full repayment of principal and interest in
the absence of significant deterioration of the economic environment. The counterparty has a positive
credit history in the Bank or in other banks.

•

Credit ratings from “CCC” to “C” − high risk area − financial condition of the counterparty is good or
satisfactory, the credit rating is below standard and indicates an ability of the counterparty in most cases
to ensure timely and full repayment of principal and interest in a favorable economic situation. There is an
increased likelihood of late and/or incomplete loan repayment and interest payments. Counterparties
belonging to this group are hypersensitive to significant adverse changes in the economic environment. In
the past, there have been short-term delays in debt repayment.

•

Credit ratings from “DDD” to “D” - an area of critical risk / unacceptable risk − financial condition of the
counterparty is low or unsatisfactory and its solvency does not allow to ensure timely and full repayment
of the principal and interest. Repayment of principal amount of debt and interest is possible under
conditions of a significant increase in the counterparty's income and/or changes in the terms of lending or
refinancing of debt.

The Group allocates assets as of 31 December 2019 as follows:

Loans to legal entities
А-ААА
B-BBB
C-CCC
D-DDD
Impaired
Allowance for expected credit
losses as at 31 December 2019
Net carrying value as at
31 December 2019

Stage 1
12-month ECL

Stage 2
Life-time ECL
(not impaired)

Stage 3
Life-time ECL
(impaired)

Purchased or
initially
impaired loans

7,331,660
8,562,491
341,353
205,396
−

2,624
1,469,477
1,967,821
1,100,758
−

−
−
−
−
63,500,409

−
−
−
−
5,362,300

(68,210)

(17,857)

(53,541,385)

(432,148)

16,372,690

4,522,823

9,959,024

4,930,152
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Guarantees and other obligations
to provide loans to legal entities
А-ААА
B-BBB
C-CCC
D-DDD
Impaired
Allowance for expected credit
losses as at 31 December 2019
Net carrying value as at
31 December 2019

Stage 1
12-month ECL

Stage 2
Life-time ECL
(not impaired)

Stage 3
Life-time ECL
(impaired)

Purchased or
initially
impaired loans

741,893
351,423
93,093
16,451
−

−
−
9,802
7,617
−

−
−
−
−
1,307 663

−
−
−
−
−

(2,241)

(15)

(329,122)

−

1,200,619

17,404

978,541

−

The Group allocates assets as at 31 December 2018 as follows:
Stage 1
12-month ECL

Stage 2
Life-time ECL
(not impaired)

Stage 3
Life-time ECL
(impaired)

2,919,019
7,684,237
7,206,393
80,189
−

820
6,214
2,723,334
1,336,023
−

−
−
−
−
69,931,909

−
−
−
−
6,507,366

(192,552)

(34,823)

(57,337,350)

(1,626,639)

17,697,286

4,031,568

12,594,559

4,880,727

Guarantees and other obligations to
Stage 1
provide loans to legal entities
12-month ECL

Stage 2
Life-time ECL
(not impaired)

Stage 3
Life-time ECL
(impaired)

229,474
221,525
10,399
45,203
−

−
−
76,893
67,298
−

−
−
−
−
1,459,387

−
−
−
−
−

(3,275)

(18)

(114,119)

−

503,326

144,173

1,345,268

−

Loans to legal entities
А-ААА
B-BBB
C-CCC
D-DDD
Impaired
Allowance for expected credit
losses as at 31 December 2018
Net carrying value as at
31 December 2018

А-ААА
B-BBB
C-CCC
D-DDD
Impaired
Allowance for expected credit
losses as at 31 December 2018
Net carrying value as at
31 December 2018

Purchased or
initially impaired
loans

Purchased or
initially impaired
loans

As at 31 December 2019, for loans to state corporations with a gross carrying amount of
UAH 19,072,172 thousand, off-balance sheet commitments to state corporations amounting to
UAH 44,917 thousand, investments at amortized cost with carrying amount of UAH 25,205,231 thousand,
investments at fair value through other comprehensive income with carrying amount of
UAH 32,854,445 thousand to determine PD and ECL the Group applies the sovereign rating of Ukraine
assigned by the international rating agency «Moody's». In the reporting period, the Group introduced changes
to the approach of determining PD value in terms of adjusting the rating value in accordance with the national
scale of the rating agency defined for issuers of Ukraine. These changes led to a decrease in the allowance
for expected credit losses in the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income in
the amount of UAH 1,217,829 thousand.
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The following table represents classification of due from banks according to the credit ratings of international
rating agencies as at 31 December 2019:

Due from banks

Stage 1
12-month ECL

Stage 2
Life-time ECL
(not impaired)

Stage 3
Life-time ECL
(impaired)

AAA-ABBB-BBelow BNo rating
Impaired
Allowance for expected credit losses as at
31 December 2019

15,975,250
3,650,810
12
642,816
−

−
−
−
−
−

−
−
−
3,980,437
−

(45,587)

−

(3,980,437)

Net carrying value as at 31 December 2019

20,223,301

−

−

As at 31 December 2018:

Due from banks
AAA-ABBB-BBelow BNo rating
Impaired
Allowance for expected credit losses as at
31 December 2018
Net carrying value as at 31 December 2018

Stage 1
12-month ECL
2,045,568
8,232,921
323,792
388,663
−

Stage 2
Life-time ECL
(not impaired)

Stage 3
Life-time ECL
(impaired)
−
−
−
−
−

−
−
−
−
4,577,228

(25,012)

−

(4,577,228)

10,965,932

−

−

Effect of security
The Group’s credit policy implies the compliance with a conservative lending principle – loans shall be secured.
The estimate of the expected credit losses on collateralised financial instruments includes the amounts and
timing of the cash flows expected from foreclosure, less discounted costs for receiving and disposing of
collateral (the Group takes into account the probability of the foreclosure and the cash flows resulting from
that). Accordingly, any cash flows expected from the sale of collateral after the contractual maturity date are
included in the analysis. The loan portfolio of the Group is secured with the following types of collateral:
vehicles, equipment and other movable property and the property rights thereto, real estate and property rights
thereto, integral property complexes, government debt securities and guarantees issued by the government
bodies, property rights to funds in cash, while some part of the Group’s loan portfolio is not secured.
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The impact of collateral on the improvement of the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk in
terms of financial assets types carried at amortised cost and at fair value through other comprehensive income
is presented as follows:
As at 31 December 2018
Net carrying
Collateral
value
value
Due from banks
Loans to customers:
- corporate customers
- individuals
Investments
Financial accounts receivable
Total

As at 31 December 2018
Net carrying
Collateral
value
value

20,223,301
62,318,412
54,754,034
7,564,378
74,625,259
193,507

−
30,050,070
26,003,117
4,046,953
−
−

10,965,932
63,991,811
58,579 995
5,411,816
74,964,736
189 912

−
31,261,899
28,747,584
2,514,315
−
−

157,360,479

30,050,070

150,112,391

31,261,899

Collateral value used while calculating the allowance for expected credit losses is the collateral fair value,
adjusted for the liquidity ratios and costs for the property sale, and discounted to reflect time value of money.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the net carrying value of the credit-impaired loans amounted to
UAH 14,982,113 thousand and UAH 17,737,342 thousand, respectively and the collateral value (vehicles,
equipment and other movable property, real estate, integral property complexes, property rights to cash, and
other types of collateral), used in calculating the allowance for expected credit losses, was
UAH 8,759,043 thousand and UAH 10,617,016 thousand, respectively.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the guarantees and other credit commitments (including revocable credit
commitments, but excluding performance guarantees), net of allowance for expected credit losses amounted
to UAH 21,365,545 thousand and UAH 17,486,550 thousand, respectively, and the collateral value (vehicles,
equipment, other movable/immovable property, property rights to cash, and other types of collateral) used in
the calculation of the allowance for expected credit losses amounted to UAH 1,412,876 thousand and
UAH 2,360,285 thousand, respectively.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the carrying value of loans at fair value through profit or loss amounted to
UAH 2,849,932 thousand and UAH 3,551,365 thousand, respectively. The collateral used to reduce the credit
risk for these loans as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 (vehicles, equipment and other movable property, real
estate, integral property complexes, and other types of collateral) was provided in the amount of
UAH 1,251,183 thousand and UAH 1,398,161 thousand, respectively.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group had loans to customers with carrying amount of
UAH 7,215,731 thousand and UAH 5,033,492 thousand, respectively, for which no allowance for expected
credit losses was recognised due to availability of sufficient collateral to cover the risk.
Concentration risk
Concentration risk is determined by the Group as the risk of possible losses due to concentration of risk in
specific instruments, operations, and industries.
Joint Stock Company “State Savings Bank of Ukraine” is one of the largest state-owned banks of Ukraine,
and specific character of its activities is related to a significant scale of operations with state-owned companies,
including according to government programs, resulting in a significant concentration of credit and investment
risks in relation to certain counterparties and groups of related counterparties and industries.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, 65% of the assets and 28% and 15%, respectively, of the liabilities were
concentrated in transactions with the Group related parties. The related party operations include mainly
transactions with the Government and entities related to the Government.
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The Group manages concentration risk in the loan and investment portfolios by setting limits for certain
counterparties and groups of counterparties. A detailed description of this process is provided above in the
credit risk section. The Group also uses limits based on the NBU requirements to manage the risk.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, concentration of assets per one counterparty, the related state-owned
entity National Joint Stock Company “Naftogaz of Ukraine”, amounted to 5% and 7%, respectively.
An analysis of concentration of assets and liabilities by currencies, maturity, and geography is disclosed in the
respective sections of the risk management disclosures.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises from the mismatch in timing and amounts of cash inflows and outflows which may result in
losses, reduction in revenue or decrease the market value of the Group's capital as a result of failure of the
Group to cover its cash requirements to fully meet its financial obligations on a timely manner and with minimal
losses.
In order to manage liquidity risk, the Group performs consistent monitoring of future expected cash flows of
clients and banking operations, which is a part of assets/liabilities management process.
The main purpose of liquidity risk management is to ensure availability of sufficient amount of liquid assets to
meet current and planned needs while optimizing the Group expenses associated with the provision of the
required amount of liquid assets. Liquidity risk management is also aimed to ensure the Group's ability to cover
cash outflow for the crisis scenario (in the case of a systemic crisis, or close to a systemic liquidity crisis).
Identification and assessment of liquidity risk is based on:
•

Analysis of cash flows;

•

Analysis of liquidity gaps;

•

Analysis of the concentration of assets and liabilities;

•

Analysis of scenarios, including scenarios for emergency situations modeling abnormal market behavior;

•

Analysis of the situation on the financial market in the context of a particular financial instruments.

On a monthly basis, the Assets and Liability Management Committee analyses funding sources taking into
account changes in interest rates for the previous month and makes respective decisions for assets and liability
management.
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The analysis of liquidity gap based on the carrying value of financial assets and liabilities is presented in
the following table. Liquidity analysis is based on estimated cash flows. Certain amounts that are shown in the
table are estimates and can change.
From 3
months to
1 year

From 1 to
3 months

Non-derivative financial assets
Due from banks
Loans to customers
Investments

20,138,171
2,594,268
23,745,172

4,100
4,309,883
18,098,770

36,050
15,395,724
5,887,270

−
33,627,860
43,970,309

−
9,240,609
21,502,136

−
−
−

20,178,321
65,168,344
113,203,657

Total interest bearing assets

46,477,611

22,412,753

21,319,044

77,598,169

30,742,745

−

198,550,322

36,692,395
100
−
7,861

−
−
−
176,437

−
44,880
−
1,779

−
−
−
5,001

−
−
−
2,429

−
−
412,526
−

36,692,395
44,980
412,526
193,507

83,177,967

22,589,190

21,365,703

77,603,170

30,745,174

412,526

235,893,730

58,040
131,958,710
−
14,495
30,613
1,279,678

−
25,735,675
7,293,491
375,780
41,627
−

−
43,309,642
1,437,280
625,352
154,875
147,870

−
1,061,651
8,975,954
3,269,143
217,036
1,035,092

−
77,256
597,152
145,313
21,060
−

−
−
−
−
−
−

58,040
202,142,934
18,303,877
4,430,083
465,211
2,462,640

Total interest bearing liabilities 133,341,536

33,446,573

45,675,019

14,558,876

840,781

−

227,862,785

620,446

28

233

449

3,069

−

624,225

133,961,982

33,446,601

45,675,252

14,559,325

843,850

−

228,487,010

Liquidity gap between nonderivative financial assets and
liabilities
(50,784,015)

(10,857,411)

(24,309,549)

63,043,845

29,901,324

412,526

Liquidity gap between interest
bearing assets and interest
bearing liabilities

(86,863,925)

(11,033,820)

(24,355,975)

63,039,293

29,901,964

Cumulative liquidity gap
between interest bearing
assets and interest bearing
liabilities
(86,863,925)
Cumulative interest sensitivity
gap as a percentage of total
assets
-34,9%

(97,897,745)

(122,253,720)

(59,214,427)

(29,312,463)

-39,3%

-49,1%

-23,8%

-11,8%

Aggregated liquidity gap

(50,784,015)

(10,857,411)

(24,309,549)

63,043,845

29,901,324

412,526

Cumulative liquidity gap

(50,784,015)

(61,641,426)

(85,950,975)

(22,907,130)

6,994,194

7,406,720

Cash and balances with
the National Bank of Ukraine
Due from banks
Investments
Other financial assets
Total non-derivative financial
assets
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Due to banks
Customer accounts
Eurobonds issued
Other borrowed funds
Lease liabilities
Subordinated debt

Other financial liabilities
Total non-derivative financial
liabilities
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Up to
1 month

From 1 to
3 months

From 3
months to
1 year

From
1 to 5 years

Over
5 years

Maturity
undefined

31 December
2018
Total

Non-derivative financial assets
Due from banks
Loans to customers
Investments

10,878,238
1,995,330
14,486,461

31,980
4,727,434
9,363,390

1,700
14,340,433
22,857,536

−
38,258,914
25,194,535

−
8,221,065
44,654,746

−
−
−

10,911,918
67,543,176
116,556,668

Total interest bearing assets

27,360,029

14,122,804

37,199,669

63,453,449

52,875,811

−

195,011,762

10,600,815
−
−
74,466

−
−
−
2

−
100
−
6

−
53,914
−
7

−
−
−
115,431

−
−
33,570
−

10,600,815
54,014
33,570
189 912

38,035,310

14,122,806

37,199,775

63,507,370

52,991,242

33,570

205,890,073

Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Due to banks
Customer accounts
Eurobonds issued
Other borrowed funds
Subordinated debt

54,074
88,598,103
−
16,836
117,098

−
24,145,837
12,665,252
457,994
−

−
38,808,079
977,659
987,842
−

−
2,403,817
18,750,553
4,209,291
2,590,024

−
60,611
2,103,230
946,771
172,668

−
−
−
−
−

54,074
154,016,447
34,496,694
6,618,734
2,879,790

Total interest bearing liabilities

88,786,111

37,269,083

40,773,580

27,953,685

3,283,280

−

198,065,739

387,755

142

25

49

187

−

388,158

89,173,866

37,269,225

40,773,605

27,953,734

3,283,467

−

198,453,897

Liquidity gap between nonderivative financial assets and
liabilities
(51,138,556)

(23,146,419)

(3,573,830)

35,553,636

49,707,775

33,570

Liquidity gap between interest
bearing assets and interest
bearing liabilities

(61,426,082)

(23,146,279)

(3,573,911)

35,499,764

49,592,531

Cumulative liquidity gap
between interest bearing
assets and interest bearing
liabilities
(61,426,082)
Cumulative interest sensitivity
gap as a percentage of total
assets
-28,2%

(84,572,361)

(88,146,272)

(52,646,508)

(3,053,977)

-38,8%

-40,5%

-24,2%

-1,4%

Aggregated liquidity gap

(51,138,556)

(23,146,419)

(3,573,830)

35,553,636

49,707,775

33,570

Cumulative liquidity gap

(51,138,556)

(74,284,975)

(77,858,805)

(42,305,169)

7,402,606

7,436,176

Cash and balances with
the National Bank of Ukraine
Due from banks
Investments
Other financial assets
Total non-derivative financial
assets

Other financial liabilities
Total non-derivative financial
liabilities

The Group’s liquidity risk management includes estimate of the core current accounts, i.e. permanent balances
of the customers’ accounts, using the statistical methods applied to the historical information on fluctuations
of the customer accounts balances. As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the permanent balances on the current
accounts were estimated at UAH 34,215,447 thousand and UAH 28,907,967 thousand, respectively. Based
on a going concern assumption, the effective maturity of the core current accounts is considered to be
indefinite.
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Information as to the expected periods of customers’ accounts repayment and effective liquidity gaps as at
31 December 2019 and 2018 is presented below:
Up to
1 month

From 1 to
3 months

From
3 months
to 1 year

From 1 to
5 years

Total non-derivative
financial assets

83,177,967

22,589,190

21,365,703

77,603,170

30,745,174

412,526

235,893,730

Total non-derivative
financial liabilities

133,961,982

33,446,601

45,675,252

14,559,325

843,850

−

228,487,010

Liquidity gap

(50,784,015)

(10,857,411)

(24,309,549)

63,043,845

29 901,324

412,526

97,743,263

25,735,675

43,309,642

1,061,651

77,256

34,215,447

(16,568,568)

(10,857,411)

(24,309,549)

63,043,845

29 901,324

(33,802,921)

Cumulative liquidity gap
based on expected
withdrawal dates for
current customer
accounts
(16,568,568)

(27,425,979)

(51,735,528)

11,308,317

41,209,641

7,406,720

Up to
1 month

From 1 to
3 months

From
3 months
to 1 year

From 1 to
5 years

Total non-derivative
financial assets

38,035,310

14,122,806

37,199,775

63,507,370

52,991,242

33,570

205,890,073

Total non-derivative
financial liabilities

89,173,866

37,269,225

40,773,605

27,953,734

3,283,467

−

198,453,897

(51,138,556)

(23,146,419)

(3,573,830)

35,553,636

49,707,775

33,570

59,690,136

24,145,837

38,808,079

2,403,817

60,611

28,907,967

(22,230,589)

(23,146,419)

(3,573,830)

35,553,636

49,707,775

(28,874,397)

Cumulative liquidity gap
based on expected
withdrawal dates for
current customer
accounts
(22,230,589)

(45,377,008)

(48,950,838)

(13,397,202)

36,310,573

7,436,176

Current customer accounts
analysed based
on expected withdrawal
dates
Liquidity gap based on
expected withdrawal
dates for current
customer accounts

Liquidity gap
Current customer accounts
analysed based
on expected withdrawal
dates
Liquidity gap based on
expected withdrawal
dates for current
customer accounts

Over
5 years

Over
5 years

31 December
2019
Total

Maturity
undefined

202,142,934

31 December
2018
Total

Maturity
undefined

154,016,447

The Group management believes that the liquidity gap based on the expected maturities of customer accounts
of “Up to One Year” as at 31 December 2019 is controllable and does not present a threat to the Group’s ability
to settle its obligations on a timely basis and in full.
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As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s secondary liquidity reserve amounted to UAH 54,930,493 thousand,
which represented the following securities with a maturity greater than one year:
•

Unencumbered government debt securities at fair value through profit or loss. Necessary funds can be
obtained through the sale of these securities or from a refinancing loan from the NBU secured with these
securities. As at 31 December 2019, the fair value of such securities was UAH 30,231,408 thousand
(including interest accrued of UAH 352,096 thousand);

•

Unencumbered government debt securities measured at FVOCI. Necessary funds can be obtained
through the sale of these securities or from a refinancing loan from the NBU secured by these securities.
As at 31 December 2019, the fair value of such securities was UAH 10,729,882 thousand (including
interest accrued of UAH 169,061 thousand);

•

Unencumbered government debt securities accounted at amortised cost, which can be used as collateral
to obtain a refinancing loan from the NBU. As at 31 December 2019, the carrying value of such securities
was UAH 13,969,203 thousand (including interest accrued of UAH 231,367 thousand).

The above securities included in secondary liquidity reserves cover the cumulative liquidity gap in the period
of up to one year.
A further analysis of the liquidity by maturities of financial liabilities covers the remaining undiscounted
contractual cash flows (including future interest payments) that are not recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at the reporting date. The amounts disclosed in these tables do not correspond
to the amounts recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position in the amount of interest to be paid
subsequent to the reporting date and which are not accounted for on accounts of accrued interest at the
reporting date, as well as unamortised discount/premium.
Up to
1 month
Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Due to banks
58,040
Customer accounts
132,164,514
Eurobonds issued
−
Other borrowed funds
14,621
Lease liabilities
29,278
Subordinated debt
1,291,771
Total non-derivative
interest bearing liabilities 133,558,224

From 1 to
3 months

From
3 months
to 1 year

From 1 to
5 years

31 December
2019
Total

−
26,474,228
7,592,537
395,358
43,115
−

−
44,901,739
1,939,308
746,264
176,749
201,769

−
1,168,411
10,719,116
3,590,553
328,435
1,224,329

−
287,437
620,652
149,583
58,718
−

58,040
204,996,329
20,871,613
4,896,379
636,295
2,717,869

34,505,238

47,965,829

17,030,844

1,116,390

234,176,525

28

233

449

3,069

602,043

Over
5 years

Other financial liabilities
(except for lease liabilities)
598,264
Irrevocable loan
commitments
10,026,764
Guarantees
1,353,037
Letters of credit
897,608
Total non-derivative
financial liabilities
146,433,897

−
−
−

−
−
−

−
−
−

−
−
−

10,026,764
1,353,037
897,608

34,505,266

47,966,062

17,031,293

1,119,459

247,055,977

Total financial liabilities

34,505,266

47,966,062

17,031,293

1,119,459

247,055,977

146,433,897
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Non-derivative financial
liabilities
Due to banks
Customer accounts
Eurobonds issued
Other borrowed funds
Subordinated debt
Total non-derivative
interest bearing liabilities

Up to
1 month

From 1 to
3 months

From
3 months
to 1 year

From 1 to
5 years

Over
5 years

31 December
2018
Total

54,074
88,802,264
−
16,988
130,109

−
24,837,614
13,203,841
488,100
−

−
40,299 940
1,998,747
1,158,877
130,109

−
2,502,740
22,121,625
4,758,197
3,010,497

−
286,136
2,276,494
983,432
181,183

54,074
156,728,694
39,600,707
7,405,594
3,451,898

89,003,435

38,529,555

43,587,673

32,393,059

3,727,245

207,240,967

387,755

142

25

49

187

388,158

Other financial liabilities
(except for profit share
payment commitment
liabilities)
Irrevocable loan
commitments
Guarantees
Letters of credit
Total non-derivative
financial liabilities

6,645,692
854,932
1,056,052

−
−
−

−
−
−

−
−
−

−
−
−

6,645,692
854,932
1,056,052

97,947,866

38,529,697

43,587,698

32,393,108

3,727,432

216,185,801

Total financial liabilities

97,947,866

38,529,697

43,587,698

32,393,108

3,727,432

216,185,801

Market risks
The Group considers the following risks within market risks: currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk.
Interest rate risk
The main activity of the Group includes attracting/placement of interest-bearing liabilities/assets, consequently,
interest rate risk is one of the major financial risks faced by the Group. Interest rate risk arises from the
possibility of adverse changes in market interest rates that have a negative impact on interest income/capital
of the Group.
The main goal of interest rate risk management is to limit the adverse effects of changes in interest rates on
the financial result and capital of the Group.
Interest rate risk is primarily managed by setting and reviewing the yield curve on attraction/placement and
setting target interest spread value. To ensure the budgeted net interest income and the targeted interest
spread value, the Group manages structure of its consolidated statement of financial position, including
interest-bearing assets and liabilities, with focus on optimal balance of interest rate risk and return.
Interest rate risk is managed by using the following methods and tools:
•

Setting and revising the yield curve of the attraction and placement by currency;

•

Setting limits and restrictions on banking transactions;

•

Setting interest spread as the key performance indicator of the Group;

•

Managing structural balance of the Group;

•

Analysis of possible scenarios and modelling;

•

Analysis of interest rate GAP;

•

Duration method.
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The Assets and Liabilities Management Committee manages interest rate change and market risks by
matching the Bank’s interest rate position, which allows the Bank to perform transactions with a positive
interest margin. The Assets and Liabilities Management Committee monitors the Group’s current financial
performance, estimates the Group’s sensitivity to changes in interest rates and their effect on the Group’s
profitability.
The following table presents an analysis of interest rate risk and its influence on the Group’s profitability.
Average interest rates are presented by categories of financial assets and liabilities to determine interest rate
exposure and effectiveness of the interest rate policy used by the Group.
31 December 2019
USD
EUR
%
%

UAH
%
Assets
Due from banks
Loans to customers
Investments:
Ukrainian government indexed debt securities
Other Ukrainian government debt securities
Other securities
Liabilities
Due to banks
Customer accounts:
Current accounts
Deposits
Eurobonds issued
Other borrowed funds
Lease liabilities
Subordinated debt

0.01
12.63

0.47
9.99

-0.44
9.44

-0.03
−

5.86
12.60
14.93

−
5.64
−

−
−
−

−
−
−

−

−

−

−

4.04
14.62
−
14.96
19.46
−

0.65
3.88
9.54
5.87
7.81
9.07

0.25
2.44
−
4.17
−
−

−
1.05
−
−
−
−

31 December 2018
USD
EUR
%
%

UAH
%
Assets
Due from banks
Loans to customers
Investments:
Ukrainian government indexed debt securities
Other Ukrainian government debt securities
Other securities
Liabilities
Due to banks
Customer accounts:
Current accounts
Deposits
Eurobonds issued
Other borrowed funds
Subordinated debt

Other
%

Other
%

1.56
14.25

1.40
10.09

−
9.94

−
−

5.86
14.37
16.55

−
5.23

−
4.23

−
−

−

−

−

−

3.35
14.64
−
13.46
−

1.71
3.93
9.48
5.64
9.40

1.57
2.52
−
4.20
−

0.46
0.96
−
−
−

Majority of the Group’s loan and other financial assets and liabilities contracts contain clauses enabling change
in interest rate at the request of the lender. The Group constantly monitors its interest rate margin and does
not consider itself exposed to significant interest rate risk or consequential cash flow risk.
The following table presents a sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk, which has been determined based on
reasonably possible changes in the risk variable. The level of those changes is determined by management
and is disclosed in the risk reports provided to the key management personnel.
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The sensitivity of the Group’s financial result to possible change of interest rate on financial instruments
measured at fair value is presented below:
As at 31 December 2019
Change in profit/loss
Change in capital
Interest
Interest
Interest
Interest
rate
rate
rate
rate
+1%
-1%
+1%
-1%
Ukrainian government indexed debt securities
at fair value through profit or loss
Ukrainian government debt securities at fair
value through other comprehensive income
Other securities at fair value through profit or
loss
Other securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Loans measured at fair value through profit or
loss
Total

(1,910,862)

2,047,517

−

−

−

−

(220,099)

226,408

−

−

−

−

−

−

(22,617)

23,172

(107,276)

110,036

−

−

(2,018,138)

2,157,553

(242,716)

249,580

As at 31 December 2018
Change in profit/loss
Change in capital
Interest
Interest
Interest
Interest
rate
rate
rate
rate
+1%
-1%
+1%
-1%
Government securities with indexed value
measured at fair value through profit or
loss
Ukrainian government indexed debt securities
at fair value through profit or loss
Ukrainian government debt securities at fair
value through other comprehensive income
Other securities at fair value through profit or
loss
Other securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Total

(2,322,822)

2,505,343

−

−

−

−

(293,322)

313,807

(7,369)

7,435

−

−

−

−

(35,890)

36,820

(158,924)

171,942

−

−

(2,489,115)

2,684,720

(329,212)

350,627

The sensitivity of the Group‘s financial result to possible change of interest rate on floating interest rate
instruments is presented in the table below:
31 December 2019
Base rate

Change in profit and loss
Change of interest rate: +1 p.p. for UAH
Change of interest rate: -1 p.p. for UAH and
and +0,25 p.p. for foreign currency
-0,25 p.p. for foreign currency

Assets
ECBDF
EFF
USD LIBOR ON
NBU discount rate
Liabilities
UIRD 3m.
USD LIBOR 6m.
NBU discount rate

116,445
47
60
11,883
104,455
(7,515)
(500)
(5,922)
(1,093)

(62,295)
(47)
(60)
(11,883)
(50,305)
7,515
500
5,922
1,093

Total

108,930

(54,780)
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31 December 2018
Base rate

Change in profit and loss
Change of interest rate: +1 p.p. for UAH
Change of interest rate: -1 p.p. for UAH and
and +0,25 p.p. for foreign currency
-0,25 p.p. for foreign currency

Assets
ECBDF
EFF
EUR LIBOR ON
USD LIBOR ON
NBU discount rate
Liabilities
UIRD 3m.
USD LIBOR 12m.
USD LIBOR 6m.
NBU discount rate

151,561
6,898
10,693
2
13
133,955
(8,778)
(500)
(609)
(6,922)
(747)

(151,561)
(6,898)
(10,693)
(2)
(13)
(133,955)
8,778
500
609
6,922
747

Total

142,783

(142,783)

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the total impact on the Group's financial result with an increase in interest
rates by 1 p.p. in national currency and by 0.25 p.p. in US dollars and euros may be UAH +108,931 thousand
and UAH +142,783 thousand, respectively, when reducing rates by the appropriate amount, the impact on the
financial result may be UAH -54,781 thousand and UAH -142,783 thousand, respectively.
Currency risk
The Group performs transactions in various currencies and, therefore, might be exposed to the negative impact
of currency risk, which represents losses, reduction in revenue or decrease in the market value of the Group
capital as a result of unfavorable changes in foreign currency rates and precious metals market exchange
rates as a result of open currency positions.
The main purpose of currency risk management is to limit the negative impact of changes in exchange rates
on the Group’s financial result and equity. To this end, the Group manages currency position in individual
foreign currencies and precious metals to ensure the optimal balance between risk and yield.
Identification and assessment of currency risks is carried out based on:
•

Analysis of Group’s open currency positions;

•

VAR-assessment methodology for currency risks;

•

Concentration analysis;

•

Analysis of possible scenarios and modelling;

•

Stress testing.

The Currency Control Department, Treasury, and Strategic risk management and forecasting Department
monitor the Group’s open currency position on a daily basis. Based on the information prepared by the
Currency Control Department, Treasury, and Strategic risk management and forecasting Department, the
ALCO controls currency risk by managing the open currency position based on the estimates of UAH
devaluation and other macroeconomic indicators, which enables the Group to optimize risk of significant
fluctuations in exchange rates against the national currency.

93

Translation from Ukrainian original

JOINT STOCK COMPANY “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”
(former Public Joint Stock Company “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
(in thousands of UAH)

The Group exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk is presented in the table below:

UAH
Non-derivative financial assets
Cash and balances with the National
Bank of Ukraine
Due from banks
Loans to customers
Investments
Other financial assets

USD
USD 1 = UAH
23,6862

EUR
EUR 1 =
UAH 26,422

Other
foreign
currencies

31 December
2019
Total

11,269,460
1,523,229
39,095,305
48,295,883
128,207

25,057,622
15,901,550
17,304,771
65,320,300
40,710

338,889
2,663,246
8,768,268
−
24,586

26,424
135,276
−
−
4

36,692,395
20,223,301
65,168,344
113,616,183
193,507

Total non-derivative financial assets 100,312,084

123,624,953

11,794,989

161,704

235,893,730

1,860
104,040,588
−
51,540
889,619
−

18,017
90,824,717
18,303,877
1,076,593
199,810
2,462,640

13,633
7,244,490
−
3,301,950
7
−

24,530
33,139
−
−
−
−

58,040
202,142,934
18,303,877
4,430,083
1,089,436
2,462,640

104,983,607

112,885,654

10,560,080

57,669

228,487,010

(4,671,523)

10,739,299

1,234,909

104,035

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Due to banks
Customer accounts
Eurobonds issued
Other borrowed funds
Other financial liabilities
Subordinated debt
Total non-derivative financial
liabilities
Open position

UAH

USD
USD 1 = UAH
27.688264

EUR
EUR 1 =
UAH
31.714138

Other
foreign
currencies

31 December
2018
Total

Non-derivative financial assets
Cash and balances with the National
Bank of Ukraine
Due from banks
Loans to customers
Investments
Other financial assets

9,335,185
677,184
38,096,867
41,310,775
93,996

996,404
6,024,608
22,636,996
72,758,371
58,545

255,190
4,021,205
6,809,313
2,521,092
37,368

14,036
242,935
−
−
3

10,600,815
10,965,932
67,543,176
116,590,238
189 912

Total non-derivative financial assets

89,514,007

102,474,924

13,644,168

256,974

205,890,073

1,697
85,080,497
−
51,295
373,453
−

38,117
60,526,845
34,496,694
2,001,966
14,584
2,879,790

14,160
8,373,059
−
4,565,473
121
−

100
36,046
−
−
−
−

54,074
154,016,447
34,496,694
6,618,734
388,158
2,879,790

85,506,942

99 957,996

12,952,813

36,146

198,453,897

4,007,065

2,516,928

691,355

220,828

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Due to banks
Customer accounts
Eurobonds issued
Other borrowed funds
Other financial liabilities
Subordinated debt
Total non-derivative financial
liabilities
Open position

As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group is subject to individual currency position ratio set by the NBU.
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Currency risk sensitivity analysis
The table below details the Group’s sensitivity to increase/decrease in USD and EUR against UAH as a result
of possible changes in currency exchange rates. Sensitivity rate is used by the Group when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
possible change in foreign currency exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of the period for the appropriate
change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external loans within the Group where
the denomination of the loan is in a currency different from the currency of the lender or the borrower.
As at 31 December 2019
UAH/USD
UAH/USD
+10%
-5%
Effect on profit and equity

880,623

(440,311)

As at 31 December 2019
UAH/EUR
UAH/EUR
+10%
-5%
Effect on profit and equity

101,263

(50,631)

As at 31 December 2018
UAH/USD
UAH/USD
+10%
-5%
206,388

(103,194)

As at 31 December 2018
UAH/EUR
UAH/EUR
+10%
-5%
56,691

(28,346)

Limitations of sensitivity analysis
The above tables demonstrate the effect of a change in a key assumption, while other assumptions remain
unchanged. In reality, there is a correlation between the assumptions and other factors. It should also be noted
that these sensitivities are non-linear, and the obtained results should not be interpolated or extrapolated.
The sensitivity analyses do not take into consideration that the Group’s assets and liabilities are actively
managed. Additionally, the financial position of the Group may vary depending on actual market movements.
For example, the Group strategy in respect of financial risk management is aimed at optimizing the impact of
market fluctuations on the operations of the Group. In case of sharp negative price fluctuations on the stock
market, management actions could include selling investments, changing investment portfolio allocation and
taking other protective actions. Consequently, the actual impact of a change in the assumptions may not have
any impact on the liabilities, whereas assets that are held at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial
position may be affected significantly. In these circumstances, the different measurement bases for liabilities
and assets may lead to volatility in equity.
Other limitations in the above sensitivity analyses include the use of hypothetical market movements to
demonstrate potential risk that only represent the Group view of possible near-term market changes that
cannot be predicted with any certainty. Other limitation is the assumption that all interest rates move identically.

95

Translation from Ukrainian original

JOINT STOCK COMPANY “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”
(former Public Joint Stock Company “STATE SAVINGS BANK OF UKRAINE”)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019
(in thousands of UAH)

Geographical concentration
Geographical concentration of assets and liabilities is presented below:

Ukraine
Non-derivative financial assets
Cash and balances with the National Bank of Ukraine 36,692,395
Due from banks
1,942,954
Loans to customers
65,168,344
Investments
113,237,227
Other financial assets
193,507

Other
non-OECD
countries

OECD
countries

31 December
2019
Total

−
218
−
−
−

−
18,280,129
−
378,956
−

36,692,395
20,223,301
65,168,344
113,616,183
193,507

Total non-derivative financial assets

217,234,427

218

18,659,085

235,893,730

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Due to banks
Customer accounts
Eurobonds issued
Other borrowed funds
Other financial liabilities
Subordinated debt

31,573
201,753,381
−
250,790
1,066,481
−

1,337
249,002
−
−
−
−

25,130
140,551,
18,303,877
4,179,293
22,955
2,462,640

58,040
202,142,934
18,303,877
4,430,083
1,089,436
2,462,640

203,102,225

250,339

25,134,446

228,487,010

14,132,202

(250,121)

(6,475,361)

14,132,202

(250,121)

(6,475,361)

Total non-derivative financial liabilities
Net position on non-derivative financial
instruments
Net position

Ukraine
Non-derivative financial assets
Cash and balances with the National Bank of Ukraine 10,600,815
Due from banks
697,369
Loans to customers
67,543,167
Investments
116,590,238
Other financial assets
189 912

Other
non-OECD
countries

OECD
countries

31 December
2018
Total

−
347
−
−
−

−
10,268,216
9
−
−

10,600,815
10,965,932
67,543,176
116,590,238
189 912

Total non-derivative financial assets

195,621,501

347

10,268,225

205,890,073

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Due to banks
Customer accounts
Eurobonds issued
Other borrowed funds
Other financial liabilities
Subordinated debt

52,506
153,679,757
−
290,354
376,061
−

1,568
208,620
−
−
−
−

−
128,070
34,496,694
6,328,380
12,097
2,879,790

54,074
154,016,447
34,496,694
6,618,734
388,158
2,879,790

154,398,678

210,188

43,845,031

198,453,897

41,222,823

(209,841)

(33,576,806)

41,222,823

(209,841)

(33,576,806)

Total non-derivative financial liabilities
Net position on non-derivative financial
instruments
Net position

The Group’s activities are focused mainly on the domestic market.
Financial assets located in other countries represent funds on accounts with non-resident banks.
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The main proportion of financial liabilities raised from non-residents represent loans from international and
other financial organizations, subordinated debt in US dollars and other borrowings from residents of OECD
countries.
Price risk
The Group does not have a trading portfolio, therefore it is not exposed to price risk, which arises from changes
in price quotations due to changes in market conditions.
33.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Segment information refers to the services rendered within segments and is provided to the Group’s
management responsible for making operating decision on resources allocation and assessment of the
segments’ activities.
The following criteria are used for recognition of operating segments:
Operating segment is a consolidated component of an entity that is engaged in supplying specific product or
service (or group of interrelated products or services) from which it earns revenue and incurs risks that are
different from those related to other segments. The group of interrelated products or services, supplied
(provided) by the segment is combined based on the following criteria:
•

The nature of the products or services;

•

The nature of the production processes;

•

The type or class of customer for their products and services;

•

The methods used to distribute their products or provide their services;

•

The nature of the regulatory environment.

For the purposes of internal reporting to management, the Group’s operations are divided into the following
segments:
Corporate business
The Segment provides banking services (loans, deposits, cash and settlement services) to a wide range of
corporate clients, including large and medium sized companies, state owned companies, and a number of
budget institutions.
Retail business
This segment includes all banking services provided to individuals through an extensive branch network of the
Group, ATMs, IT services, 24/7 self-service zones, and through Web-banking “Oschad 24/7” and Mobile
banking “Oschad 24/7”.
Treasury
This segment includes the results of transactions with other banks (including the NBU), both in the national
and foreign currencies, and all assets and liabilities within the liquidity management policies of the Group.
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General management
This segment covers all non-customer transactions, assets and liabilities under the effective direct supervision
of the Group’s management and committees (ALCO, Finance Committee, etc.). Among other things, it
includes: property and equipment, strategic investments, long-term funding instruments (subordinated debt,
Eurobonds issued, other borrowed funds); equity remaining after distribution to other business segments.
Measuring segment profits and losses
Management accounting methodology used for preparing segment reports is somewhat different from the
methodology applied in preparing other financial statements. However, the information presented in the
segment reporting corresponds to the figures in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income prepared according to IFRS.
To measure net interest income of a segment, the Group uses a “transfer pricing” technique, under which
interest income and expenses of most items on the statement of financial position are compared with the
nominal market rate to calculate the deemed interest margin.
Operating expenses, including depreciation and amortization charges, are allocated directly to segments
whenever possible. For shared costs, the Group performs an expert assessment by using data about the
number of employees, volume of business and other criteria for allocating costs. Some operating expenses
that are non-recurring or one-time by origin (irregular or one-time) and are not directly related to the
transactions with customers are included in the General Management segment.
Equity is allocated among segments based on their average risk weighted assets. Unallocated equity is
included in the General Management segment.
In 2019 and 2018, the Group recognized interest income from one counterparty of UAH 7,752,434 thousand
and UAH 8,006,106 thousand, respectively, which represents 35% and 36% of the Group’s income,
respectively.
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Income, expense and results of reportable segments for 2019

Item
Income from external customers:
Interest income
Commission income
Net loss on transactions with financial
instruments at fair value through profit or loss
Net other income

Notes

General
management

Eliminations

Total

11,004,037
8,852,664
2,749,459

5,130,007
1,515,804
3,588,152

2,972,805
5,879,302
101,004

3,088,324
2,817,996
92

−
−
−

22,195,173
19,065,766
6,438,707

10
28

(641,895)
43,809

−
26,051

(3,007,501)
−

−
270,236

−
−

(3,649,396)
340,096

8,614,798
8,614,798

12,408,505
12,408,505

352,611
352,611

4,267,401
4,267,401

(25,643,315)
(25,643,315)

−
−

19,618,835

17,538,512

3,325,416

7,355,725

(25,643,315)

22,195,173

(12,374,096)

(7,815,970)

(10,356,808)

(8,663,658)

25,643,315

(13,567,217)

(761,497)

3,307

651,906

292,928

−

186,644

(225,641)

(1,057)

614

267,385

−

41,301

1,510
(1,609,344)
(2,724,853)

216,373
(590,393)
(6,148,145)

(4,232)
(31,899)
(324,304)

3,241,326
(4,066)
(623,756)

−
−
−

3,454,977
(2,235,702)
(9,821,058)

1,924,914

3,202,627

(6,739,307)

1,865,884

−

254,118

Total segments income

Segment result (before taxation)

Name of a reportable segment
Retail
business
Treasury

5
7

Income from other segments:
Interest income

Interest expense
Release of/ (charge for) allowance for expected
credit losses and losses on modification of
interest bearing assets
Release of/ (charge for) provision on other
balances
Net gain/ (loss) on foreign exchange
transactions
Fee and commission expense
Operating expense

Corporate
business

5

8
7
9
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Assets and liabilities of the reportable segments as at 31 December 2019

Item

Name of a reportable segment
Retail
business
Treasury

Corporate
business

General
management

Total

Segment assets

61,284,343

12,622,678

136,303,964

38,933,760

249,144,745

Segment liabilities

95,598,598

107,124,525

120,318

26,731,032

229,574,473

(468,288)

(874,480)

(53,584)

(99,204)

(1,495,556)

−
−

−
−

−
−

797,958
1,879,186

797,958
1,879,186

Other segment items:
Depreciation and amortization charges on property, equipment and intangible
assets
Revaluation reported during the year in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity
Capital investments
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Income, expense and results of reportable segments for 2018

Item
Income from external customers:
Interest income
Commission income
Net loss on transactions with financial
instruments at fair value through profit or loss
Net other income

Notes

General
management

Eliminations

Total

11,240,135
9,165,438
2,145,797

4,102,144
1,065,557
2,998,752

6,067,855
8,268,335
91,660

1,071,504
852,086
147

−
−
−

22,481,638
19,351,416
5,236,356

10
28

(118,109)
47 009

−
37,835

(2,292,714)
574

−
219,271

−
−

(2,410,823)
304,689

8,416,401
8,416,401

11,269,021
11,269,021

187,788
187,788

5,630,911
5,630,911

(25,504,121)
(25,504,121)

−
−

19,656,536

15,371,165

6,255,643

6,702,415

(25,504,121)

22,481,638

5

(12,327,978)

(7,168,036)

(10,697,623)

(9,206,562)

25,504,121

(13,896,078)

8
7
9

187,460
(87,885)
−
(1,198,935)
(1,951,844)

(183,975)
(99,290)
4,983
(548,305)
(5,826,368)

1,259,642
(159)
28,335
(24,096)
(269,234)

(135,761)
(19,536)
831,610
−
(520,378)

−
−
−
−
−

1,127,366
(206,870)
864,928
(1,771,336)
(8,567,824)

4,277,354

1,550,174

(3,447,492)

(2,348,212)

−

31,824

Total segments income

Segment result (before taxation)

Name of a reportable segment
Retail
business
Treasury

5
7

Income from other segments:
Interest income

Interest expense
Release of/ (charge for) allowance for expected
credit losses and losses on modification of
interest bearing assets
Сharge for provision on other balances
Net gain from foreign exchange operations
Fee and commission expense
Operating expense

Corporate
business
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Assets and liabilities of the reportable segments as at 31 December 2018

Item

Name of a reportable segment
Retail
business
Treasury

Corporate
business

General
management

Total

Segment assets

66,542,535

9,799,295

111,711,331

29,733,048

217,786,209

Segment liabilities

58,613,957

95,757,580

100,931

44,752,072

199,224,540

(305,643)

(688,619)

(46,911)

(94,314)

(1,135,487)

−
−

−
−

−
−

(2,615,072)
2,500,605

(2,615,072)
2,500,605

Other segment items:
Depreciation and amortization charges on property, equipment and intangible
assets
Revaluation reported during the year in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity
Capital investments
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34.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Following the reporting date, the Board of the National Bank of Ukraine adopted decisions to reduce the
interest rate from 13.5% per annum, established from 13 December 2019, to 11% per annum from
31 January 2020, to 10% per annum from 13 March 2020, and to 8% per annum from 24 April 2020,
respectively. The NBU continued to soften monetary policy and sustain the economy in Ukraine as the world
economy cooled.
At the same time, the spread of the coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19), which began in 2020, is expected to
lead to a recession in the global economy and a significant slowdown in economic activity in Ukraine. The
Government's introduction of a temporary restriction on business and social activity in March 2020, combined
with a significant decline in global demand, as well as a reassessment by investors of the risks of developing
countries, could negatively affect the economy and foreign trade of Ukraine, complicate the involvement of
financing, negatively affect the banking system countries and lead to a further devaluation of the national
currency against the major currencies. Thus, the official exchange rate of the hryvnia to the US dollar
decreased by 13.2% from UAH 23.6792 per US dollar as of 1 January 2020 to UAH 26.6792 hryvnia for the
15 May 2020.
Factors such as declining levels of liquidity and profitability of the corporate sector, including as a result of
temporary restriction on business activity, and the devaluation of the hryvnia against foreign currencies can
adversely affect the quality of servicing of the Group’s loan portfolio. The Group's management reviews the
loans for impairment in the light of the above risk factors and will reflect changes in reserves for expected
credit risks, if necessary, in subsequent reporting periods. At the same time, when calculating expected credit
losses as of 31 December 2019, the Group applied models containing macroeconomic forecasts available at
that date.
The stabilization of Ukraine’s economy in the near future depends on the slowdown in the spread of the
pandemic and the success of the Government’s actions, and the continued financial support of Ukraine by
international financial institutions and organizations.
Management monitors the current situation and takes action as necessary to minimize any adverse effects to
the extent possible.
On 16 January 2020, the Group repaid a portion of the subordinated debt, with a nominal value of USD 100
million, with a maturity date at 19 January 2024, and an annual interest rate of 9.07% (Note 25). The repayment
was made in due time, in accordance with the terms of the loan agreement. The repayment amounted to
UAH 1,199,105 thousand (equivalent of USD 50 million on the date of repayment). Along with the planned
repayment of part of the principal amount of the loan, the Group also paid interest on the loan.
On 18 March 2020, the Group repaid a portion of Eurobonds with a nominal value of USD 500 million, with a
repayment in March 2020 − March 2025, and an annual interest rate of 9.625% (Note 22). The repayment was
made in due time, in accordance with the terms of the issuance. The repayment amounted to UAH 6,764,150
thousand (equivalent of USD 250 million on the date of repayment). Along with the planned repayment of part
of the principal amount of the loan, the Group also paid interest on the loan.
On 20 March 2020, the Group purchased bonds of the State Mortgage Institution with a total nominal value of
UAH 500 million.
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